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Financial Highlights
MBEE

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3ASIALEE

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHT
RESULTS EF5

Revenue EER 64,475 80,253
Gross profit EH 61,565 76,515
Profit (loss) before taxation B AT &R (E518) 123,497 (190,743)

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to owners N2 BIA% 5 fE (L AN &
of the Company BH(E8) 116,447 (180,793)
Basic earnings (loss) per share (HK cents) FRREREFI(EE) (B 12.50 (19.41)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (HK cents) FRESE AT (E18) 0BI) 9.77 (19.41)

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets 4aEE 4,879,808 4,613,337
Total liabilities meE (1,864,621) (1,732,044)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company — Z</A &) i% 5 fE (25 3,015,187 2,881,293




Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors, | am pleased to present
the annual results of Eminence Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s profit attributable to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$116,447,000 as compared to the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$180,793,000 last
year (2021). This year’s gross profit margin was approximately 95.5% (2021:
approximately 95.3%) and consolidated revenue decreased by approximately
19.7%. The basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March
2022 were HK12.50 cents and HK9.77 cents (2021: basic and diluted loss
per share were HK19.41 cents and HK19.41 cents) respectively.

The Group faced yet another challenging year as it sought to position itself
back on steady development amidst the softening worldwide economic
growth and the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The Group has been constantly
reviewing its operations and exploring other investment opportunities that
have earning potentials in order to strengthen its income base to maximize
the interests of the Group and the shareholders as a whole. The Group will
keep abreast of the development of COVID-19 and adjust its development
strategies in response to the challenges in a timely manner to create value in
a sustainable manner over the long term for its shareholders.

Finally, the Board and | would like to take this opportunity to thank our

management team, staff, shareholders and business partners for their
continuous support to the Company.

Lai Law Kau
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Eminence
Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to announce the audited
annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2022 together with comparative figures. These
annual results have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”).

FINAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s consolidated profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) was
approximately HK$116,447,000 as compared to the loss attributable to the
Shareholders of approximately HK$180,793,000 last year (2021). The net
profit for the year was mainly attributable to, among other things, (i) gain on
change in fair value of investment properties; (i) write-back on properties held
for development for sale, net; (i) gain on settlement of loans receivable by
properties; and (iv) decrease in net loss on modification of terms of convertible
notes. Such increase in profit was partially offset by (v) decrease in revenue;
and (vi) increase in net loss on changes in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s revenue amounted to
approximately HK$64,475,000 compared to approximately HK$80,253,000
last year (2021), which represented a decrease of approximately
HK$15,778,000 or approximately 19.7% as compared to last year (2021).
This year’s gross profit margin was approximately 95.5% (2021: approximately
95.3%).

The basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2022
were HK12.50 cents and HK9.77 cents (2021: basic and diluted loss per
share were HK19.41 cents and HK19.41 cents) respectively.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (2021: nil).

BUCEERRAA(EAQATNER(ES))
e(EZE)MRARBAAAIREKME AR
(G TBIANEE ) B E2022F3A31HILFE 2
KELPTEEERLRET - A2 FEE
ERARNRZEZZEG([EREEG]])E
55 o

2EXE

HZE202243A31HIEFE - AEEHBR
AR (TR ]) FE(L & F 49 /116,447,000
BT AFE(2021F) B BIREEEBIEY
180,793,000/ 7T ° F AF A EZ RN (K
PRE)NVREMEZ A TFEZ BN ; ()5
EE BBy E 2 BT  (I)AMEEE
FEUE Z 7 Yak R (iv)E M AT H A 295 5 K
ZEBEFERD o WEEFIEINEIBHAWV)
BERERD  RVIIEAFESABSEZ S
BEZ AT EZEFEREMATIEE

HZE202243A31HIEFE  AEBEHEE
¥ 54 564,475,000/8 7T + £F (20214) 8l
#9/80,253,000% 7T + B A& F (20214F) 7D
#915,778,0008 78k 4919.7% ° S FEF|FR ek
15#995.5% (20214F : #795.3%) °

HZE2022F3A31HIEFE GFRERKE
SRR B A12.508 10 %9.77% 4l (2021
FBREARBEEESAA19.4181L K%
19.41784L) °

REIRE

BEEEMEZREHE2022F3A31ALLF
EZ AR B (20214 : ) -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in property development,

property investment, comprising the ownership and rental of investment

properties, investment in securities and others and loan financing business

which property development and property investment are the core businesses

of the Group. The review of each business segment of the Group is set out
below.

@

Property Development

One of the core businesses of the Group is property development.

The Group has extensive experience on property redevelopment, in

particular, acquisition of old buildings for renewal and redevelopment.

Below are the major projects of the Group during the year.

(@

(b)

Project Matheson Street

As at 31 March 2022, the Group, through its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary, owned the site at Nos. 11, 13 and 15
Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The total area of
the site is approximately 2,857 square feet and is currently under
construction. After redevelopment, the site will provide a gross
floor area of approximately 42,854 square feet of commercial/
office mixed-use building. Construction of the project is expected
to complete in early 2023.

Project King Lam Street (formerly known as Project Wing
Cheong)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group, through its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary, owned the site located at No. 121 King Lam
Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The site area is approximately
5,483 square feet. The Group plans to redevelop the site into an
industrial building with modern amenities, facilities and loading/
unloading bays utilizing floor area allowable under all relevant
laws and regulations which maximize the usage and potential of
the lot to its fullest extent. Foundation work has been completed
and the project is expected to complete in late 2023.

EEENmRE DN

E 3 dE)

MAFER  AEETBUEDEERR W
EREREREMEEREYE)  EHFK
HREREFBERL MOEZERNY
ERERAEBEZERLER - ARBEZEE
B EBEEHER X -

i) W=RBRE
AEENBRLEB 2 - ZUEER -
AEEEMEEZTERELER

B OLERWEBEBUETRNLE
BeUTRARBERAEFEANTE
HE -

(a JME#IER
R2022F3A31H » AEEFE B
HWE2EWBAREEMLRN
BEBMBENMEE 11 - 13K
155R 2088 - ZIABAAE L
52,857 F R - BRTE#ETTE
B’ - EMEETHE - R
%ﬁ@@“@?%%@emﬁﬁ
RZEE/ PAEHEETF -
ﬁaiﬁﬁ%%mmmiﬁm
xEIL o

(b) EHEIER (FIEKEEA)

R2022F3A31H - AEEGE
BEBEZE2ENBAR)EA N
REBENLEBMRE 12155893
B o R B ETEA A5,483F F
R o REBEHZMBERER
—ERARRCRE REHER T
ERE - WERBEAMEHEBED
FMOER TR EHEEREY
HRENE SRR ENE - e R
HE 2 S AKABRFES] - hET
BETK - MZER BN
2023F FKEFTL ©
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(c)

(d

Project Kennedy Town

As at 31 March 2022, the Group, through its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries, owned all the units of (i) Nos. 1B and 1C
and Nos. 1D and 1E of Davis Street, Kennedy Town, Hong
Kong (“Davis Street”); and (i) Nos. 93 and 95 Catchick Street,
Kennedy Town, Hong Kong (“Catchick Street”). The combined
site area of Davis Street and Catchick Street is approximately
7,122 square feet. Foundation work has been commenced and
the project is expected to complete in 2025.

For further information, please refer to “Material Acquisition and
Disposal” section below.

Project Fung Wah

As at 31 March 2022, the Group, through its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries, owned the site at Fung Wah Factorial
Building, Nos. 646, 648 and 648A Castle Peak Road, Kowloon
(collectively, the “Fung Wah Factorial Building”). On 29 April
2021, the Lands Tribunal’s hearing for an order for sale of
the Fung Wah Factorial Building has been concluded on the
decision for an order for sale of the Fung Wah Factorial Building
by public auction with reserve price of HK$800,000,000. On
23 June 2021, Daily Leader Limited (“Daily Leader”), Treasure
Arts International Group Limited (“Treasure Arts”) and Top Lead
Investment Limited (“Top Lead”), being indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, were the successful bidders at the
auction and the acquisition of the remaining units of the Fung
Wah Factorial Building was completed on 23 July 2021. The
total site area is approximately 9,206 square feet. The Group
plans to redevelop the Fung Wah Factorial Building into a high-
rise modern industrial building to maximize its usage. Demolition
work has been completed and foundation work is about to be
commenced in July 2022. The project is expected to complete
in 2025.

For further information, please refer to “Material Acquisition and
Disposal” section below.

(c)

(@

EXEmimIE B
MW2022F3A31H » &%
EEREME2ZENEBEARQ
AEANESEESHMER
THIBRI1ICH R1DRI1EHR
(EmtHE)  RHBBREH
WEREIBRSH(EEEHD 2
EHEM  c ERTHRETRE
ZEMMBEBENRTA122FH
RemETIEERM  %BERE
EA #2025 E 52 T ©

HAENB2HE T IERKE
KHE]—§F -

Z2EIFH
M2022F3HA31H A& E
EREMEE2ENBAREEN
PNEES ILE646 - 648 % 648A
FREETERNE (i EET
RE) 28 - B2021F4H29
B tHESAERLELETE
REMGLETHRAMEHRAR
FE A = LAKE800,000,000
BLHELETERENGS
ZIORTEES o R2021F6H23
H ' Daily Leader Limited([ Daily
Leader]) - BEEBEREEGR A
A(EZ])RHEREERAT
(B A ARARZEER2E
MEARDRBERKNFIZE -
MEEBLETERESR TENE
202147 A23H K ° ZH A
MEEHH9,206F FR - K&
B2l R LET ¥ AEEHNH
BRASEBER(CIERE - A&
BEEAARZ - HEIEER
B - i E T2 82022F7 A
BF - ZIEE BER2025F &
T o

HAENB2HE T IERKE
K& —§f -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property Investment
The other core business of the Group is property investment.

During the year, the total rental and management fee income of
the Group recorded was approximately HK$56,745,000 (2021:
approximately HK$61,309,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 7.4% over last year (2021). The decrease is primarily
attributable to certain properties previously recognized as investment
properties in Hong Kong has been demolished for the purposes of
property development.

Hong Kong

In Hong Kong, the Group owns residential, commercial and industrial
units, and land with attached structure with a total carrying amount
of approximately HK$796,200,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
approximately HK$775,500,000). For the year ended 31 March
2022, the Group recorded property rental income of approximately
HK$27,793,000 (2021: approximately HK$36,160,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 23.1% as compared with 2021.

Singapore

In Singapore, the Group owns 3 residential units with a total carrying
amount of approximately HK$183,680,000 as at 31 March 2022
(2021: approximately HK$150,467,000). For the year ended 31 March
2022, the Group received property rental income of approximately
HK$2,735,000 (2021: approximately HK$2,696,000), representing an
increase of approximately 1.4% over last year (2021).

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)

In Huzhou City, Zhejiang Province of the PRC, the Group has 15 blocks
of factory premises and 5 blocks of dormitories with a total carrying
amount of approximately HK$387,683,000 as at 31 March 2022
(2021: approximately HK$359,107,000). For the year ended 31 March
2022, the Group recorded property rental income and management
fee income of approximately HK$8,210,000 and approximately
HK$18,007,000 respectively (2021: approximately HK$6,420,000 and
approximately HK$16,033,000 respectively), representing an increase
of approximately 27.9% and approximately 12.3% respectively as
compared with 2021.

(ii)

EEENmRE DN

MEERE
AEENS -—BERLEBRYWER

RAFEN AEBEESHESEE
BEW ALY A56,745,0008 70
(20214F : 961,309,000/ 1) * BWEF
(2021 F )P HI7.4% ° Zm D EEH
REDERMERBREMEZEEY
¥EETIFEUEMESREZA -

=

R202263A31H  AEBRES
BEEE WERIEEM AR
EMBEBE 2L AEBWMEY
£796,200,000%8 7L (2021 4F * 4
775,500,000 7T) © E{ £ 202243 A
S1ALLFE  AEEHSWERSK
A#) 527,793,000 7T (20214 © 49
36,160,000 7T) * B2021F R 4
23.1% °

Ik 3
MN202243A31H » AEBRF M
WHAIEFEEN  BREEY

£183,680,000/8 7L (20214 + 49
150,467,000/ 70) © & Z£20224F 3 A
BTRLFE  AEEEDMERS
W A #)52,735,000/8 7T (20214F : 49
2,696,000/ 7T) + B A& (20214F) 38 N
#11.4% °

HEARRHE(FE])
M2022%3A31H » AEE R
T BN HEB15EKE RS5ETE
& HEEMmEY A387,683,0008 7T
(20214F : 49359,107,000/87T) - B =
2022F3A31HILFE + AEEES
MERSWAREBEERAD RN A
8,210,000/ 7T & #9 418,007,000/ 7T
(20214 : 9 B1#96,420,0007 7T K& 47
16,033,000/ 7T) * #2021 5 5113 N
#4927.9% K #912.3% °
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(iii)  Securities Investment

The Group adopted a prudent attitude in its securities investment.
During the year, the Group had acquired listed securities investments
and disposed of some equity securities in its investment portfolio. The
Group recorded fair value loss in securities and other investments
of approximately HK$17,736,000 (2021: gain of approximately
HK$18,744,000). As a result, the Group reported a segment loss of
approximately HK$33,827,000 (2021: segment profit of approximately
HK$18,814,000) during the year under review. The Group received
dividend income from the listed securities of approximately

HK$5,546,000 during the year ended 31 March 2022,

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s investment in equity securities
listed in Hong Kong and the United States of America amounted to
approximately HK$52,818,000 (2021: approximately HK$84,616,000).
This value represented an investment portfolio comprising 8 (2021:
7) equity securities which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the New
York Stock Exchange. The movements during the year were (i) the
purchase of securities of approximately HK$10,164,000; (i) the disposal
of securities which had a fair value of approximately HK$25,705,000;
and (i) net decrease in market value of securities investments in the

amount of approximately HK$16,257,000.

(iii)

BHERE
REBUHBHFCERNEERREE o
KFEN AEEBBEALTHESFR
B WELREASFNIDRAFE
H o AEBEHGEFRAMBEZRN
FEEE % A17,736,00058 7T (2021
4 Wzs#918,744,00087T) ° ALt
REEFEARN  AEEHBSDIEE
#)/33,827,000/8 7T (20214 : £ &0
F%718,814,000/ 70) © IR # £20224F
3ABTHIEFR » REBEYE EMFESF
EBR B AL A5,546,0007 T ©

X

MR202263A31H  AEBRES
MEBRLIMZEZSHEFIRESE
#1/52,818,000/8 7T (20214 : 4
84,616,000/ 7T) - ZITEBELER
BEHEAEBIESE(2021F : 7E)RE
BHARSMBRAR (BT EIR
MAHNBHRR G ETMZEmES -
REAFERAZEBHANBAELOS
10,164,000 7T ; (i) HEBEH 2 AFE
#)/25,705,0008 7T : R(i)FEHERET
B FR A 4/516,257,000/8 7T °



SIWEERAT 2022 F3R

it

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group held significant securities investments as at 31 March 2022

EEENmRE DN

R2022F3A31H  AEEHFFUTE

as below: REBEHIRE :
Approximate
percentage
held to the
total issued Dividend Fair value Approximate
share capital income gain/(loss) percentage of
of the Investment for the year for the year total assets of
Number of company/  cost/cost of ended ended  Fairvalueat  the Group at
Company name (stock code) shares held investment acquisition 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March 2022
| Bz
BEf BE 2022 % #2022 &
BRE/RE 202% 3431 A 3831 A
B8z 3A31 A LEEZ 2022 HAEE
BE BRES  RERE/ LEEZ A¥E  3ASIAZ BEEZ
NREBRARE) RAEE Bk WA REBA /(858 AFE BRESL
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 %
T T T Tk
Best Food Holding Company Limited (1488)
BRERARRAR(1488) 22,618,000 143 25,604 - 2,714 18,547 038
China Construction Bank Corporation (939)
RERRRIRGERAF939) 3,800,000 0.00 22,615 1,332 (2,432) 22,382 0.46
RLX Technology Inc. American depositary
shares (RLX)
RLX Technology Inc. = B #£ 7 (RLX) 183,346 001 17,117 - (12,225) 2,553 0.05
Other listed shares*
ity ErifR(n 2,405,434 - 11,609 1,966 (4,314) 9,336 0.19
Grand total:
@it 77,085 3,298 (16,257) 52,818 1.08
. Other listed shares included 4 companies and 2 companies whose shares are * Hith LA B8 0 B Pr ETAY

listed on the Main Board and GEM Board of the Stock Exchange respectively.

The Group considers the prospects in respect of the listed securities
investments are healthy. The Group understands that the performance
of the investments may be affected by global economic uncertainties
and degree of volatility in the Hong Kong financial market and subject
to other external factors. Accordingly, the Group will continue to
maintain a diversified portfolio of investment of different segments of
markets to minimise the possible financial risks. The Group will also
closely monitor the performance progress of the investment portfolio
from time to time.

AR MR R 2R AR A R -

FEERRLTEFZRENSR
f2g - REBPD  RERBEAX 2
BEFETERERZMERB LTS
EHREXE YR HMIBEE
BBl - Bt NEBESEEETTR
TSNS TEREES  UBBRE
BENEBER - 1S AEETTE
TRENERREEGNRBERMN
e
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(iv) Loan Financing

The loan financing business of the Group is operated by City China
International Limited (“City China”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company which is a licensed money lender carrying
on business under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Before entering into loan agreements between
City China and the borrowers, due diligence work and credit risk
assessment, including but not limited to the background, credentials,
financial position, historical credit and settlement records, as well as
the collateral and guarantees of the borrowers are conducted and
defined credit limits are granted to the borrowers. Such limits attributed
to the borrowers are regularly reviewed by the Group. All borrowers are
subject to the Group’s internal control mechanism in terms of credit
approval and loan assessment procedures. The Group closely monitors
on an ongoing review of credit risk of loans recoverability and collection
to ensure that follow-up action is promptly taken to recover overdue
debts. Details of credit risk and impairment assessment are set out in

notes 17 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the Group recorded interest income from the loan
financing business amounting to approximately HK$7,730,000
(2021: approximately HK$18,944,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 59.2% comparing to last year (2021). The segment
profit of loan financing business was approximately HK$14,296,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: segment loss of approximately
HK$35,799,000). The outstanding principal amount of loans receivable
as at 31 March 2022 was approximately HK$94,381,000 (2021:
approximately HK$130,179,000). For the year ended 31 March
2022, impairment allowance of approximately HK$21,461,000 and
gain on settlement of loans receivable by properties of approximately
HK$35,846,000 were recognized in profit or loss in its loan financing
business. The Group will continue to develop this segment in order to

earn higher interest income.

(iv)

BXRmE
REENERREXBHNTREEREE
RAaN(THAFAD(RAER—FHEES
ﬁW%EﬁDﬁ%'ﬁ@f<W%A%
By (BB AN E163E) (E L EBHE
MERAEA o A EERARTZER
WA HERAETEBRASNE
ARG  BREETERERAD
B ERE - -WBRR - ERAELM
EHEDE - EENER  UHRERT
BERANGEAEE - AEEFE BB
BETERANGEAEE - MEERA
TEEEHNERFTHEEFOZERE
B AR EIEMEI TR o REEFR
BENEREROAIKENEREEE
@?‘Mﬁ%&%%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ%@ﬁ
%%% EE R KR E B
??é-\ﬁﬁ%#&ﬁlﬁiﬂ&% °

RAFER  NEBHFREERRD
¥ 2B WAL 7,730,000/ 7T
(20214F : #718,944,000/8 7T) » %
F(2021F)MLLB A £159.2% ° REZE
2022F3ABIHIEFE  BERBEXT
2 8FE R4 A514,296,0005% 7T (2021
F 1 D ERES1E 435,799,000 7T) © A
202243A31H ' EERZ REER
& & F849/594,381,0005# 7T (20214 :
#7130,179,000%7T) ° &L £20224F 3
AB1ALLFE  REXBEEBKRNIE
R Z S F R E R K /A21,461,00078
TR MEBERRERZ WL A
35,846,000/ 7T © A KB B HEEREZ
DEABREE S FBUA o
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For the year ended 31 March

HZE3SASBLEE

2022 2021 Change
20224 20214 g
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET T FHET
Revenue R 64,475 80,253 (15,778)
Gross profit EF 61,565 76,515 (14,950)
Gross profit margin EFE 95.5% 95.3% 0.2%
Administrative expenses TR (50,660) (44,694) (5,966)
Finance costs BhE A (20,485) (28,683) 8,198
Profit (loss) before taxation FRE AT 2 F| (B538) 123,497 (190,743) 314,240
Taxation (charge) credit HEERDFTA (7,050) 9,950 (17,000)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to  Z< 2 5] IR R &AL

shareholders of the Company REERER(EHBR) 116,447 (180,793) 297,240
Net profit margin el B 180.61% N/A 3 A N/AT i A
Basic earnings (loss) per share BREKREF (EE) HK12.50 cents  HK(19.41) cents HK31.91 cents
12507l (19.41)78 1l 31.91 71l
Diluted earnings (loss) per share FREERER (EEB) HK9.77 cents  HK(19.41) cents HK29.18 cents
9.777% 4l (19.41)78 1l 29.18 711l

Revenue = -0

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s revenue decreased by
19.7% to approximately HK$64,475,000 as compared with last year (2021) of
approximately HK$80,253,000 which was mainly due to decrease in interest

income from loan financing.

Gross Profit/Margin

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$61,565,000, representing a decrease of approximately
19.5% or approximately HK$14,950,000 as compared to approximately
HK$76,515,000 in 2021. Gross profit margin for the year reached
approximately 95.5% (2021: approximately 95.3%), representing an increase

of approximately 0.2% over last financial year.

R EBR=E

HZE2022F3A31HLFE KAEBEBZE
BB EF (20214F)4980,253,0007 T 4
19.7% = #)64,475,0007 7T * L0 E B2 AR
BREE F B AR A FTEL -

AREBFBREHE2022F3A318LFEE 2
EF 4 £61,565,0008 T © %2021F 4
76,515,000/ JT 4> £919.5%3% £714,950,000
HBIT o AEE 2 EFEL /R95.5% (20214 -
#195.3%) + 8 _E{E S EF E I N#410.2% o
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Profit before Taxation

Profit before taxation of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$123,497,000, as compared with loss before taxation of
approximately HK$190,743,000 last year (2021).

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by approximately 13.3%
to approximately HK$50,660,000 as compared with last year (2021) of
approximately HK$44,694,000.

During the year under review, there was net loss on changes in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting to approximately
HK$17,736,000 (2021: gain of approximately HK$18,744,000).

Finance costs of the Group for the year was approximately HK$20,485,000,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$8,198,000 or approximately
28.6% from approximately HK$28,683,000 in 2021, of which approximately
HK$12,639,000 (2021: approximately HK$18,393,000) was the effective
interest expense on convertible notes.

Profit Attributable to the Shareholders and Earnings per Share

Profit attributable to the Shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2022
was approximately HK$116,447,000 as compared to loss of approximately
HK$180,793,000 last year (2021).

For this year, the taxation charge was approximately HK$7,050,000 whilst the
taxation credit was approximately HK$9,950,000 last year (2021).

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2022 were
approximately HK12.50 cents and HK9.77 cents respectively as compared
to basic and diluted loss per share of approximately HK19.41 cents and
HK19.41 cents respectively in 2021.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2022, total assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$4,879,808,000 (2021: approximately HK$4,613,337,000). In terms of
financial resources as at 31 March 2022, the Group’s total bank balances
and cash was approximately HK$82,099,000 (2021: approximately
HK$112,260,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has total bank borrowings of approximately
HK$1,662,307,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,514,933,000). The Group’s
gearing ratio, which is calculated as a ratio of total bank borrowings to
Shareholders’ equity, was approximately 0.6 (2021: approximately 0.5). As
at 31 March 2022, the Group’s current ratio was approximately 3.8 (2021:
approximately 5.5).

The Group financed its operations primarily with recurring cash flow generated
from its operations, proceeds raised from the capital market and bank
financing.

BB AT R A
NEBMREE2022F3A31AIEFE 2B
R & F#) /128,497,000 7T + M &4 (2021
F) B R ET1849190,743,0007 7T ©

AEBEZITBAIBREF(2021F)4
44,694,000 LEMA13.3%EN B
50,660,000/ 7T ©

REBEFERN  BAFEFABSEZEHE
EZzRAFESBEIEFELAF17,736,000%8
TL(20214F : U 254918,744,0005 7T) °

REERAREEHENKAREL /220,485,000
BT 0 20219 428,683,000 JT Ik 2 4
8,198,000/ 7081 4928.6% + H A aJ A8 =&
ZEBFE L HAA12,639,000/%8 7 (2021
F 1 #918,393,000% 7T) °

BRREGBAREREF
PR E E2022F3A31H L FEREIGEF
#7/116,447,000/8 7T + MAF (202146) A&
E51849180,793,000/8 7T °

R FERIE R S #)/57,050,000 7T+ fEF
(20214 ) T IEFT A R4 59,950,000/ 7T °

HZE2022F3A31HIEFE  FREALE
SERF D R B12.508 11 %9778 - T
2021 F BRERREE BB RI1419.41810
R 19.415840 -

REBESRHKER

MR2022F3A31H  AEBEERHE
#4/4,879,808,0008 7L (20214 : 4
4,613,337,000/70) - MERAFE - 1
20224 3HA31H » "EB 2 RITHEHRIR
S HEEE#) 282,099,000 7T (20214 © 4
112,260,000/ 7T) °

MW2022F3A31H » AEEZETIEER
¥4 /1,662,307,000/8 L (20214 + 49
1,514,933,00087T) - AEE s EREEH X
(BIRITIEBERBEEREEEZAD IO B
0.6(20214F : #90.5) ° 202243 H31H + &
EERB R AB3.8(20214 : #)5.5) o

AEEZEEESTERAELEELNRE
RAGR  CEAMZEENES LRTR
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Share Offer

On 7 April 2021, the shares in respect of which valid acceptances have been
received under a pre-conditional voluntary conditional cash offer to acquire all
the issued shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) (other than those already
owned or agreed to be acquired by the offeror and parties acting in concert
with it) at the Share offer price of HK$0.50 per Share (the “Share Offer”),
together with the Shares already held or agreed to be acquired by Easyknit
International Holdings Limited (“Easyknit”) (stock code: 1218), Ace Winner
Investment Limited (the “Offeror”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Easyknit,
and parties acting in concert with it, exceeded 50% of the voting rights of the
Company and the Offeror has waived all of the other conditions to the Share
Offer. Accordingly, all of the conditions to the Share Offer have been fulfilled
or waived by the Offeror and the Share Offer has been declared unconditional
in all respects on 7 April 2021.

Pursuant to Rule 15.3 of the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers,
the Offeror and the Company jointly announced that the Share Offer closed
at 4:00 p.m. on 21 April 2021. Valid acceptances of the Share Offer had
been received in respect of 393,683,175 Shares, representing approximately
42.27% of the issued Shares. Taking into account the said Shares, the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it held an aggregate of 669,370,840
Shares, representing approximately 71.86% of the issued Shares as of 4:00
p.m. on 21 April 2021.

On 22 April 2021, Easyknit further acquired on-market a total of 27,000,000
Shares at the price of HK$0.50 per Share such that Easyknit, the Offeror and
parties acting in concert with it held an aggregate of 696,370,840 Shares,
representing approximately 74.76% of the issued Shares as at 31 March
2022.

During the year, the Company became a subsidiary of Easyknit.
Further details can be found in the joint announcements issued by the Offeror,

Easyknit and the Company dated 7 April 2021 and 21 April 2021 respectively;
and the announcement issued by Easyknit dated 22 April 2021.

EEENmRE DN

BHED

MR202164 878 » BERMALMEHZ B
FEBEGHRESBZHUER0BTZRNE
WEKEBAQRZ2BEEHTRG (BRG] G
BHOARE—RITHALCHEEXRBERE
SN (ROBBHDESZMRZBHENE - &
REmkEBRERERAR(KED BRH
R5% 2 1218) ~ BREEFRRARDTELIAD
(kEZ-—HZEMRBRAR) RE—RITHA
ITHREXRAEBAZENMEREARGIRE
HE50% F MEBHACREBRMHEHZ 2
Hagd - At EHABERIBRERD
Tz 2EEM - WERG BLHER2021F
ARTRERB A EEHBEGEME -

RIBECA RIS KA GFTRDHRR15.3 + B4
ARKEREEE RHRNDZLHER2021F4
A21B T4 EHLE - BERMDEHERE
393,683,175/ I 10 2 B4  (EE 1T
M#I42.27% o 5T A LR TEA - #ZE2021
FAANATHFABE BEHARE—HITH
AL & H#HH669,370,8400 %11 16 E BT
BN 4971.86% °

MR2021F 422  XBRTE AR S UER
0.5078 it — 2P i A #£27,000,0000% i 15
F it - R2022F3A318 » k& - EHAR
H-HT8 AL 5 H$5H696,370,840M 1%
D AREBEITIRDKIT74.76% ©

RAFER > RABRBKEZ —HIER
7o

HHENB2MBENA - KERAQAEH
BB ED B B2021F4 A78 K20214F4
R21B 2 EtE A RokEEM A B R2021
F4R228 2 D °
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Capital Reorganisation and Change in Board Lot Size

On 28 January 2022, the Company announced to implement the capital
reorganisation (the “Capital Reorganisation”) which involved (j) the capital
reduction (the “Capital Reduction”), pursuant to which the issued share
capital of the Company would be reduced by a reduction of the par value of
each issued existing Share from HK$0.20 to HK$0.01 which reduction would
comprise a cancellation of HK$0.19 of the paid-up capital on each issued
existing Share so that each issued existing Share would be treated as one (1)
fully paid-up Share of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company immediately following the Capital Reduction and the credit arising
from the Capital Reduction will be credited to the contributed surplus account
of the Company within the meaning of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended from time to time); and (i) immediately following the Capital
Reduction becoming effective, each authorised but unissued existing Share
would be sub-divided into twenty (20) authorised but unissued new Shares
with a par value of HK$0.01 each.

Upon all conditions of the Capital Reorganisation being fulfilled, the Capital
Reorganisation has become effective on 15 March 2022.

On 28 January 2022, the Company also announced to change the board lot
size for trading on the Stock Exchange from 5,000 Shares to 20,000 new
Shares conditional upon the Capital Reorganisation becoming effective.

The change in board lot size has become effective on 29 March 2022.

Further information can be found in the Company’s announcement dated 28
January 2022 and circular dated 16 February 2022 respectively.

The Placing

On 30 March 2022, Kingston Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) and
the Company entered into a conditional placing agreement (the “Placing
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
place through the Placing Agent, on a best effort basis, up to 186,280,000
new Shares (the “Placing Shares”) at the placing price of HK$0.10 per
Placing Share to not less than six (6) placees who and whose ultimate
beneficial owners are independent third parties (the “Placing”).

The Placing Shares would be allotted and issued under the general mandate
(the “General Mandate”) granted to the Directors by resolution of the
Shareholders passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
13 August 2021 (the “2021 AGM”) to allot, issue and deal with the Shares
subject to the limit up to 20% of the then issued share capital of the Company
of 931,458,010 Shares as at the date of the 2021 AGM. Under the General
Mandate, the Company was authorised to issue up to 186,291,602 Shares.

Further information can be found in the announcement of the Company dated
30 March 2022, and the section headed “EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD” below.

BRAEARERESFEEEN
R2022%F1 A28H @ ARG AMEITRAE
HEABRAEAD - EF5 R)BRAEDR (R
REDRD - E - ARRIBEBHITRABER
BREZTHRARMEEHC.20B TR E
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BEBTHRA RN BN HER A ZRER AR %
EERRRRAFREREECOIAITZ—(1)
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RAFES A B RE1981FRAAETEE
DR EZARRNBIBEHABBE 0 R\ ERE
BB AN E - FREEERETRAR
DD A= T (ROBETE B REITHRG -
BREEAR0.0IBTL -

RRAER B GHREEKE - RAEMR
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E]) o
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Outstanding Convertible Notes
Below are the particulars of the outstanding convertible notes of the Company
as at 31 March 2022:

(1)

2017 Convertible Note 1 (the “2017 CN1”)

Holder of the 2017 CN1
2017 A AR EB 1A A

Principal amount

rEER

Outstanding principal amount
REERSEH

Interest
FLE

Issue date
FITEE

Maturity date
FHA

Conversion price

During the year, no exercise of the conversion rights under the 2017
CN1 was made and the outstanding principal amount as at the date of
this annual report is HK$16,000,000.

EEENmRE DN

RAEBRZABRBRRE
T BARER2022F3A31 AR B 2]
MERRIRR B -

(1) 2017F A1ERFEIZ1([2017F AJ 2 IR
Z5E1))
Goodco Development Limited
FRERGRAF

HK$16,000,000
16,000,000/ 7T

HK$16,000,000
16,000,000/ 7T

4% per annum
BF4IE

11 May 2017
201758118

28 August 2024
202448 A28H

HK$0.25 (subject to adjustment)
0.25% 7L (A] T34 %)

RAFER @ 2017F AR EE1 2K
BRERBWITE - AR AFRA A
KIEE RS 4% 516,000,000 7T ©
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(2) 2017 Convertible Note 2 (the “2017 CN2”)

Holder of the 2017 CN2
2017 Al R ER 2B A

Principal amount

PN o

Outstanding principal amount

REERSEH

Interest
FLE

Issue date
BITHE

Maturity date
I A

Conversion price

During the year, no exercise of the conversion rights under the 2017
CN2 was made and the outstanding principal amount as at the date of
this annual report is HK$11,280,000.

@

2017F AR F152([2017F AT 12 IR
Z1%2))

Goodco Development Limited
ERERARQA

HK$28,200,000
28,200,000/ 7T

HK$11,280,000
11,280,000/8 7T

4% per annum
BE4E

26 September 2017
201759 H26H

28 August 2024
202498 A28H

HK$0.25 (subject to adjustment)
0.25% 7L (Al T34 %)

RAFER - 2017F A |RFE22 1
BEELBRITE - IR AFHRA W
AMEEASEF/H11,280,0008 T °
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(3) 2019 Convertible Note (the “2019 CN”)

Holder of the 2019 CN
2019 Al MR EHEFE A A

Principal amount

PING

Outstanding principal amount

REERSEH

Interest

ME

Issue date
FITEE

Maturity date
FHA

Conversion price

During the year, no exercise of the conversion rights under the 2019
CN was made and the outstanding principal amount as at the date of
this annual report is HK$70,000,000.

* Upon completion of the Placing on 20 April 2022, the conversion price of the
2019 CN has been adjusted from HK$0.25 to HK$0.24 per Share with effect
from 20 April 2022.

For further information, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
20 April 2022, and the section headed “EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD” below.

Capital Structure

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s total number of issued ordinary Shares
was 931,458,010 Shares (31 March 2021: 931,458,010 Shares). Upon
completion of the Placing on 20 April 2022, the Company’s total number of
issued ordinary Shares has become 1,117,738,010 Shares.

Further information can be found in the announcement of the Company dated
20 April 2022.

EEENmRE DN

3 2019F AJ#EREE([2019F A £ I
Zi5))
Goodco Development Limited
ERERAGRLQA

HK$70,000,000
70,000,000/ 7T

HK$70,000,000
70,000,000/ 7T

GF4E
4% per annum

28 August 2019
201958 H28H

28 August 2024
202448 A28H

HK$0.25" (subject to adjustment)
0.25% 7T (A] T %)

MAFER - 2019F AR FZFE 2K
BEELBRITE - HILRAFHRA Y
REEAR S 25 /70,000,000 7T °

* A& £ 18R 202294 A20H 52 EF -
2019F AT MR R 1R 2 KR (B B 20224 4
A20B #E B ER0.258 T HEE0.24
PBIT

HMERBEL2EARAR AEA2022F4820
B2z ARTHIREEME BB —

£ o

[N

MR2022%F3A31H  ARARIBEITLBERLR
#/5931,458,010/% & 7 (202143 A31H :
931,458,010/ 1% 17) - B BLE 1202254 420
AR - RAREBRITEBREBHEE A
1,117,738,0100% B¢ 15 »
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Charges of Assets

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank loans amounting to approximately
HK$1,662,307,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,514,933,000) which were
secured by the Group’s properties with an aggregate net book value of
approximately HK$939,880,000 (investment properties), HK$3,020,650,000
(properties held for development for sale) and HK$12,914,000 (life
insurance policies) respectively (2021: approximately HK$925,967,000,

HK$2,754,027,000 and nil respectively).

Material Acquisition and Disposal
(1)  Project Kennedy Town

On 1 March 2021, the Group through its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Nice Able Holdings Limited (“Nice Able”) and Success
Mark Investments Limited (“Success Mark”), both of which were the
successful bidders at the auction of Nos. 93 and 95 Catchick Street,
Kennedy Town, Hong Kong and have completed the acquisition of the
remaining half share of the remaining unit on 1 April 2021. As such, the
Group now owns 100% of Nos. 93 and 95 Catchick Street, Kennedy

Town, Hong Kong.

On 30 April 2021, the Company and Easyknit agreed to terminate
the sale and purchase agreement dated 5 November 2020 (as
supplemented by the supplemental agreement dated 9 November
2020) (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) and entered into the
termination agreement, pursuant to which the Company should return
the deposit of HK$10,000,000 to Easyknit and no parties should have
any claims against each other and all their rights and obligations under
the Sale and Purchase Agreement were terminated and ceased to have

further effect.

Further information can be found in the announcement of the Company
dated 1 March 2021 and the joint announcement of the Company and

Easyknit dated 30 April 2021.

(2)  Project Fung Wah

On 29 April 2021, the Lands Tribunal’s hearing for an order for sale of
the Fung Wah Factorial Building has been concluded on the decision
for an order for sale of the Fung Wah Factorial Building by public

auction with reserve price of HK$800,000,000.

On 23 June 2021, the Group through its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Daily Leader, Treasure Arts and Top Lead, were the
successful bidders at the auction and the acquisition of the remaining
units of the Fung Wah Factorial Building was completed on 23 July

2021.

Further information can be found in the announcement of the Company

dated 23 June 2021.

BEEER

MW2022F3HA31H  AEBEZRITEE
#/1,662,307,000/8 L (20214 : 4
1,514,933,000/ 7T) Jh AR B 2 ) % 4
BIEE - REAEAFES 54 A939,880,000
BT EEME) -+ 3,020,650,0005% 7T (35
HEZERYWE)KR12,914,0008 T (AFR

A 2o

B

) (20214F = 5 Bl|#)925,967,0007 7T

2,754,027 00078 7T M 4#) o
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@
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Deed of Settlement

On 4 March 2022, City China International Limited (“City China”)
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Shui Kam
Enterprises Limited (“Shui Kam”) entered into a deed of settlement (the
“Deed of Settlement”) in relation to the settlement of the outstanding
loans under two (2) loan agreements (the “Loan Agreements”) dated
13 November 2017 and 16 October 2018 respectively (as varied or
supplemented by supplemental agreements dated 8 November 2019
and 2 November 2020 respectively) between City China as lender
and Shui Kam as borrower. Pursuant to the Deed of Settlement, (a)
City China will release Shui Kam from its obligations under the Loan
Agreements and, (b) in return, Shui Kam (as beneficial owner of
the property situated at Lots Nos. 1278, 1279 and 1280 all in D.D.
No. 124 Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong with a site area of
approximately 27,879 square feet (the “Property”)) shall transfer the
Property (with a valuation of HK$40,000,000 as at 28 February 2022)
to Lion Capital Investment (HK) Limited (“Lion Capital”) (a subsidiary
of Easyknit and the Company), who is the nominee of City China, by
the property assignment pursuant to which Shui Kam (as assignor) will
transfer the Property to Lion Capital (as assignee); and (c) City China
will assign to Shui Kam certain outstanding debts at completion.

The Deed of Settlement is conditional upon () the approval by the
Shareholders in compliance with the Listing Rules; and (i) City China
being satisfied that Shui Kam has good marketable title to the Property.

Upon despatch of the Company’s circular on 25 March 2022,
completion took place and the Property was transferred from Shui Kam
to Lion Capital by deed of assignment.

Further information can be found in the joint announcement of the
Company and Easyknit dated 4 March 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 25 March 2022 respectively.
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Exposure on Foreign Exchange Fluctuations

Most of the Group’s revenues and payments are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars, Singapore dollars and Renminbi. During
the year, the Group did not have significant exposure to the fluctuation in
exchange rates and thus, no financial instrument for hedging purposes
was employed. The Group considered the risk of exposure to the currency
fluctuation to be minimal.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2022 (2021: nil).

Capital Expenditures and Capital Commitments

Capital Expenditures

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group invested approximately
HK$1,013,000 (2021: approximately HK$295,000) in the purchase of
property, plant and equipment, and spent approximately HK$ 1,433,000 (2021:
approximately HK$4,873,000) on additions of investment properties, and
approximately HK$10,733,000 on additions of intangible assets. These capital
expenditures were financed from internal resources and funds from previous
fund raising activities of the Company.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capital commitments in respect of
capital expenditures contracted for but not provided of approximately
HK$20,339,000 (2021: approximately HK$26,236,000).

Update on Use of Proceeds in relation to the Rights Issue

On 6 November 2019, the Company announced a proposed rights issue
on the basis of four (4) rights share for every one (1) consolidated share at
a subscription price of HK$0.483 per rights share to raise net proceeds of
approximately HK$353.9 million (the “Rights Issue”). Details of the Rights
Issue were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 6 November 2019,
circular dated 17 December 2019 and prospectus dated 16 January 2020 (the
“Prospectus”) respectively. The Rights Issue was completed on 11 February
2020, and the number of issued Shares was increased to 931,458,010
Shares.

References are made to () the Prospectus in relation to the Rights Issue
and announcement dated 10 February 2020 in relation to the results of the
Rights Issue; (i) the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2020; (iii) the interim report of the Company for the six months ended
30 September 2020; (iv) the supplemental announcement of the Company
dated 8 July 2021; (v) the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2021; and (vi) the interim report of the Company for the six months
ended 30 September 2021.
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The details of an update on the use of proceeds during the year are set out in

RAFERNZMAEFRARE 2 EHHITEHT

the following table: RTx:
Proposed
use of net Actual use of Unutilised
proceeds as net proceeds proceeds Expected
disclosed inthe  upto 31 March  up to 31 March timeline of
Project/Property Purpose Prospectus 2022 2022 utilization
BER Hz2022FF Hz20228F
HRERZ 3A31H 3A31H
FAEREEE ABHEER ZREA RERBZ
ER /% B# RERE ZERRAR FrigFE FERRER
HKS million HKS million HKS million
BEETL BEBTL BEBTL
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
(840) (B40) (#49)
Matheson Street Project Construction cost for redevelopment
MiEHEE EREERA 79.0 (79.0) - -
Huzhou Properties Construction cost for properties
MM MEEERA 25.0 (25.0) - -
Wing Cheong Factory Building (now known  Preliminary cost (including planning,
as Project King Lam Street) design and demolition cost)
XETEAECREEMEIER) AIEIRR (B AR E - RE
RIEFA) 22.1 (22.1) - -
Wing Cheong Factory Building (now known  Additional acquisition cost for
as Project King Lam Street) remaining units
XETEAECREEMEIER) BT Bz BIMUER AR 12.0 (12.0) - -
Kennedy Town Properties Construction cost for redevelopment
e i & BREERA 15.8 (15.8) - -
Fung Wah Factorial Building Acquisition cost for remaining units
BET¥AE BT B WRKA 62.0 (62.0) - -
Potential acquisition of new properties and
other investments
BENBHNERAMRE 80.0 (80.0) - -
Bank loan repayment
BERITER 49 4.9 - -
General working capital
—REEES 53.1 (53.1) - -
353.9 (353.9) - -

As at 31 March 2022, all the proceeds from the Rights Issue were fully

utilized.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on its
businesses and operations of the Group. During the year ended 31 March
2022, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

The Group is embedded with a strong corporate culture for corporate
social responsibilities that forms an integral part of its business strategies.
Being a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to the long-
term sustainability of the environment in which it operates and support the
environmental protection initiatives to conserve the natural resources. The
Group understands global implications of climate change and is committed to
reducing the potential impact on the environment by its business operations
through building awareness of environmental conservation, minimizing carbon
footprints, employing green office initiatives and enhancing environmental
awareness among employees and other key stakeholders. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and to adopt
effective measures in achieving efficient use of resources, energy-saving and
waste management. Details are disclosed in the “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” of this annual report.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s businesses, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects are subject to a number of directly or indirectly business risks
and uncertainties. In general, volatility in the worldwide financial markets,
COVID-19 pandemic, fluctuations in commaodity prices and increasing energy
costs, strong inflationary pressures, potential interest rate hikes, political
turbulence, international trade competition and supply chain disruptions have
all contributed to the increased uncertainty of global economic prospects.

Climate change poses different risks to the Group’s businesses. Apart from
physical risks such as rising earth’s temperature and sea level, increasing
greenhouse gas and extreme weather condition, have already created
and will continue to create, resulting in a number of negative effects to
the environment and the Group’s assets, businesses and supply chain
management which may pose increased risks for the Group’s stakeholders
such as employees, customers and suppliers.

Faced with such daunting macro-economic and geo-political risks and
uncertainties, the Group devotes considerable effort to focus on developing
its core businesses and to explore new market opportunities in order to create
and realize long-term values to the Shareholders and its key stakeholders.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 64 employees (2021: 62). Staff
costs (including the Directors’ emoluments) amounted to approximately
HK$27,898,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: approximately
HK$24,187,000). The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, experience and prevailing industry practice. The Group
has participated in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all eligible
employees of the Group in Hong Kong as required under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and has made contributions to the state-sponsored pension scheme
operated by the PRC government for the PRC employees. Other benefits to
employees include medical and dental scheme and insurance coverage.

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue focusing its efforts on the development of its existing
principal businesses, including property development, property investment,
investment in securities and others and loan financing businesses while
exploring other potential projects with a view to providing steady and
favourable returns for the Shareholders and bringing increased growth to the
Group.

Despite the prevailing uncertainties on global economic outlook caused by the
softening worldwide economic growth and the multiple waves of COVID-19,
the Group is prudently optimistic about the prospects of the property and
securities markets in Hong Kong and believes these markets will continue to
grow over the longer term.

In line with its investment strategy and policy, the Company will continue
to identify appropriate investment and divestment opportunities that fit
the objective and investment criteria of the Company, and will continue to
seek suitable opportunities to replenish its property portfolio as an ongoing
business exercise. The Board would exercise utmost caution so as to bring
long-term values to the operating and financial results to the Company in the
foreseeable future.
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EECEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR. LAI LAW KAU
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Lai Law Kau, aged 61, is the chairman, chief executive officer, an
executive director (the “Director”), the chairman of the executive committee
(the “Executive Committee”) of the Company, and a member of the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Company. Mr.
Lai has been involved in the textiles industry over 20 years and has extensive
experience in design, manufacturing, marketing and distribution of apparel. He
is a brother-in-law of Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, the deputy chairman and an executive
Director; and the vice president and an executive director of Easyknit
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1218) (“Easyknit”). Mr. Lai is also
an uncle of Ms. Koon Ho Yan Candy (“Ms. Candy Koon”), the president and
chief executive officer, and an executive director of Easyknit. In August 2020,
he was appointed as an executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. In
October 2020, Mr. Lai was re-designated from an executive Director and a
member of the Executive Committee to the chairman, chief executive officer,
and the chairman of the Executive Committee.

MS. LUI YUK CHU
Deputy Chairman

Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, aged 64, is the deputy chairman, an executive Director and
authorised representative of the Company, and a member of the Executive
Committee. She is also an executive director and vice president, and a
member of the executive committee of Easyknit. Ms. Lui has been involved in
the textiles industry for over 30 years and has extensive experience in design,
manufacturing, marketing and distribution of apparel. She serves as director
of various subsidiaries of the Company and Easyknit. Ms. Lui was appointed
to the board of the Company (the “Board”) as an executive Director in 2003
and was appointed as deputy chairman in 2006. She is a sister-in-law of Mr.
Lai Law Kau, the chairman, chief executive officer, and an executive Director
of the Company. Ms. Lui is also the mother of Ms. Candy Koon.

MR. KWONG JIMMY CHEUNG TIM

Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim, aged 79, is an executive Director and
authorised representative of the Company, and a member of the Executive
Committee. Mr. Kwong graduated from The University of Hong Kong in 1965
and was admitted as Barrister-at-Law in the United Kingdom in 1970 and
in Hong Kong in 1973 respectively. He has over 30 years of experience in
the legal field. Mr. Kwong was appointed to the Board as an independent
non-executive Director in 2003, and was subsequently re-designated as
an executive Director in 2007. In 2007, he was appointed as chairman and
chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Kwong also serves as director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. In October 2020, he was re-designated
from the chairman, chief executive officer and the chairman of the Executive
Committee of the Company to an executive Director and a member of
the Executive Committee; and resigned as a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR. KAN KA HON

Mr. Kan Ka Hon, aged 71, is an independent non-executive Director since
2003. Mr. Kan is also the chairman and a member of the audit committee of
the Company (the “Audit Committee”), and a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree
in Science from The University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kan has over 30 years of
experience in accounting and finance. He resigned as an independent non-
executive director of Victory City International Holdings Limited (stock code:
539) with effect from 1 April 2021.

MR. LAU SIN MING

Mr. Lau Sin Ming, aged 60, is an independent non-executive Director since
2004. Mr. Lau is also the chairman and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lau has over 30 years of experience in accounting and
auditing and is now working as a tax consultant.

MR. WU KOON YIN WELLY

Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly, aged 37, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 1 January 2017. Mr. Wu is also the chairman and a
member of the Nomination Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. He holds a Master in Finance degree from
the University of Essex and a Bachelor of Commerce degree in the University
of Sydney, Australia. Mr. Wu is the Vice President of Sales in FXCM, which is
a leading provider of online foreign exchange (FX) trading, CFD trading, spread
betting and related services. He has over 13 years of extensive experience in
the brokerage industry.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is
dedicated to maintaining and developing a good standard of corporate
governance within a sensible and practical framework with key practices
and procedures by integrating social and environmental concerns into the
business operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). The
Board firmly believes that the principles of transparency, accountability and
independence are essential for upholding the interests of the stakeholders
and maximizing the shareholders’ value.

The Board is committed to excellence in corporate governance. It is
responsible for developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance as well as complying with statutory and
regulatory requirements.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

Corporate Culture

The Board and the management of the Group set the tone and shape the
corporate culture, which is underpinned by the core values of acting lawfully,
ethically and responsibly across all levels of the Group. The Board leads
the management in defining the purpose, values and strategic direction of
the Group and in fostering a corporate culture that is building a long-term
sustainable business models where customers, partners, investors, suppliers
and employees can benefit in the shared value of corporate success. The
desired culture is developed and reflected consistently in the Group’s
business operations, workplace policies and practices as well as relationships
with the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and other
stakeholders. The Board, together with the management of the Group, create
an organizational culture of maintaining and developing an effective corporate
governance framework with stringent corporate governance practices and
procedures through workforce engagement, employee retention and training,
robust financial reporting, whistleblowing, data privacy and anti-corruption
policies, and legal and regulatory compliance. Taking into account the
corporate culture in a range of contexts, the Board considers that the Group’s
culture, purpose, values and strategy are aligned.
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Corporate Strategy

In order to achieve the Group’s principal objective of enhancing long-term
values and interests to the Shareholders and other stakeholders, the Group
focuses on achieving sustainable growth in both financial and environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) performance. The Group executes disciplined
management of revenue and profitability, margin and costs, capital and
investment return and other financing activities. The Group’s core competency
in operational excellence in its various properties projects is a key initiative
to capture continuing cost and revenue opportunities in its core businesses.
The “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT” and the “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS” in this annual report include discussions and analyses of the
Group’s performance, the basis on which the Board directs to generate the
Group’s core values in the longer term and delivers the Group’s corporate
culture, strategy and objectives. The Group is increasingly conscious on ESG
and focusing on supporting the global low-carbon and sustainable future
transition. Further details on the Group’s ESG initiatives and relationships with
its key stakeholders are disclosed in the “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT” of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles
and the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). During the year, the Company has fully complied
with the code provisions of the CG Code, thereby ensuring that the Company
is up to the requirements as being diligent, accountable and professional
except for the deviations with considered reasons disclosed herein.
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Code Provision C.2.1 (former Code Provision A.2.1)

The roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman
(the “Chairman”) and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the year, Mr. Lai Law Kau (“Mr. Lai”)
served as the Chairman as well as the chief executive officer of the Company
(the “Chief Executive Officer”). This dual leadership role has been adopted
by the Company for a number of years and is deemed appropriate as it is
considered to be more efficient to have one single person to be the Chairman
as well as to discharge the executive functions of the Chief Executive Officer
thereby enabling more effective planning and better execution of long-term
strategies. In addition, the Board considers that a balance of power and
authority is adequately ensured by the operations and governance of the
Board which comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals, with half of
them being independent non-executive Directors. The Directors also meet
regularly to consider major matters affecting the Group’s operations. As
such, the Board believes that with the support of other executive Directors
and senior management of the Group, vesting the roles of both the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Lai can facilitate the execution of the
Group’s business strategies and boost effectiveness of its operations. The
Board will review the current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

Code Provision D.2.5 (former Code Provision C.2.5)

The issuer should have an internal audit function.

Code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code stipulates that the Group should have
an internal audit function. The Group does not have an internal audit function.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) and the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and considered that
the systems are effective and adequate, and there were no major issues
but areas for improvement have been identified by the Audit Committee and
appropriate measures have been taken. In addition, the Board has put in
place adequate measures to perform the internal control functions in relation
to the Group’s critical operational cycles including the establishment of
arrangements to apply financial reporting and internal control principles in
accounting and financial matters to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules
and relevant laws and regulations. The Board considers that the existing
organization structure and close supervision by the executive Directors and
senior management of the Group can maintain sufficient risk management
and internal control of the Group. As such, the Board was of the view that
there is no immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the
Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. An
annual review will be conducted.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the business of the Group is vested in the
Board, who assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
operational performances, interests of all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) and that all issues are considered in an objective manner.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board comprised six (6) Directors, including three (3) executive
Directors and three (3) independent non-executive Directors.

Details of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Law Kau (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lui Yuk Chu (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kan Ka Hon

Mr. Lau Sin Ming

Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly

Mr. Lai Law Kau and Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, both being executive Directors, are
family members. Details of background and qualifications of all Directors are
set out in the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS” of
this annual report. Each of the Directors is subject to retirement by rotation at
the annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) for a term of up to
three (3) years pursuant to bye-law 99 of the bye-laws of the Company (the
“Bye-laws”) and code provision B.2.2 (former code provision A.4.2) of the CG
Code.

The Board possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity which are
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Group. A balanced
composition of executive and independent non-executive Directors also
generates a strong independent element on the Board, which allows
independent and objective decision making process for the best interest of
the Group. The Company will review the composition of the Board regularly to
ensure the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills
and experience to meet the needs of the business development of the Group.
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Board Independence

The independent non-executive Directors brings to the Board independent
views and judgment on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and standards
of conducts, and enhances the Board’s balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives. The established governance framework and effective
mechanisms are kept under annual review by the independent Board to
ensure their effectiveness.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has complied with
the requirements under Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules regarding
the appointment of at least three (3) independent non-executive Directors,
representing at least one-third of the Board and with at least one of them
having appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed for a term
of up to three (3) years and subject to retirement by rotation at the AGM
pursuant to the Bye-laws.

The Company has received written annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. Despite the fact that each of Mr. Kan Ka Hon and Mr.
Lau Sin Ming has served as an independent non-executive Director on the
Board for more than nine (9) years, the Board is of the view that their duration
of service will not interfere with their exercise of independent judgement in
carrying out their duties and responsibilities as the independent non-executive
Directors and believes that their valuable knowledge and experience in the
Group’s business will continually benefit the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. Accordingly, the Board considers that all independent non-
executive Directors have met the independence guidelines of Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Re-election of the retiring Directors will be subject to a separate
resolution at the AGM to be approved by the Shareholders by way of poll.

The Chairman meets at least annually with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors, in compliance with code
provision C.2.7 (former code provision A.2.7) of the CG Code.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The appointment of a new Director is made on the recommendation of
the Nomination Committee to the Board and then by the approval of the
Shareholders in a general meeting of the Company. Pursuant to the Bye-
laws, all Directors, including those appointed for a specific term, are subject
to retirement by rotation at the AGM no later than the third AGM since the last
re-election. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the next following AGM after his or her appointment, or
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following AGM after his or her appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election.
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Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings are held at least four (4) times a year with at least
fourteen (14) days’ prior notice being given to all the Directors. Additional
meetings, if necessary, are arranged and held as and when required.
Directors may attend Board meetings either in person or through electronic
means of communication. A total of six (6) Board meetings (including four (4)
regular Board meetings) were held and written resolutions of the Directors
were circulated and passed for approving significant matters during the year
ended 31 March 2022. The attendance records of the Directors are set out
as below section headed “ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS”.

The Board is responsible for the approval and monitoring of the Group’s
overall strategies and policies, approval of business plans, evaluating the
performance of the Group and oversight of management. It is also responsible
for promoting the success of the Company and its businesses by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention
paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the executive
Directors and senior management of the Group of every business segment,
while reserving certain key matters for its approval. Decisions of the Board
are communicated to the management through executive Directors who have
attended the Board meetings.

All Directors have been provided, on a monthly basis, with the Group’s
management information updates to give them aware of the Group’s affairs
and facilitates them to discharge their duties under the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Every newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive induction
package to ensure that he or she has a proper understanding of the Group’s
operations, business and governance policies. In addition, our external legal
adviser meets with the new Director to ensure that he or she is fully aware
of the responsibilities as a Director under the Listing Rules, applicable legal
requirements and other regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Company provides regular updates on the business
performance of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are regularly
updated on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good
corporate governance practices.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development (the “Continuous Professional Development”) regarding the
Directors’ duties and responsibilities, and the latest updates on rules and
regulations to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant in compliance
with code provision C.1.4 (former code provision A.6.5) of the CG Code.
According to the training records confirmations received from all the existing
Directors, all Directors have participated in the Continuous Professional
Development for the year ended 31 March 2022 in the following manner:

RBEEEEATRZTAEXECA 415 UR
BTAEXEAG.5K) NEEEBESRES
BREEEER((BESERRDEHES
BERSE  URAREBHINSHER
ABE R MBS R e UWERES
FAEZAEMRYEGMENERTHES
SELER - REMBERETEZRENE
REERE 2ERESNEZE202293A31
BIEFEB2HBETERE  BRWT :

Name " Type of Training
EEE
(Note)
(¥ 5%)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lai Law Kau FEERIRST A v
Ms. Lui Yuk Chu EEHZL v
Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim B RAREE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. Kan Ka Hon B e v
Mr. Lau Sin Ming SEAEAE v/
Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly REELE 4

Note:

Continuous Professional Development through attending briefings/seminars/webcast/

conferences/forums/online training/reading relevant materials

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
as set out below:

(@) To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance by monitoring of the corporate governance
practices and procedures; and maintenance of appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group to
ensure compliance with applicable rules and regulations;

(b) To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and the Directors; and

(e) To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” of the Company’s
annual report.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board had performed the
abovementioned corporate governance functions by reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has appropriate insurance cover for the Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of any claims against the Directors and officers of the
Group arising out of corporate activities of the Group.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees (the “Board Committees”)

The Board has established four (4) Board Committees, namely, Audit
Committee, remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”), nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) and executive committee of the Company (the “Executive
Committee”), to assist in the execution of the Board’s responsibilities and
to oversee particular aspect of the Group’s affairs. Each Board Committee
is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties properly, and
holds meetings in accordance with the Bye-laws, its specific written terms of
reference and, where applicable, the proceedings of the Board Committees
meetings. The terms of reference of the Board Committees are reviewed and
updated regularly to ensure that they are aligned with prevailing governance
practices. Each Board Committee is required to report to the Board on its
decisions and recommendations, where appropriate. The terms of reference
of each of the Board Committees are available on the Company’s website.
The attendance records of each member of the Board Committees are set
out as below section headed “ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS
AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS”.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises all three (3) independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Kan Ka Hon (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Lau Sin Ming and Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly and held two (2)
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr. Kan Ka Hon, possesses
appropriate professional qualifications in finance and accounting and meets
the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. No member of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company
during two (2) years after he ceases to be partner of the audit firm.
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The principal functions of the Audit Committee included:
- to oversee the relationship with the external auditor;

- to review the interim and annual financial statements before publication;

- to oversee the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures;

- to review the financial controls, and internal control and risk
management systems of the Company with particular regard to their
effectiveness;

- to perform the corporate governance functions;

- to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Group;

- to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and employees of the Group;
and

- to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee members met
twice with senior management of the Group and the Company’s auditor to
review (i) the reports from the Company’s auditor, accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, management representation letters, and
management’s response in relation to the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2021 and the interim results for the six months ended 30 September
2021; (i) the draft consolidated financial statements of the Group in relation to
the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the interim results
for the six months ended 30 September 2021 and recommended the same
to the Board for approval; and (jii) the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems of the Company. The Audit Committee reviewed and
satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the Company’s auditor
and the audit fees including non-audit services provided by the Company’s
auditor to the Group and recommended to the Board the re-appointment of
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) as the Company’s auditor for
the ensuing year at the forthcoming AGM.

The Audit Committee reviewed the 2021/2022 consolidated financial
statements in conjunction with the Company’s auditor. Based on this review
and discussions with senior management of the Group, the Audit Committee
was satisfied that the consolidated financial statements were prepared in
accordance with applicable accounting standards, and fairly present the
Group’s financial position and results for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three (3) independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Sin Ming (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Kan Ka Hon and Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly, and one (1)
executive Director, namely Mr. Lai Law Kau.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee included:

- to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Group;

- to review and determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director and senior
management of the Group with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives; and

- to review and approve the compensation arrangements in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment, or
dismissal or removal for misconduct to executive Directors and senior
management of the Group which shall be fair and not excessive.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee held
one (1) meeting to review and approve the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Group by reference to factors such
as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere within the Group and in the market;
and to make recommendations to the Board on the Directors’ fee for
independent non-executive Directors. No Director was involved in deciding his
or her own remuneration. Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to discharge
its major roles to, among other things, approve the terms of the service
agreements of the Directors and senior management of the Group, make
recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration and policies
of the Directors and senior management of the Group and to review and
recommend to the Board the remuneration package including salaries,
bonuses and incentive awards for the Directors and senior management of
the Group.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three (3) independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly (chairman of the
Nomination Committee), Mr. Kan Ka Hon and Mr. Lau Sin Ming, and one (1)
executive Director, namely Mr. Lai Law Kau.

The principal functions of the Nomination Committee included:

- to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board;

- to identify and nominate suitable candidates of the Directors for the
Board’s consideration;

- to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and

- to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the succession planning for the Chairman and the chief executive of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee held one (1)
meeting to review and make recommendations to the Board for approval on (i)
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board; (i) the assessment
of the independence of the existing independent non-executive Directors; and
(i) the nomination of the retiring Directors for retirement by rotation and re-
appointment at the AGM.

Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy

The nomination policy of the Company sets out the nomination procedures
for the nomination, appointment or re-appointment, and succession planning
of the Directors. It provides the key selection criteria and principles of the
Nomination Committee in making any such recommendations. In assessing
the suitability for directorship of any proposed candidate, factors which would
be considered by the Nomination Committee include, inter alia, reputation for
integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Group’s businesses and corporate strategies, commitment in
respect of time to discharge Director’s duties, diversity of the Board, and such
other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s businesses. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval.
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The Board also adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieving board diversity in the Company in order to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board and its corporate governance standard.
The Company recognizes the importance of having a diverse team of
board members, which is an essential element in maintaining a competitive
advantage. The Nomination Committee has been delegated the authority
to review and assess the diversity of the Board and its skills and experience
by way of consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
industry experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination
Committee will give consideration to the board diversity policy when identifying
and selecting suitably qualified candidates. The policy has been and will be
reviewed annually taking into account the Group’s structure, business models
and corporate strategy to ensure its effectiveness.

The Board currently has one (1) female Director out of six (6) Directors and is
committed to maintaining gender diversity at the Board level. The Company
has also taken, and continues to take steps to promote diversity at all levels
of its workforce. As of 31 March 2022, total workforce of the Company
comprised 37.5% female and 62.5% male. The Company will continue to
strive to achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity in the workforce
as well as the Board according to business needs and future development so
as to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board in the future.

Both the nomination policy and the board diversity policy of the Company are
available on the Company’s website.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently comprises all the executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lai Law Kau (chairman of the Executive Committee), Ms. Lui Yuk
Chu and Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim.

It meets as and when required between regular Board meetings of the
Company, and operates as a general management committee under the
direct authority of the Board. Within the parameters of authority delegated by
the Board, the Executive Committee is committed to the implementation of
the Group’s strategy set by the Board, monitors the Group’s investment and
trading performance, funding and financing requirements, and reviews the
management performance.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte has been re-appointed as the external auditor of the Company at the
2021 AGM until the conclusion of the forthcoming 2022 AGM.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the audit and non-audit fees paid or
payable to the Company’s external auditor, Deloitte, were made up of an
audit fee of approximately HK$2,160,900 and non-audit related services fees
of approximately HK$642,000. The latter included interim review, taxation and
professional services.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE
MEMBERS

Details of the attendance records of each individual Director at the Board
meetings (including regular Board meetings), the Board Committee meetings,
the AGM and the special general meeting of the Company (the “SGM”) held
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows:

EENREEENEMNHFERLE

20224 3A31BILFER » HAIEEER
ARFBRzEFE e (BEEFEE TS
#)CEFZECEE  REAFAKGRAR
AR EEAE ((RESRAE]) 2 F ik
MERFBNT

Attended/Eligible to attend

HE/ AERLRE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board  Committee Committee Committee
Name meeting meeting meeting meeting AGM SGM
£z ENZE% Fhzsg REZEE RREF PES
HE =E =E g% =6 A& BAXE
Executive Directors HEE
Mr. Lai Law Kau RS E 6/6* 22 11 11 11 11
Ms. Lui Yuk Chu BEHRAT 6/6  NATNER N/A @A N/A TE R 0/1 11
Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim BRALE 6/6  NATER N/A @R N/A RER 1 11

Independent Non-executive Directors B FHITEE

Mr. Kan Ka Hon EEHEE 6/6 2/2*
Mr. Lau Sin Ming BIEHEE 6/6 2/2
Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly RBELAE 6/6 2/2

* Chairman of the Board/Board Committee

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Lee Po Wing (“Mr. Lee”) who is
not an employee of the Company and is an external service provider of Paul
Kwong & Company, was engaged by the Company as the company secretary
of the Company; and he has confirmed that he has taken no less than fifteen
(15) hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim, the executive Director is the
contact person of Mr. Lee at the Company pursuant to code provision C.6.1
(former code provision F.1.1) of the CG Code.

11 11 11 11
11 11 11 11
11 11 11 11
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board leads and maintains effective controls over the Group’s activities,
with executive responsibility for the running of the Group’s business being
delegated to management. The management provides all members of the
Board with monthly updates in order to give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable
them to discharge their duties.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks and it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board is also responsible for overseeing the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems. The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in
operating systems or in achievement of the Group’s business objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
annually by requiring all department managers to undergo a detailed self-risk
assessment process using a common risk management framework. It covers
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
on an annual basis. It also considers the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

Under the enterprise risk management framework, policies and procedures
are in place to identify, assess, manage, control and report risks. Such
risks include strategic, credit, operational (including but not limited to,
administrative, system, human resources and reputation), market, liquidity,
legal and regulatory risks. Exposure to these risks is continuously monitored
by the Board through the Audit Committee. The internal control system
includes a defined management structure with specified limits of authority.
The Board has clearly defined the authorities and key responsibilities of each
division to ensure adequate checks and balances.
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The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the Group’s
assets against unauthorized use of disposition, to ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for producing reliable financial information, and to
ensure compliance with applicable laws, regulations and industry standard.

The Group does not have an internal audit function. During the year under
review, the Audit Committee and the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and considered
that the systems are effective and adequate, and there were no major issues
but areas for improvement have been identified by the Audit Committee and
appropriate measures have been taken. The Board is of the view that the
enterprise risk management and internal control systems in place for the year
and up to the date of this annual report is effective and adequate. In addition,
the Board is currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up
an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and
complexity of the Group’s business. An annual review will be conducted.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard of
openness, probity and accountability. The Company encourages reporting
of concerns and actual or suspected misconduct or malpractice or unethical
acts by employees and/or external parties in any matters related to the
Company. In this regard, the Company has adopted the whistleblowing
policy which aims to provide reporting channels and guidance on reporting
possible improprieties and concerns, in confidence and anonymity. The
Board delegated the authority to the Audit Committee, which is responsible
for ensuring that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of any matters raised and appropriate follow-up actions are
taken.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company takes a zero-tolerance approach towards all forms of bribery
and corruption and is committed to observing and upholding high standards
of business integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality and transparency in all its
business dealings at all times. The Company has adopted the anti-corruption
policy which sets out the basic standard of conduct which applies to all
directors, officers and employees at all levels of the Group who must conduct
their activities in full compliance with this policy and all other applicable laws
relating to bribery or corruption.
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Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and the Group’s financial performance and
cash flows for the relevant accounting periods, and in compliance with all
the relevant statutory requirements, the Listing Rules requirements and
applicable accounting standards. In preparing the financial statements of the
Group, the appropriate accounting policies are selected, applied consistently
and in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
appropriate and reasonable judgment and estimates are made. The Directors
have prepared the financial statements for the reporting year on a going
concemn basis.

The Board is committed to present a clear, balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance and financial positions in all its
financial reporting and to ensure relevant publications in a timely manner.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement by the Company’s external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022
is set out in the “INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT” on pages 81 to 86 of
this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for the Directors in their dealings
in the Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiries by the Company,
all the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2022. The Company has also adopted the Model Code to regulate the
dealings in the Company’s securities by its employees and directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group who are likely to possess inside information relating
to the Company’s securities.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) which
sets out the guidelines for the Board and the Company to determine (i)
whether dividends are to be declared and paid, and (i) the level of dividend to
be paid to the Shareholders.

The Dividend Policy is to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profit whilst to retain adequate cash reserves for its working
capital requirements and future growth.
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In determining or recommending the frequency, amount and form of any
dividend in any financial year or period, the Board shall, inter alia, consider the
following factors:

(i) the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

(ii) economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group;

(i) the Group’s business strategies and operations, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the long-term growth
aspect of the business;

(iv)  the current and future liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group;

(V) the interests of the Shareholders; and
(v)  any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The dividend payout ratio will vary from year to year. There is no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

Subject to the Bye-laws and the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

The Board may determine and pay to the Shareholders interim dividends as it
considers appropriate. Any final dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by the Shareholders at general meetings and must not exceed the
amount recommended by the Board.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening a SGM

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene a SGM.
Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company as at the date of deposit carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company may send a written request to the Board
to request for a SGM. The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, and must be signed by the Shareholder(s) and deposited at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Block A, 7th Floor,
Hong Kong Spinners Building, Phase 6, 481-483 Castle Peak Road, Cheung
Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong (for the attention of Company Secretarial
Department).

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible for the
expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements
under Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (the
“Companies Act”) once a valid requisition is received.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at the General Meetings
The following Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal (which may
properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a general meeting of the
Company:

(@) any number of the Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the date of the
requisition; or

(b) not less than 100 Shareholders holding Shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the Shareholders
concerned, together with a statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in the proposal or the business to be
dealt with at the general meeting must be deposited at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Block A, 7th Floor, Hong Kong
Spinners Building, Phase 6, 481-483 Castle Peak Road, Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate actions and
make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be
responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance
with the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act once
valid documents are received.

Proposing a person for Election as a Director

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for
election as a Director at a general meeting, the Shareholder should follow the
“RULES AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING THE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS”,
which can be found on the website of the Company.

Procedures for Putting Enquiries by the Shareholders to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concemns to the Board
in writing via the following channel:

Company Secretarial Department
Block A, 7th Floor

Hong Kong Spinners Building, Phase 6
481-483 Castle Peak Road

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

E-mail: info@eminencehk.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company considers that effective two-way communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The
Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy which aims to
promote an effective communication with the Shareholders, enabling them to
exercise their rights in a timely manner so that their views and concerns are
appropriately addressed, and to furnish the investment community with ready
and equal information about the Company.

The Company maintains a website at http://www.eminence-enterprise.com,
where up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are posted.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with its
shareholders and in particular, through the AGMs or other general meetings
to communicate with the Shareholders. During the year, a virtual SGM was
held on 11 March 2022, and the last AGM was held on 13 August 2021.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy during the year and considered it to be
effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company had not made any
changes to its Bye-laws. A consolidated version of the memorandum of
association of the Company and the Bye-laws are available on the respective
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present this annual report
together with the audited financial statements of Eminence Enterprise Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are property development, property
investment, investment in securities and others and loan financing and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
on pages 87 to 88 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and review on the business activities of the Group as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) including an analysis of the Group’s performance,
material events that have occurred since the year end date and an indication
of likely future development in the Group’s business are contained in the
preceding “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT” and “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS” set out on pages 5 to 25 of this annual report.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management are disclosed in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, relevant details of the Company’s environmental, social and
governance policies and performance are reported in the “ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” set out on pages 63 to 80 of this

annual report.

The Directors were not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that had a significant impact on the Group during the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five (5) financial years is set out on page 221 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The board of the Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 March 2022 by
independent firms of qualified professional property valuers and the gain/loss
arising from changes in fair value of investment properties was recognised
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income. Details of these are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on
pages 91 to 92 of this annual report and note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
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31 March 2022
2022%3H31H

31 March 2021
20213 H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT JT BT T

Contributed surplus BMARH 438,102 261,126
Accumulated profit Z257E 270,359 244,082
708,461 505,208

Under the Companies Act, the contributed surplus shall not be distributed to
the Shareholders if there are reasonable grounds for believing that:

() the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realizable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.
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DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
approximately HK$1,278,000.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Law Kau (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lui Yuk Chu (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kan Ka Hon

Mr. Lau Sin Ming

Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set
out on pages 26 to 27 of this annual report.

Pursuant to bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws and the Corporate Governance
Code, Ms. Lui Yuk Chu (“Ms. Lui”), an executive Director and Mr. Lau Sin
Ming (“Mr. Lau”), an independent non-executive Director, shall retire from
office by rotation at the AGM. Ms. Lui and Mr. Lau, being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in information of
the Directors since the date of the Company’s latest published 2021 annual
report and up to the date of this report are set out below:

(1) According to the Company’s policies and practices, the remuneration
packages of the Directors were reviewed by the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”). The
annual emolument of Ms. Lui was reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board, and revised from
HK$3,240,000 to HK$3,900,000 with effect from 1 April 2022.

) There were new directorships and changes to the directorships of each
of Ms. Lui and Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim in certain members of
the Group.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in information of the
Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual written confirmation pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive Directors
as regards their independence to the Company for the year ended 31 March
2022. Despite the fact that each of Mr. Kan and Mr. Lau Sin Ming has served
as an independent non-executive Director on the Board for more than nine (9)
years, the Board is of the view that their duration of service will not interfere
with their exercise of independent judgement in carrying out their duties and
responsibilities as the independent non-executive Directors and believes
that their valuable knowledge and experience in the Group’s business
will continually benefit the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
Accordingly, the Company considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors is subject to retirement by rotation at the AGM for a
term of up to three (3) years under bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has a service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the Group
within one (1) year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTION”
below, there was no contract of significance relating to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contracts of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisting
during or at the end of the year, and there was no contracts of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company (the “Chief Executive”) in the shares of the Company (the
“Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), which were required to be (i) notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests which the Directors or the Chief Executive were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i) entered in
the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or (iii)
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as is known to the Directors and the Chief
Executive, the interests and short positions of the persons or corporations
other than a Director or the Chief Executive, in the Shares or underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Positions in Ordinary Shares and Underlying Shares
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Approximate
Number of Number of percentage of
ordinary underlying the total
Name of substantial Shareholder Notes  Capacity Shares held Shares held Total  issued Shares
HEBT
BELER EEEE RiEE2
ITERRER M & ROEE ROEE o BOBEDL
Ace Winner Investment Limited (‘Ace Winner”) (i) and (iv) ~ Beneficial owner 484,538,175 - 484,538,175 52.01%
ERREFRLA(ER]) ki E=REBA
Goodco Development Limited (“Goodco”) (i, iy Beneficial owner
and (iv) 161,445,295 389,120,000 550,565,295 59.10%
EFERERAFN(ER) 0, kv EREEA
Easyknit Properties Holdings Limited (i, (i) Interest of controlled corporation
and (iv) 161,445,295 389,120,000 550,565,295 59.10%

0, ki) ZEHZEZER
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Approximate
Number of Number of percentage of
ordinary underlying the total
Name of substantial Shareholder Notes  Capacity Shares held Shares held Total  issued Shares
HERST
BRELER EEEE DGEE
IERRER W= B DU REAE a3t RER
Easyknit International Holdings Limited (i, (i) Beneficial owner 27,000,000 - 27,000,000 2.90%
(‘Easyknit’) and (iv)
XEEREERRARA(XE) i, ki) E&HEEA
Interest of controlled corporation 669,370,840 389,120,000  1,058,490,840 113.63%
REHEE 2 R
696,370,840 389,120,000  1,085,490,840 116.53%
Magical Profits Limited (i) and (iv)  Interest of controlled corporation 696,370,840 389,120,000  1,085,490,840 116.53%
ki) FEHEEZEE
Accumulate More Profits Limited (i) Interest of controlled corporation 696,370,840 389,120,000  1,085,490,840 116.53%
R EE 2 B
The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited (i) Interest of controlled corporation 696,370,840 389,120,000  1,085,490,840 116.53%
BRERETERAR REHEE 2 s
Winterbotham Holdings Limited (i) Interest of controlled corporation 696,370,840 389,120,000  1,085,490,840 116.53%
REHEE 2 s
Christopher Geoffrey Douglas Hooper (i) Interest of controlled corporation 696,370,840 389,120,000  1,085,490,840 116.53%
REHEE 2 s
Hu Rong Beneficial owner 47,030,000 - 47,030,000 5.06%
kS ERAEA
Notes: Ktat -

In the 669,370,840 Shares, 484,538,175* Shares, 23,387,370 Shares and 161,445,295
Shares were registered in the name of and beneficially owned by Ace Winner,
Landmark Profits Limited and Goodco (which was wholly-owned by Easyknit Properties
Holdings Limited) respectively, all of which were wholly-owned subsidiaries of Easyknit.
27,000,000 Shares were also beneficially owned by Easyknit.

The 389,120,000 underlying Shares comprised of (i) 64,000,000 conversion Shares
(subject to adjustment) to be issued upon full conversion of the convertible note held by
Goodco issued by the Company on 11 May 2017; (i) 45,120,000 conversion Shares
(subject to adjustment) to be issued upon full conversion of another convertible note
held by Goodco issued by the Company on 26 September 2017; and (i) 280,000,000
conversion Shares (subject to adjustment) to be issued upon full conversion of the
convertible note held by Goodco issued by the Company on 28 August 2019.
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(iii) Magical Profits Limited, which was interested in approximately 39.43% of the issued
share capital of Easyknit, was wholly-owned by Accumulate More Profits Limited which
in turn was wholly-owned by The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited as trustee of
The Magical 2000 Trust. The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited was owned as to
75% by Winterbotham Holdings Limited, which in turn was owned as to approximately
99.99% by Mr. Christopher Geoffrey Douglas Hooper.

(iv) Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, a Director, was also a director of Ace Winner, Goodco, Easyknit
Properties Holdings Limited, Easyknit, and Magical Profits Limited.

* According to Form 2 filed on 2 July 2021 by Ace Winner, on 25 June 2021,
300,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 32.20% equity interest of the total
issued Shares, were pledged to Hang Seng Bank Limited.

Apart from Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, no Director was also a director or an employee
of any substantial Shareholders.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2022, the Company had not been
notified by any persons who had interests in the Shares and underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be
recorded in the register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 29 June 2012, a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted and approved by the then Shareholders for a period of ten (10) years
commencing on the adoption date whereby the Board, may at its discretion,
grant share options (the “Share Options”) to any eligible participant (the
“Participant(s)”) to subscribe for the Shares subject to the terms and
conditions as stipulated in the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option
Scheme was expired on 28 June 2022.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

At the AGM held on 23 July 2020, the scheme mandate limit for the Share
Option Scheme was refreshed to allow the Company to issue a maximum of
93,145,801 new Shares under the Share Option Scheme to the Participants.
After such refreshment of scheme mandate limit, during the year ended
31 March 2022, the Company did not grant any Share Options to any
Participants.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18, was granted
any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any
other body corporate nor had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Interests of the Directors in competing businesses as at 31 March 2022
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules were as

follows:

Name of Director Name of company

Nature of competing business
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Nature of interest

EEMA NEEB REEBMEE ERME

Ms. Lui Yuk Chu Easyknit Property development, property Director of Easyknit and
investment, securities investment substantial shareholder
and loan financing of Easyknit

EE%LZ T KFE MEER - MERE  BHFRER KEBEENKBEFTEZRER

BEXRmE
As the Board is independent of the board of Easyknit and maintains three

(3) independent non-executive Directors, the Group operates its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of Easyknit.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Disposal of Project Kennedy Town

On 5 November 2020 (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated 9 November 2020), the Company and Easyknit entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to
which, among other things, Easyknit conditionally agreed to purchase, and
the Company conditionally agreed to sell, the entire issued shares of Above
Ace Limited (“Above Ace”) and Success Edge Limited (“Success Edge”),
both being wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, and the Company
agreed to procure the assignment to Easyknit of each of the shareholders’
loans owing by Above Ace and Success Edge to the Company at completion,
at an aggregate consideration of HK$1,100,000,000 (subject to adjustments).
Completion of the sale and purchase agreement is subject to the independent
Shareholders’ approval and is conditional on the Company’s successful bid
for Nos. 93 and 95 Catchick Street, Hong Kong in the public auction pursuant
to the Ordinance.

On 30 April 2021, the Company and Easyknit agreed to terminate the Sale
and Purchase Agreement and entered into a termination agreement, pursuant
to which the Company should return the deposit of HK$10,000,000 to
Easyknit and no parties should have any claims against each other and all
their rights and obligations under the Sale and Purchase Agreement were
terminated and ceased to have further effect.

Further information can be found in the joint announcements of the Company
and Easyknit dated 9 November 2020, 4 January 2021, 22 January 2021, 19
February 2021, 31 March 2021 and 30 April 2021 respectively.

Save as abovementioned connected transaction, the Company or its
subsidiaries did not have any material connected transactions or continuing
connected transaction which were subject to the requirements of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 March 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions which were undertaken in the normal course
of business are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
For those related party transactions that constitutes connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions (as the case may be) (other than those
described in the above section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTION”)
under the Listing Rules, these transactions are exempt from reporting,
annual review, announcement and the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Bye-law 178 of the Bye-laws provides that, among others, every Director and
other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or
may incur sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices and related matters provided that the indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of them.
In this connection, the Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company during the
year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year, the five (5) largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 78.90% of the Group’s purchases and the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 27.91% of the Group’s purchases.

The five (5) largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately
16.19% of the Group’s revenue and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 4.88% of the Group’s revenue.

None of the Directors and their respective close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s issued Shares) have any interest in the five (5) largest
suppliers or customers of the Group.

PROPERTY VALUATION

Property valuations in respect of the Group’s investment properties in Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China have been carried out by Vigers
Appraisal and Consulting Limited, an independent firm of qualified professional
property valuers. For the investment properties in Singapore, the valuation
as at 31 March 2022 was carried out by Edmund Tie & Company (SEA) Pte
Ltd, another independent firm of qualified professional property valuers. Their
valuations were based on residual value approach, income capitalisation
approach and/or direct comparison method as the valuation methodologies
and were used in preparing 2021/2022 final results. The Group’s investment
properties were valued at approximately HK$1,367,563,000 (2021:
approximately HK$1,285,074,000), an increase over 2020 after adjusted
for the exchange adjustments and disposals of investment properties. The
increase in fair value of approximately HK$63,054,000 was recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for the year. Development properties and non-investment properties of the
Group were stated at cost less impairment, if any, in these consolidated
financial statements.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to various risks in its businesses and operations.
Through internal control systems and procedures, the Company has taken
reasonable steps to ensure that significant risks are monitored and do not
adversely affect the Group’s operations and performances. The relevant risks
are managed on an ongoing basis. A non-exhaustive list of principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group is set out below.

Market Risk

The Group’s revenue is principally derived from Hong Kong. The conditions of
the economy as a whole and the property market may have significant impact
to the Group’s financial results and conditions.

Compliance Risk

The Group’s operations require compliance with local and overseas
laws (including those of the PRC, Bermuda, Singapore and the British
Virgin Islands) and regulations, including but not limited to property sale,
management and construction as well as companies and securities laws.
The Group has constantly monitored its compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.

ACCOUNT OF KEY RELATIONSHIPS

The Group adheres to the standards of business ethics, this underpins how
we conduct business with our customers, suppliers and contractors.

Employees

The Group value its employees who are the Group’s most important assets.
Staff are rewarded with competitive remuneration packages and benefits. The
Group is committed to fostering a conducive, harmonious and discrimination-
free working environment.

Occupational health and safety is the top priority across the Group’s
operations. Safety guidelines are established to safeguard the employees
from any occupational hazards.

Customers

The Group strive to provide high quality and reliable services to its customers.
The privacy of the Group’s customers are well protected through a privacy
policy. Any complaints from customers are handled and investigated in a
thorough and efficient manner.

Suppliers

The Group is committed to forging collaborative partnership with its suppliers
and have a database of approved suppliers and vendors who are assessed
on a regular basis.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments policy of employees of the Group is set up by the executive
Directors on the basis of employee performance, experience and prevailing
industry practice.

The emolument of the Directors is determined by the Board after review and
on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, having regard to
factors such as the time commitment and responsibilities of Directors, the
Company’s performance and the prevailing market practice.

The Group had adopted the Share Option Scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible participants. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set
out in the section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” above.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws in Bermuda where
the Company is incorporated.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued Shares as required
under the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2022 and as at the date
of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) in compliance
with the requirement of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The principal responsibilities of
the Audit Committee is to review and supervise the financial reporting process
and risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit
Committee comprises all three (3) independent non-executive Directors as
at 31 March 2022. The Audit Committee has met in person or by electronic
means the Group’s auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements, and risk management
and internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
“CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 28 to 46 of this annual
report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company (or “we” or “our”) has prepared an annual environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) report for 2021/2022 in compliance with
the ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules. This
section highlights the ESG policies and performance of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022. The Company is committed to addressing
sustainability issues and managing ESG risks through prudent business
planning and operational implementation. The Board, assisted by the
management of the Company, has the overall responsibility to review policies,
oversee sustainability issues and address ESG-related risks. Through this
internal sustainability governance framework, the Board has developed and
formulated relevant policies which better align with the Group’s business
goals and objectives.

Discussion on Environmental Performance

The Group is devoted to the integration of corporate social responsibility
(“CSR”) into our day-to-day business operations to create long-term positive
value and contribute to a better future for the community while minimization of
its operational environmental footprint is resulted. We have focused our efforts
on environmental stewardship, energy efficiency, resource management
and cultivation of environmental awareness amongst employees. We remain
attentive to different energy-saving opportunities and adopt hardware
upgrades to improve our energy efficiency with a comprehensive approach
to waste and resource management, our goal is to create a paperless office
to minimize our paper usage. Apart from undertaking hardware upgrades
to further enhance the energy performance of existing infrastructure, we
apply new technologies to our new properties, including the installation of
low emissivity or double-glazed windows which help reduce heat loss and
optimise thermal insulation. Furthermore, we work hard to ensure waste
materials and other useful resources are reused, recovered and recycled
whenever possible before the consideration of landfill disposal.

Account of Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

Employees

We make great efforts to create a supportive, inclusive, caring and safe
work environment which facilitates professional development and protects
the health, safety and well-being of our employees. We emphasize on equal
opportunities, and a fair and transparent recruitment process. We reward
our employees with attractive remuneration packages and benefits, which
reference industry standards, and are commensurate with individual merit,
work experience, qualifications and job duties. Tailor-made functional training
programmes were arranged for our employees to keep abreast with the latest
professional knowledge and skills. Additionally, we have set safety guidelines
and systems to protect our employees and minimize potential occupational
hazards across our operations.

To ensure all staff understand their responsibility to uphold the Group’s ethical
standards, the employees handbook of the Group specifies clear expectations
for professional conduct. All relevant anti-discrimination and personal data
protection regulations are strictly observed.
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In support of continual learning and development, the Group encourages
our employees to pursue different interests and offers internal and external
opportunities to realise their full potential. We continue to provide internal and
external training opportunities such as seminars and training courses in order
to strengthen our workforce and stock our talent pipeline.

We ensure our work environments are free from any potential occupational
health and safety hazards, our internal safety guidelines were formulated
in accordance with the requirements set out by the Labour Department to
minimise risks. During the year, we fully complied with all relevant health and
safety regulations and we are pleased to report that there were no work-
related fatalities or lost days due to work injury.

Customers, Suppliers and Subcontractors

The Group has put in place stringent mechanisms and procedures on quality
assurance, customer service, health and safety requirements, procurement
procedures, and regulatory compliance. Our management approach stresses
control measures to ensure our stringent requirements are met, in cases
where quality concerns may arise, a thorough investigation will be carried out
and corrective actions will be promptly implemented. A complaint-handling
mechanism has been formulated to ensure we handle customer complaints in
a consistent and timely manner.

To promote corporate responsibility along our supply chain, we give
performance to businesses who share our sustainable practices and ethical
standards. Regular supplier assessments and audits are conducted to ensure
their compliance with our requirements.

Operating as a responsible business operator, we strictly adhere to all
relevant data privacy regulations and maintain a high level of business ethics
and product responsibility. The Group’s privacy policy is established in
accordance with local regulations to ensure that all personal data are handled
in strict confidence.

Compliance Status with Relevant Laws and Regulations that have a
Significant Impact on the Business

During the year, there were no reported cases of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have had a significant impact on the
Group’s businesses regarding the environment, employment, occupational
health and safety, labour standards, product responsibility, anti-corruption,
data privacy and intellectual properties.

The ESG policies and performance of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2022 are set out in the “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 63 to 80 of this annual report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Completion of Placing

On 20 April 2022, all conditions to the Placing Agreement have been
fulfiled and the completion took place. A total of 186,280,000 Placing
Shares have been successfully placed by the Placing Agent to not
less than six (6) Placees at the Placing Price of HK$0.10 per Placing
Share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Placing Agreement,
representing approximately 16.67% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Placing Shares
immediately upon the completion.

The net proceeds from the Placing, after deduction of the placing
commission and other related costs and expenses of the Placing,
amounted to approximately HK$18,380,000 will be used for the
Group’s general working capital.

Upon completion of the Placing, the conversion price of the 2019 CN
has been adjusted from HK$0.25 to HK$0.24 per Share with effect
from 20 April 2022.

Further information can be found in the announcement of the Company
dated 20 April 2022.

Discloseable Transaction — Acquisition of Equity Linked Note

On 19 April 2022, Fanju Investments Limited (a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) acquired an equity linked note (the “ELN”)
which is linked to the shares of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 2388) for a principal amount of HK$20,000,000 (before
expenses). The coupon rate for the ELN was 15% per annum. Such
ELN is expected to be matured on 6 July 2022. The acquisition
constituted a discloseable transaction for the Company under Rule
14.06(2) of the Listing Rules.

Further information can be found in the joint announcement issued by
Easyknit and the Company dated 20 April 2022.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 were audited by

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be proposed at the AGM
to re-appoint them as the auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

Lai Law Kau
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022

In case of any inconsistency, the English version of this annual report shall
prevail over the Chinese version.
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OVERVIEW

This annual environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”) report (the “ESG
Report”) provides an overview of the management approach as well as
sustainability initiatives and performance of Eminence Enterprise Limited
(“Eminence”, “we” or “our”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for
the reporting period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 (the “Year”).
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REPORTING STANDARD AND SCOPE

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the ESG Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”).

The scope of the ESG Report covers our principal business operations,
including industrial, commercial and residential properties in Hong
Kong and industrial properties in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

For a full list of ESG aspects, respective key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) and their references within the ESG Report, an ESG Guide
content index is included on pages 76 to 80 of the ESG Report.

Materiality Assessment

In the preparation for this ESG Report, the Group conducted a
materiality review to identify and determine material ESG issues for
disclosure by following a three (3)-step process as below:
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

At Eminence, corporate social responsibility (“‘CSR”) is an integral part
of our business operations. As part of our CSR philosophy, we are
committed to creating long-term positive value for our stakeholders and
the community where we operate while minimizing the environmental
footprint associated with our operations.

Over the past years, we have continuously strived to maintain
sound governance practices, cultivate a sustainable and resilient
workforce, and engage actively in different community programmes.
A comprehensive framework is a foundation for effective ESG
management, ensuring compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations within an organization.

The board of directors of Eminence (the “Board”) oversees our ESG
performance and regularly reviews the Group’s CSR policy which sets
out its long-term sustainability goals. Meanwhile, the audit committee
of Eminence at the board-level is responsible for reviewing the risk
management and internal control framework.

OUR ENVIRONMENT

3.1 Introduction
Throughout our operations, Eminence has consistently
demonstrated our commitment to responsible environmental
management. Our internal policy identifies and outlines
our approach to environmental protection with a focus on
environmental stewardship, energy efficiency, and cultivating
internal environmental awareness.

During the Year, there were no non-compliance cases relating to
all applicable legal and regulatory requirements' regarding air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

including but not limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)
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Energy Consumption and Emissions

As energy consumption in our managed properties and office
premises represents a significant proportion of our carbon
footprint, we remain attentive to different energy-saving
opportunities and adopt hardware upgrades to improve our
energy performance over time. Aside from our ongoing LED
light fixture replacement programme, we adopted automatic
motion sensors and switch-off timers at our properties to avoid
unnecessary lighting. We also adopted air-conditioning zoning
to maintain a controlled indoor temperature and turned off
electronic appliances when not in use to ensure both energy
efficiency and comfort in the working environment. We have
been introducing low emissivity or double-glazed windows
to our new property projects which helps reduce heat loss
and optimise thermal insulation. The Group will continue to
explore and implement energy-saving measures to minimise its
environmental impacts.

Waste and Resource Management

As an integral part of our environmental stewardship, Eminence
has developed a comprehensive approach to waste and
resource management. Our goal is to create a paperless office
where electronic communication and document sharing are
widely promoted. As such, we encourage employees to practice
double-sided printing and reuse paper whenever possible when
a hardcopy is necessary. We have likewise installed recycling
collection points at all our major properties, and we encourage
employees to separate recyclables like paper, glass, aluminum,
and plastic.

We have put in place various water-saving measures to manage
our water use efficiently. We have installed sensor water taps,
flow restrictors, and dual flush toilets at our managed properties
and office buildings along with regular inspections of pipes.

Cultivating Environmental Awareness

We believe driving positive behavioural change is conducive to
a sustainable future. To build a lasting green culture within the
Group, we have implemented internal environmental policies
and programmes at our office and properties, which serve
as practical guidance for staff on energy conservation, waste
reduction and resource management. For instance, internal
signs and notices have been posted in common areas and
washrooms to encourage responsible consumption of energy,
water, paper and other resources. We give preference to office
electronics and light tubes with high energy efficiency.

In the near future, we will keep striving to work towards creating
an environmentally friendly culture at work.

3.2

3.3

3.4
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Climate Change 3.5 RE&t

To address the climate-related impacts and risks to our BT EEREEANFZEMET R
business, we have been adopting different strategies to enhance PIZEBR R - B —BEHRBRT
our governance and improve our resilience to climate change. In BRI SRS 2R I F P A B VA I 4R
terms of risk management, we have identified the climate-related ERMERIEZE (e EEET -

risk as follows:

Climate-related risks

RIxEEA R

ERBREEDE - HAERER
BRI

Impacts to our operations
HEMEENTE

Hurricane and other extreme weather

events

FEEFIE A R uH R R E

Change in long-term rainfall pattern

EERAEANE(L

Possible damages to the physical properties and building structure,
and disruption of utilities supply which may lead to loss in business and
revenue.

BEE B EMBEEYEBEKES  URARAEXEMERE - &7
BEB B ST SRR -

Possible damages to the building facilities and structure, and an increase to
the building operation and maintenance costs.
BEIRBREEYRENER - UIEMEEYEEMBER

In terms of precautionary measures to minimize the potential EFEEEAE - URERE

damages related to the risks: R\ BRARRA R EE R E

(@)  Display typhoon signals in an obvious location of the (@) HERENEEVMNLEER
buildings. BeE{Z 5% -

(o)  Remind tenants to shut the windows and lock the doors b) REEFPZZHEERL
securely. MPIEE L -

©)  Inspect the pumping system and remove any blockage of ) BEKRRZFILERREM

drainage outlets and channels.

HOKOMBBEEEY)

The Group is determined to mitigate the impact of climate REBB AR RE L BIRIELUR
change on the operation and will constantly review the policy to CHRIRB O ZE - WG TE

improve the measures and disclosures.

EEEE - DASKHE i
E‘go
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4. OURPEOPLE

4.1

4.2

Introduction

Our business success depends on the dedication of our
employees. In this regard, we make great efforts to create
an inclusive and supportive work environment that facilitates
professional development and protects the health, safety, and
well-being of all employees.

Caring Company

In addition to providing equal employment opportunities, we
also ensure our employees receive fair treatment throughout the
employment process, including recruitment, promotion, training
and development, regardless of race, religion, gender, disability,
age, or any other basis prohibited by law.

To safeguard and protect human rights, the employment of child
and forced labour is strictly prohibited within the Group and
throughout our supply chain. During the recruitment process, the
Group takes measures (such as background screening, age and
identity verification) to prevent the employment of child labour
and forced labour.

Employees are the most important assets for every company.
Our competitive remuneration packages include fringe benefits,
medical health and dental insurance and a range of leave
entitlements and overtime compensation. Our human resources
department is responsible for conducting annual performance
appraisals and determining the promotion arrangements and
salary increments. Regular staff engagements and activities
such as weekly breakfasts, festive gifts and lucky draws (i.e.
Christmas, Chinese New Year, Tuen Ng Festival and Mid-
Autumn Festival), fitness class were arranged for our staff,
contributing immensely to the sense of belonging and cohesion
within the Group. High levels of employee engagement promote
retention of talent, foster their loyalty, and improve organizational
performance.

4. EMWET

4.1

4.2
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4.3

There were no non-compliance cases reported during the Year
regarding compensation, dismissal, recruitment, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
welfare, and relevant legislation, including but not limited to the
Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

Occupational Health and Safety

Our safety guidelines and systems are designed to protect
employees and minimise potential occupational hazards in
accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong). As part of our
emergency protocol, standard procedures were established to
deal with situations such as typhoons and rainstorm warnings.

During the Year, we once again faced up to multiple challenges
due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The Group has
remained committed to putting health and safety of our
employees as the priority by ensuring workplace sanitising
measures and conducting temperature checks. We strongly
encourage out staff to take the COVID-19 vaccine to protect
their own health as well as the community, and have provided
an extra day of paid sick leave to our staff for vaccination.
To safeguard our employees, we provided face masks, hand
sanitizers, Lianhua Qingwen Jiaonang and rapid COVID-19
testing kits to our employees. We also implemented a spin-off
office and work from home arrangement to reduce the number
of employees at each office premise, and flexible working hours
to avoid peak transportation hours.

During the Year, there were no reported incidents of non-
compliance with applicable occupational health and safety laws
and regulations that significantly impacted the Group.

4.3
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Training and Development

Equipping staff with up-to-date knowledge and the right skill
sets is essential for a business to succeed in an ever-changing
environment. We tailor functional training programmes to meet
the needs of our employees across different departments and
at various career stages. Furthermore, we support our staff’s
participation in different forms of external training, including
courses, seminar and workshops to enhance their professional
knowledge, practical skills as well as confidence in their abilities.
For instance, we have provided training courses to develop
and refresh the employees’ knowledge and skills in using our
accounting system.

To ensure that employees are acting in a way that is reflective
of the ethical standards set by the Group, we have invited
all directors and employees to attend a webinar on anti-
money laundering on the topic of “Proliferation Financing
Risk Assessment and Mitigation” on 19 August 2021 held by
the Commerce and Economic Development Bureau of The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Business Ethics

The Group adheres to the highest ethical standards and is
accountable in all aspects of its operations and has zero-
tolerance for any form of bribery or malpractice. The Employee’s
Handbook outlines our expectations for responsible business
conduct for all our employees. Our staff is also required to
comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter
163 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and the Anti-Money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

Eminence has provided guidelines on preventing and detecting
activities related to money-laundering and terrorist financing
to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations and
help detecting and reporting suspicious activities, including the
predicate offences of money laundering and terrorist financing,
such as securities fraud and market manipulation.

4.4

4.5
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Our whistleblowing channel allows notifications to the Group of
irregularities of a financial and accounting nature, in addition to
potential breaches of the code of conduct and unlawful activities
undertaken in the organization. Whistleblowing complaints
are investigated thoroughly and treated in strict confidence by
designated personnel, so whistle-blowers can voice concerns
without fear of reprisal. During the Year, Eminence has adopted
the Anti-corruption Policy and the Whistleblowing Policy; and
there were no confirmed cases of non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations relating to corruption.

5.  OUR VALUE CHAIN

5.1

5.2

Supply Chain Management

In line with our supply chain management approach, we give
preference to businesses who share our commitments to
sustainable practices and ethical standards. To properly manage
risks, including ESG-related risks, arising from our supply
chain, we conduct regular supplier assessments and audits to
ensure their compliance with our requirements. Suppliers who
fail to deliver the committed quality are subject to a series of
inspections and reviews. This holistic approach also enables
us to build effective long-term relationships with our business
partners and suppliers.

Responsible Services

We have put in place stringent mechanisms and procedures
which provide our employees with the guiding principles in
relation to quality assurance, customer service and privacy. For
instance, we have formulated a complaint handling mechanism
to handle and address customer concerns in a consistent and
timely manner.
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Moreover, we strive to ensure the confidentiality of personal data
and information collected from our customers. We have set out
clear privacy guidelines and procedures covering the use and
management of data and information in accordance with the
relevant regulatory requirements. Only authorized personnel are
allowed to access customer data on a need-to-know and need-
to-use basis.

Eminence protects its intellectual property by using copyrights,
trademarks, confidential information, and other applicable
forms of legal protection. We also work closely with law firms to
regularly renew and protect our trademarks.

During the Year, there were no complaint cases relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

OUR COMMUNITY

Eminence is committed to contributing positively to the community
where we locate and operate. We have developed long-term
partnerships with charitable organizations and offered financial and in-
kind donations, with special focuses on education, health and social
welfare.

During the Year, the Group contributed over HK$1,200,000 in
community investment, supporting non-profit organizations such as
Global Chinese Breast Cancer Organizations Alliance, Principal Chan
Free Tutorial World, J Life Foundation and Huzhou Vocational and
Technical College.
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7. HKEX KPI DATA TABLE

HKEx KPI

BRBITERENIER

A. Environmental
A BRI

7.

BERX FIEREMERRIER

Unit FY 2021/22 FY 2020/21
By 2021, 2281 RFE | 2020, 21BN FE

BERBAKNEREE

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity

Scope 1 emission Tonnes of CO.e 12.95 9.78
SEIHNE WA tiRE S
Scope 2 emission Tonnes of CO.e 17777 188.75
#HE2HE M E WALk E S
Scope 3 emission? Tonnes of CO.e 1.65 1.65
& E3H i Ee WE— ALk E S
- In total Tonnes of CO.e 192.38 200.18
- A2 WE—SEIRE S
- By intensity Tonnes of COze/FTE 3.01 3.23
- B EE WE— b E 8
ER2BES
Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity
BEBRRYELRERIERE
Concrete Tonne 2,838 8,601.70
=y Mg
Tonne/FTE 44.34 138.74
W ER2BES
Paper consumption® Kg 997.50 1,125
HRSROBFED F
Kg/FTE 15.59 18.15
Fr/ERZ2HES
Recycled metal Tonne 118 4,719.95
AEKEE Mg
Tonne/FTE 1.84 76.13
W EREEES
a We take into account the electricity used for processing fresh water by government a BIE BB EPIRIEAOKETAMNE S ©
departments.

b It is assumed by the monthly average consumption.

b

BER/TATHEE -
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Unit FY 2021/22 FY 2020/21
By 2021, 2281 E | 2020, 218 BUEE

HKEx KPI

BB TERENER

A2.1 Energy consumption by type and intensity
REHEAPWEREERERBE
Direct energy consumption
HERRES
- In total ’000 kWh 43.56 32.90
- NHEEF F1EF R
- By intensity 000 KWh/FTE 0.68 0.53
- AR E T TFEFEE
ERE2BESR
Indirect energy consumption
R RIS
- In total ’000 kWh 253.96 269.64
- 4R 2% FEF A
- By intensity "000 kWh/FTE 3.97 4.35
- mEH FEFRE,
EREBES
Total energy consumption
BERFEE
- In total 000 kWh 297.52 302.54
- st F1EF R
= By intensity ’000 kWh/FTE 4.65 4.88
- pEEst FEFTRE
ZR2BES
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
BFEKEREE
Water consumption
FEKE
- In total me 5,946 4,110
- PYE5 SR
- By intensity mé/FTE 92.91 66.29
- AR & MK EREBES
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HKEx KPI Unit FY 2021/22
BRI TEARBENIER B 2021, 2281 BN B
B. Social
B. &g
B1.1 Total workforce by gender and employment type Male Female
R REEREALISNESEH St it
Full-time Number of people 40 24
Ea i3 N
Part-time Number of people 0 0
i34 A
Total workforce by age group and geographical region Under 30-50 Above
RERANREEE D NESLEH 30 30 % 50
307% 507% 505%
LA LAk
Hong Kong Number of people 0 18 19
HE A
The PRC Number of people 3 3 21
A N
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender Male Female
RUEREIDWESRALLE ELes 7t
- By rate % 12.50% 12.50%
-
Employee turnover rate by age group Under 30 30-50 Above 50
RERMARBDWES MK R 305% 30FRE | 50BRMA L
LA 508%
- By rate % 0.00% 23.81% 7.50%
- s
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities FY 2019/20 | FY 2020/21 | FY 2021/22
EIEBEmMET A RLLE 2019,720 | 202021 | 202122
MRFE | UBFE | MBFE
- By number Number of people 0 0 0
- LAABLGT A
- By rate % 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
- s
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury
EIGEATFEH
Lost days Number 0
BARIEAE #HH
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BB TERENER
B3.1

RR - HERERBE

Unit
By

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category

MBI RESENESNZIEET DL

FY 2021/22
2021,/ 228t U

Male

St

Female

ey

Junior staff
MF/ET

%

22.22%

23.08%

Middle managers
PRERE

%

8.33%

20.00%

Senior managers
BRERE

%

60.00%

50.00%

B3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by employee

category
REEERES  BEEERTHZINFIHEE

Male
Sl

Female

egid

Junior staff
MFKET

Number of hours

5324

2.67

2.77

Middle managers

hAREIEE

Number of hours

iy 21

1.00

2.40

Senior managers
BRERRE

Number of hours

13.20

iy 21

8.50

B5.1

Number of suppliers by geographical region

Zi & & K LR A B

Hong Kong
B

Number of suppliers

HERmHE

50

The PRC
T

Number of suppliers
HEEHE

10

Singapore
N

Number of suppliers
HEREE

B6.2

Number of products and service related complaints received

HEERERKRBENRFHE

Number of complaints

RAFEE

B7.1

Number of concluded cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the company

HARBRHICEENESHFARENEE

Number of cases

ESES 4=

B8.2

Resources contributed

ERER

Donations (HK$)
188 (B T)

1,278,190
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8. HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX 8. EBEBIMURE 1dEBRERIR
Hi851)RARLI

HKEXx
KPI Description Page(s)/Remarks
BB
Em BRERIERE Al HE B
A. Environmental
A RIE
Al Al General disclosure 64-65
Emissions —REE
2587 Al The types of emissions and respective emissions data Due to the business

B iE e M AR R BEmEE nature of the
Group, this KPI
is considered not

material.
ERREEE T
ME - LRRRAER
BEHRABTE
K o
Al.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse 72
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)
HEEE) REEREE EE2)REREBHME (AN
B)R(nER)=E (A BESEN - BIERETE)
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Due to the business
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, | nature of the
per facility) Group, this KPI
FrEAEEEEYMBE CAMERTE) & (ER) % E (S | is considered not
ESBM - BIERETE material.
ERAREER X
ME - LLRARER
BEHABRBIE
K o
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 72

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility)

FESBREFEEDEE UNE) X(ER) % E (A E
EEBA - BERMETHE

A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to 65
achieve them

A PTRTSLEBEE B 1R R AR E R E e B R AT ERREY 25
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes 65
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them

TR A E N EREREYN A - LA ET SR EE
BIE N AREDE L B IRFTERENEY 25




BLMEBRAE 2022 FR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

1=z = =S IO H
RIE HERERES
HKEx
KPI Description Page(s)/Remarks
BB
=) BRERIEE BHE B
A2 A2 General disclosure 65
Use of Resources —REE
BREER A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total 73
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)
RERESNEER SHEERAEEREE (WAE
EE8A - BHERMAH)
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of 73
production volume, per facility)
RFEKELRTEWMUEES SN - BHEREAE)
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps 65
taken to achieve them
H A AT ET SZ MY AR IR (R AR e B IR R IE R B L B IR FTERER
kg
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water 65
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them
it SRERGE A KOIR BRI BRI RIRE - LA R PTET SZEY A K3
% B R R EDE L B IR ATEREY 2P 5
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products| Due to the business
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit| nature of the
produced Group, this KPI
iﬁ%uu FTRABEMENEE (AN E) R (@ER) B4 E | is considered not
BihE material.
ERAEBR XD
ME - LERARAER
HEIRRRRBENE
X o
A3 A3 General disclosure 64-65
The Environment and —RRIRER
Natgral Res\c?ur:ces A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 64-65
B RARRER environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them
T EFEDEIRERRAABERNEAZEREHNER
BRAZERTE
A4 A4 General disclosure 66
Climate Change —RHE
AR A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which 66

have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them

HE &R AR HBRTAEERENEARIKEBAE
H - REHTH
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(Gl Description Page(s)/Remarks
& B3 A
=] BRERIEE | Mt BHE fEa
B. Social
B. &g
B1 B1 General disclosure 67-68
Employment —RRIREE
1E 1R B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, 74
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region
BRI EFEER (2 BEGRE) - FRARI KR E D
H1E B 48K
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 74
geographical region
RIER - FRARI MRS S HESREAE
B2 B2 General disclosure 68
Health and Safety —RRIRER
(e B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each 74
of the past three (3) years including the reporting year
BE=ZQF (BREERFE)SFEAIIEMAMILTHAS
R b
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury 74
EIGIEARTERE
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 68
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored
TR B R R R 2 - ARBERTRER
DapzA
B3 B3 General disclosure 69
Development and —RR IR
Training B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 75
ZR RS employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management)
RUENREERN(ERERE PREEE IAHSNZ
JEEADL
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by 75
gender and employee category
RUERILEBERIBD - BEEETHZINN TR
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RIE HERERRE

HKEx
KPI Description Page(s)/Remarks
BBE T
EmE BRENEE | #H BH e
B4 B4 General disclosure 67-68
Labour Standards — MR
TR B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to 67

avoid child and forced labour

g RIBEMERARRE T RAHE T
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 67
discovered

Fo AT B30 E MR I R R B RR B B 18 U P R ER A A5 R
B5 B5 General disclosure 70-71
Supply Chain —RRIETE
Management B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region 75

S A
PSR EE R B KRB B

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 70
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored

BB HEEENED  MENITERIENNEERS
HE - ARBERTRERAE

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 70
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored

A BRI RS FIRE R R LA SRR EH -
ARARRNTT R ER A

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 70
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored

H A BRIE BB ISR (2 2 IR REE i R RAF eV 1B - A
RARBERITRERT A
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(Gl Description Page(s)/Remarks
BB
Em BRERIEE g HE B
B6 B6 General disclosure 70-71
Product Responsibility — R E
EmAf B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to| Due to the business
recalls for safety and health reasons nature of the
EENDEXREMBETRLT2BEREAMARKAE | Group, this KPI
n is considered not
material.
ERAREB R X
ME - LEIRAER
EZRRABTE
K o
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 70,75

received and how they are dealt with
BREBNE D RREHIRFE B A REE A
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 71

intellectual property rights
T il B4 v T R PR D G EE M R A 1B 1D

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 70
procedures
HlE B i E A2 N E m B WGE R

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 71

policies, how they are implemented and monitored
HE B EERRERABBER - URERRITRERT

A
B7 B7 General disclosure 69-70
Anti-corruption —ARIRER
R&EA B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 75

practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases
RERBAHEITASEBRERETERENE THAR
HEB B REFAAER

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 70
procedures how they are implemented and monitored

B R BB AR T - A RMBRRIT RER A

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors 69
and staff
HmESERE TRENRESHF
B8 B8 General disclosure 71
Community Investment —RH R
MR A B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 71

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport)
ETEREEWHE  BREEH BIFRK @E X
v g5)

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus 71,75
area

EEIREMEBNER(SHEREHE)
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eminence
Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 87 to 220, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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RN EED (A T RIEM) ERAVNEHNE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRETEE

Valuation of investment properties

REYFEZ(E

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the significant judgments and
assumptions made by management of the Group in
determining the fair value.

B ESEEERBEEREEATERSREXRZ HERRE
& BB REYE L HER—ABERETFE -

At 31 March 2022, the fair value of investment properties was
approximately HK$1,368 million (note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements), with a fair value gain recognised in
profit or loss of approximately HK$63 million (consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income).
20226 3A31H » REWHE N F{EA1,368,000,000%
TR EMBHmEME16)  NERBERZATFAEBELY
63,000,000 T (kR & 182 M A2 EKER)

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value
based on valuations performed by independent firms of
qualified professional property valuers (the “Valuers”).
Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs used in
the valuations are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
EEEREMEZATENIREBEBE LG EREEAEMT
(MEERDER Z HEFR - MEMRAZHETEREE
BABE FBEERGEMBMKRMT16MKE -

BB SR )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMWET AR ERREETER

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

B EMEZ HEZARREF 21

. Obtaining an understanding from the Valuers and
management of the Group about the valuation techniques,
performance of the property markets, significant
assumptions adopted, critical judgmental areas, key inputs
and data used in the valuations;

REEMEkR BEXEERETREHEERE  WETSE
B HRACEERE  FTEHESSE  HEFRKAZ
FEAREE

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the Valuers;

HEMRERNERS  EHRFEIIL

. Assessing the integrity of information provided by
management of the Group to the Valuers by comparing,
on a sample basis, details of rentals to the respective
underlying existing lease agreements; and
FRAAMETALBREBREAN 2 EEF BT
i EEEERERMGEMAREZEN Z BT &

° Assessing reasonableness of key inputs used by the
Valuers and management of the Group by comparing with
relevant market information with similar properties, and
assessing the appropriateness of specific assumptions
make on adjustments of the properties by reference to
character, location and other individual factors which affect
the valuation of properties.
FREBEEYENRBATSER - FHEGEMMAR
SEEREEANTIERANGEN  WR2EZLEYHE
BENSN SENEMERNEZE  FEEYEFBME

HAEBRREEEE °



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRETEE

Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for
development for sale (“PUD”)

I E BB YR 2 i B FE ([FFEH ERBEYFE )
We identified the assessment of the net realisable value of
PUD as a key audit matter due to the significant judgments
and assumptions made by management of the Group in
determining the net realisable value.
HRASEEREEET A Z 5 FERELERABNRER
& EEBRMEEBEL SRR ER R FENTERE
ERBEESAER -

The Group’s PUD were stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The estimates of net realisable value are
determined based on best available information and with
reference to valuations made, less the estimated costs to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales.
REBENFIELEERYFLRRANMAEEFESPHEE
FHR o AR FENGGEERKEAIREELL2EMR
1B FF AR 25 TR AT O T2 AR 7R K% R B 3 65 PR 2 A 7R Th e
TEH]

At 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of PUD was
approximately HK$3,021 million (note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements), with write-back on PUD recognised in
profit or loss of approximately HK$80 million (consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income).
720226 3A31H  HIEHEERMENREFENR
3,021,000,000% 7T (k7 & M B KM E21) - HEIEAPHER
YRR 5 2 R W) 3R E 40 580,000,000/ T (AR & 1B 5 &
Hih2EKER) °

The calculation of net realisable value of each PUD is
performed by an independent firm of qualified professional
property valuers (the “Valuer”). Appropriate reversal of
previously write-down for estimated irrecoverable amount
is recognised in profit or loss when the net realisable
value increases. Actual realised amount may differ from
estimates, resulting in a decrease or an increase in the net
realisable value of the PUD for sale and additional write-
down or reversal of write-down previously recognised may be
required.

BEFELEZRYENTTETFENAER E‘ﬂﬁiﬂﬁ
EEBNBEREMENER R (FHERM DT - ZAIER
EEWMﬁ'ﬁE%@MﬁHEMH%KTW@&EﬁA
EHERNSE  BERERNSEAREATNSEAN
AR - %ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ%¥E%¥m7“ﬁ@Eﬁ
A BN - 0 B AT AE T EAETTRR SN 8 SO 8 ST AT RERR
B EH o
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BAEET SR ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWET A REREETER

Our procedures in relation to the net realisable value of PUD
included:

BRBERERRMENT R FENRZF S

o Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer and
management of the Group about the valuation techniques,
performance of the property markets, significant
assumptions adopted, critical judgmental areas, key inputs
and data used in the valuations;
REEMMEEEERETHREERN  FHET SR
W RANEERS  EEMEES - ARBANG
EhEANEE

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the Valuer;

AP A ERRRER - RE N T B |

o Testing, on a sample basis, the actual development costs
by tracing to construction contracts, certificates and
invoices;

\LL%mIAE BEMRE  HEFNREKRE
TR

o Assessing, on a sample basis, the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the management’s estimated costs of
completion by reviewing terms and conditions of the signed
construction contracts, inspecting the contract sum and
budget information, and assessing the appropriateness of
changes in the estimated costs of completion by inspecting
the supporting documents including signed construction
contracts and certificates; and
LL%EE S ENRESRBNIRTMEHE  REERS
BUEEERUARGATIAEEREPNEEE - A
m%ﬁt&ﬁaﬁﬁmnlmﬁéﬁmA@Eﬂm i

BAREXRHFXH  BEERIINBISRNES &

o Assessing reasonableness of key inputs used by the Valuer
and management of the Group by comparing with relevant
market information with similar properties.
BARABREUMENEETISERETHE - FHEME
EMMNASEERECANEEZRANSENL -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

B AR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Leung Chui Shan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReEsERkAMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243 31 H I FE

SILEEERAT 2022 Fif

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Bsr TEx FTAEL
Revenue EEE 5
Rental income HelA 38,738 45,276
Management fee income EREWA 18,007 16,033
Interest income from loan financing REEFREZFBWA 7,730 18,944
64,475 80,253
Cost of services rendered RERBR AR (2,910) (3,738)
61,565 76,515
Other income Hilg A 7 9,464 6,614
Other gains and losses H itz R EE 38 (893)
Other expenses Hippx (231) (1,051)
Administrative expenses THREX (50,660) (44,694)
Net loss on modification of terms of convertible & B[ ¥R 218 (53 7 B 18 %58
notes 26 - (81,849
Loss on early redemption of convertible note REBERTRREREE 26 = (8,406)
Gain (loss) on changes in fair value of investment R &% 2 N FEE B (E18)
properties 16 63,054 (18,530)
Loss on revaluation of intangible assets BREEZEHER 18 (723) -
Release on disposal of debt instruments at fair ~ HERAFEF AR M2 ER 2
value through other comprehensive income BERTARRR (4,726) 295
Write-back (write-down) on properties held for ~ #{EHE %R W% 2 B0l O E) 55
development for sale, net 21 79,919 (63,065)
Gain on settlement of loans receivable by AR EREKER Wi
properties 17 35,846 -
Impairment loss on financial assets, net: EREERERE FE
~ Loans receivable - ERER 17 (21,461) (45,685)
- Debt instruments at fair value through -BAFEFAEMZEKEZE
other comprehensive income BIA (9,453) (55)
- Debt instrument at amortised cost - REERAGEZEBIA (914) -
Net (loss) gain on changes in fair value of BATEFABREZEBEEZAF
financial assets at fair value through EZ(FHER)EMNFE
profit or loss (17,736) 18,744
Finance costs &R 9 (20,485) (28,683)
Profit (loss) before taxation BRI AT (EE) 123,497 (190,743)
Taxation (charge) credit HMBEFEZEA 10 (7,050) 9,950
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to AARRREGAFERF(EE)
owners of the Company 11 116,447 (180,793)
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GeEskAMZEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243A31 B It FE

2022 2021
NOTE HK$000 HK$'000
BisE THET FET
Other comprehensive income (expense) Hit2EWA (B%)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to V-l I ET ey Bt
profit or loss: ZHEH
Exchange differences arising on translation of BEBIEENTERRZELEZR
financial statements of foreign operations 13,798 35,374
Change in fair value of debt instruments at fair & A FET A KM 2 E R 2 EH
value through other comprehensive income B AT EES (10,530) 976
Release on disposal of debt instruments at far ~ HE R ALEEH ARMRERZE 2 E
value through other comprehensive income BT ARER 4,726 (295)
Impairment loss on debt instruments at fair value 5+ AJ8 %% 2 I A FEF A E 2 E I
through other comprehensive income included %% 7 &% T AEEE
in profit or loss 9,453 95
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEEMZEBEA 17,447 36,110
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the  NA RIR R EEAREE
year attributable to owners of the Company 2EBAFEX)ERE 133,894 (144,683)
Earnings (loss) per share BREF(ER)
- Basic -HK 13 HK12.50 cents i&{l  HK(19.41) cents &1l
- Diluted o -1 HK9.77 cents Bl HK(19.41) cents 1l




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B R R

At 31 March 2022 72202243 H31H

BLMEBRAE 2022 Fk

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
BisE FTAT FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME  BELRRE 14 4,980 5,643
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 3,770 5,884
Investment properties HEME 16 1,367,563 1,285,074
Intangible assets BFEE 18 6,563 =
Loans receivable EWE R 17 39,341 3,070
Financial assets at fair value through profit BAFERABRZ
or loss TREE 23 43,274 16,137
Debt instruments at fair value through BRATFES AR DS
other comprehensive income EhmcBEEIA 19 = 29,852
Debt instrument at amortised cost REHEK A EZ
BBIA 20 22,426 =
Deferred tax assets EREBIEEE 29 8,020 8,250
Other receivables Hfth fE i RIR 22 = 103,160
1,495,937 1,457,070
Current assets mENEE
Properties held for development for sale RIEHEERYE 21 3,020,650 2,754,027
Trade and other receivables B 5 RE M EWGRIR 22 118,039 28,162
Loans receivable EWE R 17 55,040 127,109
Financial assets at fair value through profit BATHES AB#®HZ
or loss CREE 23 105,635 128,448
Debt instruments at fair value through other ~ ZAFE AEHE
comprehensive income EEZEBTA 19 2,408 6,261
Bank balances and cash RITEHREER S 24 82,099 112,260
3,383,871 3,156,267
Current liabilities ik JN=KE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERNFKIR 25 83,438 109,045
Tax payable FEf IR 10,280 9,169
Convertible notes AR ER 26 16,292 13,417
Secured bank borrowings BEARITEE 27 789,286 436,348
Lease liabilities HERE 28 2,570 2,442
901,866 570,421
Net current assets mEEEFE 2,482,005 2,585,846
Total assets less current liabilities BEATARDAE 3,977,942 4,042,916
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBARRR

At 31 March 2022 72202243 H31H

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B s FTiEx FET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEEE 29 37,855 34,812
Convertible note BREE 26 50,619 44,747
Secured bank borrowings BERRITEE 27 873,021 1,078,585
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 1,260 3,479
962,755 1,161,623
3,015,187 2,881,293
Capital and reserves BRRREE
Share capital [N 30 9,315 186,291
Reserves T 3,005,872 2,695,002
3,015,187 2,881,293
The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 220 were approved EEYN2022F6 A0 ERIRIERKRE
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022 and are 87TE220B 2 iz & WMWK WA TIES
signed on its behalf by: REREE:
Lai Law Kau Lui Yuk Chu
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2022 %Zi2022¢3ﬁ 1HIEFE

Convertiole Investment ~ Property  Accumulated
Share Share  note equity Capital - Contrfouted ~ Exchange  revaluation  revaluation profits
captal  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve (losses) Total
TEREE %E mE  ZatEA
RE  BhEE BREE RARE SRR EXRE  ERRE  ERER (B8 Fek
HK$000  HK$O000  HK$O000  HK$O00  HKSO000 - HKSO000  HK$O000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Tt TAnr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TR TEr TEr TEn
At1 Apr 2020 R2020F4A 1R 186,291 2,320,694 56,028 53194 261,126 (16,959) (2,763) 40,624 43634 2,941,869
Fxchange diflerences arising on RERN2ERBRR

translation of financial statements of ~ ZERZR

foreign operations - - - - - 35,374 - - - 35,374
Change in fair value of debot AT fﬁﬂ\ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

instruments at fair value through BrERIEAZAT

other comprehensive income 29 - - - - - - 976 = = 976
Release on disposal of debt HERATEGALR2

instruments at fair value through Ela BB IAKE

other comprehensive income B - - - - - - (295) - - (295)
Impairment loss on debt instruments st ABZ ZRATFETA

at fair value through other Ah2EbE ERT

comprehensive income includedin -~ EZ S

proftt or loss - - - - - - 5 - - 5
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - (180,793)  (180,799)
Total comprehensive income FEERENAR)

(expensg) for the year a8 - - - - - 35,374 736 - (180,793)  (144,689)
Early redemption of convertiole note ~ REBETRRER = = (2,065) = = = = = = (2,065)
Transfer upon early redemption of ~ REEEARFEHEE

convertible note E2 = - (16397) = = = = - 1B3W7 =
Deferred tax iabiities released upon ~ REEEAAREERE

early redemption of convertiole note ~ BHETH B A = = 1730 = = = = = = 1,730
Transfer upon modification of terms of BN A ARZHHERE

convertile notes E2 = - (4387) = = = = - 43876 =
Deferred tax iabiities released upon ~ EHAIERZE R #

modifcation of terms of convertble  FERERBR

notes - - 4580 - - - - - - 4580
Recogniion upon modification of ~ EMAAREE i

terms of convertible notes B - - 96,643 - - - - - - 965,643
Deferred tax liabilty on recognition of B ARZH G

equity component upon B 2 BERE

moaffcation of terms of convertible &%

notes - - (15,781) - - - - - - (15,781)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 A31H It F &

Convertible

Investment ~ Property  Accumulated

Share Share  note equity Capital Contributed ~ Exchange revaluation revaluation profits

capital  premium reserve reserve
TEREE

ki ROEE ERRE RAEE

HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000

Tér TEn  TER  TEn

surplus reserve reserve reserve (losses) Total

ke g EitiE

gARE  ENRE EMRGE  EfRER (B8 %
HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tén TEx  FEz  TEr  TEr  TER

At 31 March 2021 202137318 186,201 2,320,694 79,862 53,194
Fxchange diflerences arising on RERN2ERNHRR

translation of financial statements of ~ ZEXZZ

W16 1845 (2007 4062 (16886 2,881,293

foreign operations - - - - - 13,798 - - - 13,798
Change in fair value of et BATE ALt 2ENR

intruments at fair value through BLERIEZATE

other comprehensive income 29 - - - = = - (10,5%0) = - (10,5%0)
Release on disposal of debt HERATEFALH2

instruments at fair value through Ela BHIAKE

other comprehensive income B - - - - - - 4,726 - - 4,726
Impairment loss on debtinstruments st ABZ ZRATFETA

at fair value through other A2EbE ERT

comprehensive income includedin -~ EZ /S

profit or loss - - - - - - 9,453 - - 9,453
Profitfor the year TERER - - - = = S > - 16447 116447
Total comprehensive income for the~ AEE2ARALE

year - - - - - 13,798 3,649 - 116,447 133,804
Reduction of share capital upon RAE R 2 RAER

capital reorganisation (176,976) - - - 176976 - - - - -
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3A318 9315 2,320,694 79,862 53,194 438,102 32,213 1,622 40,624 39,561 3,015,187

The capital reserve of the Group represents the credit arising from the
reduction of share capital of the Company in March 2004 and September
2005 and can be applied in the future for distribution to the shareholders.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the credit arising from the
reduction of share capital of the Company in February 2003, October 2009,
December 2012, November 2013, October 2014, March 2015, October 2015
and 15 March 2022, part of which was applied to set off against accumulated
losses of the Company in February 2003, October 2009, December 2012,
November 2013, October 2014, March 2015 and October 2015. The balance
may be utilised by the directors in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws
and all applicable laws, including to eliminate the accumulated losses of the
Company.

The property revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on
revaluation of certain leasehold properties and land use rights of the Group
when these leasehold properties and land use rights were transferred to
investment properties.

AEBZBRAFEHERERARRAMR2004F3A4
K&2005F9 A EAEIRIRANFTE £ 2 #E8K - 7]
IR DR T IR -

REBZHABBNARARQTN2003F2
A~ 20094108 ~ 2012412 A + 20134 11
A~ 20144108 - 2015438 - 2015410
B R&2022%3 5158 B AR A B FTEE &£ 2
8 - B8O B 2003428 - 20094104 -
20124128 ~ 2013F 1178 + 201456104 -
201543 A K 2015F 10 A AEEKEA R A 2
REEE c EFARBEARRERMAI KT
BEAZERFUAERZES - BIEA K
SHANA R REHEE -

AEBZMEEHRHEARDEDER L
EREEREREMER  AEBEETHAE
MEEGHEZ W R bR -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243 A31H L F &

Dividend income from listed investments

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTAT FAT
Operating activities KR
Profit (loss) before taxation Tl gl & F (E18) 123,497 (190,743)
Adjustments for: i
Bank interest income SRITH B WA (272) (1,166)
Interest income from debt instrument at REHEK AT EZEBIA
amortised cost ZFBEWA (1,556) =
Interest income from debt instruments at fair BATEF AL EERE
value through other comprehensive income ZEBTARZFBHRA (1,870) 2,151)
Interest expense FBmx 20,485 28,683
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BERSBINE
equipment 1,097 1,404
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEEZNE 2,495 2,470
Net loss on modification of terms of BRAIBMRERRERCER
convertible notes pckc] = 81,849
Loss on early redemption of convertible note REBRTRRER CEE = 8,406
Loss on write-off of property, plant and WEEmE - BB REE 2
equipment B8 36 44
(Gain) loss on changes in fair value of REMEZ ATEE
investment properties () B4 (63,054) 18,530
Gain on settlement of loans receivables by LAY B B E T2 W
properties (35,846) -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BERREZ
equipment Wz (382) =
Impairment loss on loans receivable, net ERERZRERSE T8 21,461 45,685
Impairment loss on debt instrument at REHEK AT EZEBIA
amortised cost ZREREE 914 -
Impairment loss on debt instruments at fair BRAFEFAE M EERE
value through other comprehensive income ZERTRZHESE 9,453 55
Loss on revaluation of intangible assets B EEEREBE 723 =
(Write-back) write-down on properties held BIEHEREME 2 (BR)
for development for sale, net RIE FR (79,919) 63,065
Loss (gain) on changes in fair value of BRAFEFABREZERH
financial assets at fair value through EEZATERDER
profit or loss (Hez) 17,736 (18,744)
Release on disposal of debt instruments at HERATEFAZMZE
fair value through other comprehensive st 2 &7 T AR
income 4,726 (295)

EmEREzZBREBBA (5,546) (1,569)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z£2022F3A31 8 It FE

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FTHAT FAT
Operating cash flows before movements in RiTBBESCEBR 2 KERE
working capital RE 14,178 35,523
Increase in properties held for development BEH SR EMELM
for sale (147,916) (160,383)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables & 5 & H b g 477 388 2> (3 7n) 10,078 (67,131)
Decrease in loans receivable FEWE TR A 11,071 115,145
Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value & AFETABHZ L RHEE
through profit or loss SR (35 0) 16,134 (30,919)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables & 5 & H b e 5038 Gt ) #8410 (16,668) 8,991
Cash used in operations AREEZRS (113,123) (98,774)
Income tax paid BEREER (3,437) (1,965)
Dividend received from financial assets at fair RERAFEFABRZ
value through profit or loss SREEZBRKE 5,546 1,569
Interest received from loans financing REEHRBE ZFIBBA 2,094 639
Net cash used in operating activities AREEER 2 REFE (108,920) (98,531)
Investing activities RAEE
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BARRFEFABEZ
through profit or loss SREE (194,611) (110,233)
Addition of debt instrument at amortised cost RESEKAGEZEBEBIA
s (23,220) -
Addition of intangible assets R EEL (10,733) =
Deposit (refunded) received from disposal of BWCRE)LEMRBARZ
subsidiaries we (10,000) 10,000
Addition of investment properties NEREME (1,433) (19,236)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BERH (1,013) (295)
Proceeds from disposal/maturity of financial HE BB ATEF A BE
assets at fair value through profit or loss ZEMEEZFENIE 155,881 110,739
Proceeds from redemption of debt instruments ~ ZAFEFF AE M2 EKE 2
at fair value through other comprehensive B TAME ZMEHIE
income 23,038 34,161
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREMEZFMERE
properties 19,517 -
Interest received BHFIE 6,105 7,831
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets HERFEE ZFERE 3,447 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BERREZME
equipment A 931 =
Net cash outflow on acquisition of properties FHiBWEEME A A AR E
held for development for sale through HEBRRYEZHASRL
acquisition of subsidiaries pEiL 36 = (191,810)
Purchase of debt instruments at fair value BARAFEFARMZE
through other comprehensive income ez BB T A = (33,113)
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HNBARIZRERH
FE 37 - (77)

Net cash used in investing activities AREERS 2 HEFE (32,091) (192,033)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243 31 H I FE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTAT FAT
Financing activities BMEEE

Bank borrowings raised EERITIEE 980,556 617,810
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITIER (833,274) (534,703)
Interest paid BEfFE (34,226) (37,413
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERRE (2,472) (2,451)
Net cash from financing activities REBEZD 2R FE 110,584 43,243
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekERRE2FERD (30,427) (247,321)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of FzRekERRE
the year 112,260 357,767
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEERES) B 266 1,814

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year,
represented by bank balances and cash

FRZBSRERES BRI
EunkEL 82,099 112,260
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Eminence Enterprise Limited (the “Company”; the Company and its
subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company was an associate of Easyknit
International Holdings Limited (“Easyknit International”), an exempted
company incorporated in Bermuda with its shares also listed on the
Stock Exchange. During the year ended 31 March 2022, Easyknit
International acquired additional equity interest in the Company
through cash offer and the Company became a subsidiary of Easyknit
International. At 31 March 2022, Easyknit International together with its
subsidiaries held 74.76% (31 March 2021: 29.6%) of the issued share
capital of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 42.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$” or “HKD”) which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2021 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond

30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Reform — Phase 2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 A31H It F &

—IRAH

BUEEERARTARRE] : AQE
REWMBLABASRBAIAEEADERR
EAMARLIAERRERAR - R
NEEBBEXZMBERIE (B
FD LT o RBIRFEM M E R A M
BERWHAFREREN[ABEEIE
DR -

MR2021F3A31H L FE M - AR
BXEEBREEER AT (KERE])
M AR  — MR BERETMAS
RERE DR - HERD IR AT E
™ e H{E2022F3A31BILFE » kFE
BEEBEBESEHNRETARNE
SMIRTE - AABIKAKEEBROHTA
A o PR20225FE3A318 » k&EBEER
HEHWBARBAARARREEITRAMN
74.76% (20213 A31H : 29.6%) °

RABBREER AR - ARAIXE
A RME EEBHNMIE42 -

REMBWMERABTEY  BLTA
RRFHIHEEEH o

EREEI BB BREERN(E
B BRELER)

RAEEBREERZEBTEBTE
R4 %A

RAFE  AELEECEXEREES
A (BESFAAE)MEM
THRIBRT BB EREER - BR
BUTEUEREME @ ZELIBRI%E
BIR2021F4 A1B R 2 BB EE
HARE o8 1 A 2K

BRUBHRSER  2019BRAE

FABHIEET A miAEHES
Ve

BB MRS 2R 202146 430H

F16FIBFI A 1B E201978

iR ERE

BHRERE

TRV MSERNE MEREERF -
ot - BBEFE 5 REER
RIS 305% ~ BB/

B EERET

5% BRI BHRE
ERFE A NEB
BT EERIF 16
SRIERTAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &, £ 202243 A31H I F &

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

The Group also applied the agenda decision of the IFRS Interpretations
Committee (the “Committee”) of the International Accounting Standards
Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the costs an entity should
include as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs and agenda decision in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis for determining
the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark reform,
specific hedge accounting requirements and the related disclosure
requirements applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.

As at 1 April 2021, the Group has several financial liabilities with
interests indexed to benchmark rates that will or may be subject to
interest rate benchmark reform. The following table shows the total
amounts of these outstanding contracts. The amounts of financial
liabilities are shown at their carrying amounts.

EREETERMBRELEN(E
BBHEEA] (&)

RAFEBFERZEBITETBUHE
& EQ ()
AEETEEAERGHEEES
MEREBRELENREBEZEG(£E
& R2021466 ARMMEIDREEF
BEETFENTUERFEK  BEE
FHALE[EAT & AATA ] K
NS

BT XAl &SN - RARFERBIOL
BERERYMBREED  WEHARE
ERAFERBEFENTBMR KL
RR - RAZEEEUBRRAR
BREEHBRENEARE -

RAEBHBHEEREI BES
T ERIFE39%; ~ BIBRIBIREERET
W% BB BREERFEIRRE B
B EER 165 155T A FIREEY
E-FoERIBHNZE
FEBERAFEERRAZEE
o ZEEFTAN S R EEEE WK
SHEMNETHRIEWMIA - RESE]
FERAEONRELERE - KEH
BRRERERABRERTE  HEWE
E eRaErMEABza0ES
MHEEE BN E I -

R2021F4818  A5EEE T8
BEMNFESBEER RN  HiE
R T BB REERE - TK
FIRZERBEGHONEE /A
ERSEUERESRY -

Hong Kong United States

dollars (“HKD” dollars (“USD”)
Br(#ErTl) ESA(ESA);

Hong Kong London

Interbank Offered Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”) Rate (“LIBOR”)
BBRTRERE RPBERITRIZEF R
(EBRITRIZEFED (MABRITRIEFED
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Secured bank borrowings BERRTEER 1,474,607 40,326
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z£2022F3A31 8 It FE

2.  APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2” (Continued)

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements as none of the relevant contracts has been transitioned to
the relevant replacement rates during the year. The Group will apply the
practical expedient in relation to the changes in contractual cash flows
resulting from the interest rate benchmark reform for secured bank
borrowings measured at amortised cost.

As at 31 March 2022, for variable rate secured bank borrowings that
are linked to HIBOR and LIBOR, the Group had confirmed with the
relevant counterparties that HIBOR and LIBOR will continue to be
used up to maturity. The management anticipates that the interest rate
benchmark reform will have no material impact on the Group’s risk
exposure.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related

EREETEBMBREEN(E
BIIRE A ()

RAFERFERZEETE R
HEER ()
R E BRI EEREIN, - HEE
T ERIFE39%; ~ BB B EERET
9 BBRBIREERE4R R BB
B & ER 165 155T A FIFREEN
E-F BRI ZE (E)
HREEE R AFEREEIREE
BERAE  BZEETALEHE
EMBHRERTE - AEEERE
REHERAFTENRTEE 2 R
ERNEEFHANRSRNEPRAE
BREEX -

HZE202263A31H - HRNEBFBRT
R S BRTREF 2B
FENEFBRMBITEE  AKED
HAER Y FHABBRITRAENR
EMRBRTAZFREBEEERE
B BERERANKEERESE
HAEENRRELEATZE -

B A 1 5K e 2 34T R AT
AT A

7K g 8130 4 321 B P A R R 44
R AT RSB BN SRS
%) -

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments?
Reference to the Conceptual
Framework!
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use!

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract!

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 — 2020'

BRHBREEL REBADRIBRBET?
175
BEIE RS £ BT AREHSERY
Bt ElN
BRI BREEL BREERABENT
FIORRAEGR FALNAMNE
| 285 EFT A ELEHRAS
BREGIERER BREIBARER
BIIA FERBUREER
B 5% (2020%)
pal I HE
BRGIERER PR 2 BB
BRI ARE BTG
RERAEBEDNE
F05%
BREGIEREH AEE 2 EH?
B3]
BREGHENFE125 2 EHE-IZEANE
4 ENEEIEENE
&2

BEGERIF 165

BR G EAETR

BRMBRERERZ
&

EBIANE  BER
&fE - R BB
ZFRRE

BRI ABBRESAD -
BITANZRAK

BB RE %8
2018F E2020F 2
EEME
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &, £ 202243 A31H I F &

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)
u Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020)”

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify
that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at the
end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not
test compliance until a later date; and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence
of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings
with no change in conclusion.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020)” (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s right to defer settlement for certain
borrowings are subject to compliance with certain financial covenants
within 12 months from the reporting date. Such borrowings were
classified as non-current as the Group met such covenants at 31 March
2022. Pending clarification on the application of relevant requirements
of the amendments, the Group will further assess whether application
of the amendments will have an impact on the classification of these
borrowings. The impacts on application, if any, will be disclosed in the
Group’s future consolidated financial statements.

Except for as disclosed above, the application of the amendments
will not result in reclassification of the Group’s other liabilities as at 31
March 2022, including convertible instruments in which the conversion
options are classified as equity instruments.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties,
intangible assets and certain financial instruments which are
measured at fair values or revalued amounts, at the end of the
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories”
or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is
met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)
Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to investment properties
which are subsequently measured under fair value model and
financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not
give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of
an assets and a liability in the “Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements” (replaced by the
“Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting” issued in
October 2010).

REGREMBRREERTEST

BR (&)

32 ZFESHEREE
REBEEHHEEWIE (B
BEEWE

BEARKEBUSTBRERN—A
BEEMBER  AEBBEBKEE
BEERREENATEESES
AAFEERETRETENR
EYMENSREE SRHAME -
BEEFNHRBEREEANEY
NFED B E E A R E E N
BfE - WEXSTEELREN
AEWEE S -

EBAG

Ui TS A BB E ABR - TS
AP ZREERARFERT
B GHERKE R AR K EE
BEEZRNTE  FEEAER
BYHSABEAAZBBENARAE
B SR BB S Rz T T
ZIRARE R 2 N o WRELZ
MBI A — RN B HERR o

BRI LLRERER BRI - BB AT
FMEENMRENABNEFTE
[ B 7% 3R 3R AR AN 51 SR AE 28 | (3
2010 10 A B M B 75 4R & #E
SERMRR)FHEENEE
MER) °



SWWEESRAT 2022 F3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{Z=20224F3 A31H It F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured
in accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined
in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’'s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration
in an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the
Group’s performance completed to date, the Group recognises
revenue in the amount to which the Group has the right to
invoice.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
and
o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
and inventory are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties held for development for sale” respectively.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount

commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more additional
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the modified contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component. The
associated non-lease components are included in the respective
lease components.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as
lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
itemns, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HKD) using exchange rate prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxation entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those that
are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in property
revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the
asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly
to accumulated profits.

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value
to inventories, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent
accounting shall be its fair value at the date of change in use.
An entity shall transfer a property from investment property to
inventories when, and only when, there is a change in use, such
as commencement of development with a view to sale.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Properties held for development for sale

Properties held for development for sale which are intended
to be sold upon completion of development, are classified as
current assets. Except for the leasehold land element which
is measured at cost model in accordance with the accounting
policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for development
for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on a specific identification basis including
allocation of the related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the properties
less estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make
the sales. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Intangible assets
Crypto assets held by the Group are classified as intangible
assets in the scope of HKAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. Crypto
assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently carried at
a revalued amount.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of intangible
assets is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same
asset previously recognise in profit or loss, in which case the
increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount arising on
revaluation of intangible assets is recognised in profit or loss to
the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the investment
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that
asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset,
the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to accumulated
profits. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not
amortised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
applies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £20224 331 HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

M

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method, and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these
debt instruments are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of investment
revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised
in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to other
comprehensive income without reducing the carrying
amounts of these debt instruments. When these debt
instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &, £ 202243 A31H I F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. REGCSUBHRREERTEEL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BUR (1)
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESHBEGE)
Financial instruments (Continued) T T AE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any interest but
excludes any dividend earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “net gain/loss on changes in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL” line item.

Film right investment is the Group’s investment in a fim
production project which entitles the Group to share
certain percentage of income to be generated from the
related film based on the Group’s investment portion as
specified in respective film right investment agreement
but the Group has no control nor joint control over the
investment. Film right investment is classified as financial
asset at FVTPL.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model (including trade and other receivables,
loans receivable, debt instruments at FVTOCI, debt instrument
at amortised cost and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and lease receivables.

For all other assets, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment

under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
borrower or debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the borrower’s or
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the borrower or debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the borrower or debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the borrower’s or
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment

under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
(i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
the credit risk of the debt instrument mainly with reference
to external credit rating of “investment grade” as per

globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment

under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flow used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of loans receivable and debt instrument at amortised
cost where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account. For investments in
debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve
without reducing the carrying amount of these debt
instruments. Such amount represents the changes in the
investment revaluation reserve in relation to accumulated
loss allowance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised
in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified
to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity instruments in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, the liability
component of convertible notes and secured bank borrowings)
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Convertible notes containing liability and equity components

The component parts of the convertible notes issued by the
Company are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for
a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does
not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair
value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised
and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not
subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option
classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion
option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to share premium. Where the
conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of
the convertible notes, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to accumulated profits. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion
option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible notes
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over
the lives of the convertible notes using the effective interest
method.

RRGEUBRREERTES

R (%)

32 FESHEREE
o =G
R EE(E)

JHREREESBERERKRD
RESHZHFEZAEREREE
RBEARZEE - RARBEITAH
BEEOEKRES GENSER
EREBEMBA RATADR
BEESIREEMBRATER
BedEMmemEEZARAE
HEBEZBRATA -

RBTE - BERH 2 AFED
O B2 SRR T A2 BT
BRI (3t -

DR A BRRETIEERT
ABRBATENREEXNS 22
HMETE - L HRERREERN
BEA - HBMEHIEE &
BER TS EME - Wi DM
RfEm Bk BREEER
W EERBETIATE  Eit
BR - ERAZEEREREE
BERMEE - WETARSER
TAEIHR B B R R T - 2
BAZ EEREREEREE R
A o 7 HARs B BN
SRR AAEIENBETER -

BERBTABRBERBEZZSHKA
BRSHEERLIISREEAE
KAz - BREZR D 2R
HRAEENERT NG - B
BEKD ZXHRARAFIABE
By zREERRATBREREZ
HAPR DA R A FOR BB

131



132

EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED Annual Report 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z£2022F3A31 8 It FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Convertible notes containing liability and equity components
(Continued)

When the Group modifies the terms of convertible note, the
equity portion of the original convertible note is transferred to
accumulated profits in equity. When such modification results
in the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms including any fees paid net of any fees received is
at least 10% different from the discounted present values of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability, it is
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial
liability and a recognition of a new financial liability or equity
instrument or compound instrument with the difference, being
the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the
fair value of the financial liability, equity instrument, compound
instrument issued and/or hybrid instrument, recognised in profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporates
assets are allocated to relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount under another standard, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under the standard.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Retirement benefits costs
Payments to the state-sponsored pension scheme operated by
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) government or the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered services entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the management has reviewed the Group’s investment
properties portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore are not held under
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred taxation arising
from investment properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore, the
management determined that presumption that investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered through sale is not
rebutted.

For the Group’s investment properties located in the PRC, the
management concluded that they are being held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred taxation
arising from investment properties located in the PRC, management
determined that the presumption that investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered through sale is rebutted.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair values of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The Group has a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent they are available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages independent
firms of qualified professional property valuers to perform valuation of
the Group’s investment properties. At the end of the reporting period,
the management works closely with the independent firms of qualified
professional property valuers to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and key inputs for fair value measurements.
Where there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the
causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the directors of the
Company. Information about the valuation techniques and key inputs
used in determining the fair value of the Group’s investment properties
is disclosed in note 16. Whilst the Group considers valuations of the
Group’s investment properties are the best estimates, the ongoing
Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market volatility depending
on how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and evolve, which have
led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the
current year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties held for
development for sale

Management regularly reviews the recoverability of the Group’s
properties held for development for sale, which are situated in Hong
Kong and amounted to HK$3,020,650,000 at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$2,754,027,000), with reference to current market environment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may exceed its net realisable value.
Appropriate reversal of previously recognised write-down for estimated
irrecoverable amount is recognised in profit or loss when the net
realisable value increases. The estimates of net realisable value are
determined based on best available information and with reference to
valuations made, less the estimated costs to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales. Whilst the Group considers valuations
of the Group’s properties held for development for sale are the best
estimates, the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater
market volatility depending on how the Covid-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve, which have led to higher degree of uncertainties
in respect of the valuations in the current year. Actual realised amount
may differ from estimates, resulting in a decrease or an increase in the
net realisable value of the properties held for development for sale and
additional write-down or reversal of write-down previously recognised
may be required.
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REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregate of rental income and management
fee income from property investment and interest income from loan
financing during the year. An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as
follows:
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2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Rental income HeWA 38,738 45,276
Management fee income BEEBRA 18,007 16,033
Interest income from loan financing REERBEZFSWA 7,730 18,944
64,475 80,253

Rental income and interest income from loan financing fall outside the
scope of HKFRS 15 and the revenue from contracts with customers for
the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to HK$18,007,000 (2021:
HK$16,033,000).

Management fee income is recognised over time (i.e. the service
period). The Group receives monthly management service payments
from customers one month in advance under the contracts in the PRC.
The Group elected to apply the practical expedient by recognising
revenue in the amount to which the Group has right to issue the
invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

This is consistent with the revenue information disclosed for each
reportable segment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £20224 331 HIFFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DEEH
Information reported to the Group’s chief executive officer, being the RERIEERSERRIAEMS - 2
chief operating decision maker (“CODM?), for the purposes of resource WEAEB T ELEARARE(EEL
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types ERAREBEDERBTREBEZER &%
of goods delivered or services provided. This is also the basis of PFREMRXNSRBGRM 2B - It
organisation, whereby the management has chosen to organise the MBHRE s E%E  BEBEEZENER
Group around differences in products and services. BRAEEERRRGEZEZE -
The Group’s operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 RIEE BN HREERESRELD
“Operating Segments” are: (a) property investment, (b) property Bl AEBZEEREROPER (@)
development, (c) investment in securities and others and (d) loan MERE  OWEER - OBFRERE
financing. LEMEAOEREE -
Segment revenue and results DHEEEBERES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by RIEEREBOEINMAER 2 L
operating and reportable segment: BREENT -
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 2022F3H31HILFE
Investment
Property Property  in securities Loan
investment  development and others financing  Consolidated
EER
MERE MERR HEthiRE BXmE &a
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET TR TAR TAT FET
(note) (note)
(FffzE) (Fff=E)
Segment revenue SREEE
External SR 56,745 = = 7,730 64,475
Segment profit (l0ss) SEEF(BR) 96,568 73,347 (33,827) 14,296 150,384
Other gains Hiolas 38
Other expenses Hif% (231)
Finance costs BEARA (20,485)
Other income HigA 9,464
Unallocated corporate expenses ENRARIRY (15,673)
Profit before taxation KR A1 A 123,497
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. ZSDEEHE
Segment revenue and results (Continued) THEXBREE(E
For the year ended 31 March 2021 B 22021 F3H31HILFE
Investment
Property Property in securities Loan
investment  development and others financing  Consolidated
BFRK
MERE MEER Hitl & SHEE 58
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TET THET T
(note) (note)
(Fff3E) (Fif3E)
Segment revenue NEEEE
External IR 61,309 - - 18,944 80,253
Segment profit (10ss) SEEF(BE) 23,867 (72,694) 18,814 (35,799) (65,812)
Other losses Hig5E (893)
Other expenses Hibf% (1,051)
Finance costs BEKA (28,683)
Net loss on modification of FHATARERER  EBE
terms of convertible notes T (81,849)
Loss on early redemption of REBECTERERCER
convertible note (8,4006)
Other income HigA 6,614
Unallocated corporate ENRDARY
expenses (10,663)
Loss before taxation BHAIER (190,743)

Note: Rental income generated from properties held for development for sale was
included in the property investment segment.

Segment profit (loss) represents the result of each segment without
allocation of other gains and losses, net loss on modification of terms
of convertible notes, loss on early redemption of convertible note, other
expenses, finance costs, other income and unallocated corporate
expenses. There are asymmetrical allocations to operating segments
because the Group allocates all fair value changes of financial assets
at FVTPL to segment of investment in securities and others without
allocating the certain financial instruments to those segment assets.
This is the measure to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

M BARELEZRVEELEZESKAR
BREENERENEAN -

DEEMNBER)DED B2 EE - BF
REDEEME R EE - BA
BRI ER EEFE  REELQA
BEREZER - HMAx - BEK
A BB ARESEARFY © &
ENBEREENEEIE - HTRAARN
SESRMBERATEAABEZS
MEEZATEEPEES REMRKR
AR IARDEETEMTAEZ
ENREAE - NHFERAEEZE
BREERKE FRERVERRR
BREPA
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEERGE)

TREERERE
BREREBNBAOMAEEZEE

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by

operating and reportable segment:

RAamdEwmT

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHET

Segment assets PEEE
Property investment MERE 1,372,715 1,288,136
Property development YIEER 3,135,323 2,881,099
Investment in securities and others BEREMIEE 117,266 148,733
Loan financing EXmE 94,850 131,000
Total segment assets DEAERTE 4,720,154 4,448,968

Unallocated financial assets at FVTPL EH BRI A FETA

BHZEMEE 63,984 32,852
Right-of-use assets FREAE 3,770 5,884
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIA S 82,099 112,260
Others H it 9,801 13,373
Consolidated assets HREBE 4,879,808 4,613,337

Segment liabilities PEEE
Property investment YERE 36,573 53,421
Property development YIEER 30,984 32,171
Investment in securities and others BHELHMIEE 98 97
Loan financing BEXR@E 10,732 10,400
Total segment liabilities DB BREE 78,387 96,089
Secured bank borrowings BEIFRITEE 1,662,307 1,514,933
Convertible notes AR ER 66,911 58,164
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,830 5,921
Unallocated AT 53,186 56,937
Consolidated liabilities HEAR 1,864,621 1,732,044
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating
resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating and reportable segments
other than unallocated financial assets at FVTPL, right-of-use
assets, bank balances and cash and other assets.

° all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable segments
other than secured bank borrowings, liability portion of
convertible notes, lease liabilities and other liabilities.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2022
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment

TREEREREE
ROBRREER
EmE :

)
SO ER2ERD

BESRRAFEFABRZS
MEE ERBEEE - RITHEK
LBEREMEESN  REEE
EOEREERENEWOE -

BABMRTESR - TRRER
BfERs  HEAGBREMEE
S BRBE A EERENRZ
WM -

B Z20220F3831HIEFE
EEEEEITBERINEEEY

assets: B
Investment
Property Property in securities Loan
investment  development and others financing  Unallocated Total
FHR
NERE NERR HitRE EXRE 8L g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhr T TR TR FEr FEr
Capital additions AXRE 41,437 977 10,783 = 32 53,179
Depreciation of property, plant and nE  BERREZTE
equipment 9% 309 - - 692 1,097
Gain on changes in fair value of RENEIATEEE
investment properties Wig 63,054 = = = = 63,054
Write-back on properties held for BENERRNEL
development for sale, net BE - FH = 79,919 = = - 79,919
Gain on settlement of loans receivable by JA#1EZEENER 2
properties Wiz = = = 35,846 = 35,846
Loss on revaluation of intangible assets ~ EFAEZ EfEEE = = 723 = = 723
Impairment loss on loans recelvable, net  [EWE 2 FIEEE -
R - = = 21,461 = 21,461
Impairment loss on debt instruments at -~ AT EF AL 2E
FVTOC, net WEzEETIAZAE
BE FE = = 9,453 = = 9,453
Impairment loss on debt instrument at K& ER G E 2 B
amortised cost, net IAZREEE 3% = = 914 = = 914
Net loss on changes in fair value of BATEI AR
financial assets at FVTPL tREEZATEED
BEEE = = 17,736 = = 17,736
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

6. ZTEEHGE

Other segment information (Continued) HibpEER (E)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 B E2021F3H31HILFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment EREEFEIRERINEEEL
assets: S
Investment
Property Property  in securities Loan
investment  development and others financing  Unallocated Total
NERE NEER bR E ENRE EAR et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FhEL TFAL FEL TFAL TEL
Capital additions BRRE 4,881 = = = 287 5,168
Depreciation of property, plant and nE  BERREZNE
equipment 109 370 - - 925 1,404
Loss on changes in fair value of RENEZATEED
investment properties BB 18,530 = = = = 18,530
Write-down on properties held for BIENERRNEL
development for sale, net WE - FR - 63,065 - - - 63,065
Impairment loss on loans receivable, net ~ EWER 2 RIEEE -
T8 - - - 45,685 - 45,685
Impaiment loss on debt instruments at AT EF AL 2E
FVTOC! Wiz BETAZRE
BB - - 55 - - 55
Net gain on changes in fair value of BRATEABRZ
financial assets at FVTPL SREEZATEEY
W FE - - 18,744 - - 18,744
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. ZSDEEHE
Geographical information b 15 & B
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong (place of domicile), KEB 2 BEURESFIEH) - F
the PRC and Singapore. RN o
The Group’s revenue from external customers based on location of REBEREIREP 2 EXBIREE
its customers for segments and information about its non-current FPAHEMSYBERIEEE 2T
assets (excluding deferred tax assets and financial instruments) by DRZERBDEETRBEERIEEE
geographical location of the assets are detailed below: RemTR)ERNT :

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REMREFZ
B FEREBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET FHT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B8 (Frfe) 34,346 53,615 811,413 890,009
PRC =8 27,394 23,942 387,783 359,285
Singapore DI 2,735 2,696 183,680 150,467
64,475 80,253 1,382,876 1,399,761
Information about major customers FEEFZER
No revenue from customers contributed over 10% of the total revenue MEETEASBEUREBBREXRE
of the Group for both years. 10%A L2 RBE
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HfmA
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Bank and other interest income $RIT R E A FBUA 3,698 3,317
Dividend income from listed investments REEWREZBREWA 5,546 1,569
Government grants (Note) BT R B (B 3) - 1,277
Others HAh 220 451
9,464 6,614
Note: The Group recognised government grants of HK$1,277,000 in respect of MisE : BZE2021F3A31BLEFE - "EEH
Covid-19-related subsidies, which are related to Employment Support Scheme EBBUTB 20198 A SHIBH AR
provided by the Hong Kong Government for the year ended 31 March 2021 BMEZIEETEIAERAMALIERR T 1,277,000

(2022: nil). B IT(20224F « )BT HEB) ©
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EEREEZME
(@) Information regarding directors’ emoluments (a) EFBEEEMeZER
Details of emoluments to the directors of the Company for the HZE2022F3A31AEFEAR
year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows: AIEEMEEHINNT
Independent
Executive directors (Note a) non-executive directors (Note b)
AES(Wia) BUEHTEZ(HiTh)
Kwong
Jimmy Wu Koon Yin
LailawKau ~ CheungTim  LuiYukChu  KanKaHon  LauSinMing Welly Total
RER BRA 1% L] LR REE an

HK$000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TER Tin TiEn TER Tin TiEn TEn

Fess EEZOES = S S 155 155 155 465
Other emoluments Efhite
- Salaries and other bengfits -HEREMER 480 600 3457 - - - 4,537
~ Contrioutions to retrement - RIVEFIHEIER
benefits schemes 18 - 18 - - - 36
Totaldirectors' emoluments EE R 498 600 3475 155 155 15 5,038

Details of emoluments to the directors of the Company for the HZE2021F3A31HILEFEAR

year ended 31 March 2021 are as follows: RIESEMeHINT :
Independent
Executive directors (Note a) non-gxecutive directors (Note b)
#1TEZ () BUFRTES (M)
Kwong
Jimmy Wu Koon Yin
lailawKau ~ CheungTim  LuiYuk Chu KanKaHon  LauSinMing Welly Total
BER BRA ERS L] 8= REE 2%

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEn T TiEn Thn TEn FEn
(Note ¢) (Note d)

(ko) (Hitd)

Fees EELoE - - - 150 150 150 450
Other emoluments Afthe
- Salaries and other benefits - B RAMER 29 1320 2,849 = = = 4465
~ Contributions to retrement - RIVERSEIER
benefts schemes il - 18 - - - 29
Total directors’ emoluments R 307 12320 2,867 150 150 150 4,044
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8.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Information regarding directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

@)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above

were for their services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Lai Law Kau was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 20 August 2020 and the Chief Executive on 1 October
2020 and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the Chief Executive and an executive director.

Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim was also the Chief Executive of the
Company. Mr. Kwong was re-designated from the Chief Executive to
an executive director on 1 October 2020. His emoluments disclosed
above include those for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive
and an executive director.

Information regarding employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included one (2021:
two) director(s) whose emoluments was included above for
both years. The emoluments of the remaining four (2021: three)
highest paid individuals, not being directors, are as follows:

8.

EEREEZME (R
(@) FHESEMEERE
HisE -
@  ERERZHTEENSARES

(b)

FRARRRAEEERER L
PR -

ERERZBUFEATEEHSE
RESERARREFZRE -

FEZEBR AR 20205 8 A20H
ZERRRAZHTES - TR
2020F10 A1 AR AEFETT
Bias - HU L RBEZ#MeiE
BIERERTRAHERITES
FiR 4t 2 AR TS o

BRREETAARRZERFT
BAEH R 20205F10 A1 B AE - B
EEHBERITRERBERNT
BEf - EULBRBZHMEBER
ERERITRARRATESRR
R R -

ERESMeEN

rEBREEEMEATBE—
Z(2021F - MB)ES - HER
METEZ2HMEEREELX
A o HEAMA (20214 : =)
WIHES  S=e ALTHIIED

T

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHET
Salaries and other benefits e REMBR 8,788 7,082

Contributions to retirement benefits BIRBFIET B
schemes 72 54
8,860 7,136
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 8.
(Continued)

(b) Information regarding employees’ emoluments
(Continued)
Their emoluments were within the following bands:

ESRESZMHE (@)

(b) FREEMSERGE

HEZMEN F TR :

2022 2021

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

EEAH EEAH

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 725,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001/ 7CE5,500,000/8 7T 1 -
4 3

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the directors and the other four (2021: three) highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office. In addition, during both years,
no director waived or agree to waive any emoluments.

RREFE - REERE X
ETEEREMMA (20214 :
=R)ERsMez AL ERN
ASAE AR LR 2 52 Bk K
LRI 2 FHIE - 1o - REEH
B RAEENEXRBRELE

IEf & o

FINANCE COSTS 9. RERKK
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
Interest on bank borrowings IRITEEF S 30,227 33,453
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 107 95
Effective interest expense on convertible notes A IR E 15 ~ BEEF| S5 X 12,639 18,393
42,973 51,941

Less: Amount capitalised in the cost of W REEREEZ

qualifying assets KAER 2 & 58 (22,488) (23,258)

20,485 28,683
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10. TAXATION CHARGE (CREDIT) 10. WIERX (GTA)
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FET
The tax charge (credit) comprises: RIERAXGIA)BEE
Current tax: RITHIR -
Hong Kong % 1,082 (78)
PRC e 2,643 2,072
Other jurisdiction Efba)x 549 413
4,274 2,407
Under(over)provision in prior years: BAFERETE (B :
Hong Kong B = 1
PRC F 215 (194)
Other jurisdiction EfhRE 58 (63)
273 (256)
Deferred tax (note 29) IEIEFIE (M15E29) 2,503 (12,101)
7,050 (9,950)
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated MREEE 2 BEMNEHIIRE M
assessable profit for both years. FERTR A 2 16.5%TH o
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) BEPFEAREMBAMGEEMEH
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC E(RERBREDREEMRBEREZ
subsidiaries is 25% for both years. BERED  MEFERPBREZHEAR

Bl Z R 325% °

Taxation arising in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing HMrES| 2 BB IREE A2
in the relevant jurisdiction. WITHEAH -
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TAXATION CHARGE (CREDIT) (Continued) 10.

Taxation charge (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the results per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income as follows:

BRI X (FTA) ()

AEEHARAXGIA) B aBam Rk E
2R EREAZHRNAT

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHET
Profit (Ioss) before taxation W AT & F (E518) 123,497 (190,743)
Tax charge (credit) at the applicable rate of 2 iE A %16.5% (20214 -
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) 16.5%) 5T H 2 BEMAZ GEA) 20,377 (31,473)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax AR AZ BB E
purposes (23,078) (14,090)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax ~— NEMFLF X 2 B2
purposes 13,992 22,587
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTEEBBHIBEZE 5,263 4,628
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences 1 i LA BT 8 #E 72 & A #5540 5 85 1
previously not recognised =8 (13,187) -
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences  REERAI IR ERR =2 2
not recognised HErE 3,800 9,703
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously {8 KR IEEE 2
not recognised HEpE (3,524) (2,129)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries EENEMBENEZWBRFZ
operating in other jurisdictions BEzR ZE 3,142 1,250
Under(over)provision in prior years BAEFEREBTT (B 273 (256)
Others HAth ()] (170)
Taxation charge (credit) for the year REEBBHALZ(FIA) 7,050 (9,950)
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11. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 11. NEEEF (EB)
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT FHT

Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived at AEFERF (BB EMBRGEIA) ¢
after charging (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments (note 8(a)) EEME (M EE8(@) 5,038 4,944
Other staff costs, including retirement benefits E B T & H - B EEKEF

costs IB%:N 22,860 19,243
Total staff costs (including directors’ BIKABHEEEESEHS)

emoluments) 27,898 24,187
Auditors’ remuneration 2 Gl 3,311 3,010
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - [li/E Mi&E 2 ITE 1,097 1,404
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZIE 2,495 2,470
Gain on disposal of property, plant and MEYE - BB RERE W

equipment (382) -
Loss on write-off of property, plant and WM - BEREZBZEE

equipment 36 44
Net exchange (gain) loss P& 5 (Weas) B F 58 (38) 893

12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE

No dividends were paid or proposed for the years ended 31 March HZE2022F K2021F3A31HILEE
2022 and 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of BREZNHEZRE  BREHRE

the reporting period. RBEEBEMRS -
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EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 13. BREF (EiE)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share AARRRELECERERAREER
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data: FBE) HIBBEATERGHE -
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FHET
Profit (loss) EF (EE)
Profit (loss) for the purpose of basic earnings ~ BLEREAREF (EE) M = 2 & F)
(loss) per share (E518) 116,447 (180,793)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: B TTRRNTE
Interest on convertible notes AR IR 2 F B (R ET1S L)
(net of income tax) 12,639 -

Profit (loss) for the purpose of diluted earnings Bt E X EEEF (B518) M 5 2 & F)
(loss) per share (E518) 129,086 (180,793)

Number of shares

BHEE
000 000
=P +
Weighted average number of ordinary shares st &R EARZF (E518) M 5 2 hofE
for the purpose of basic earnings (loss) per FHEBERRGHEE
share 931,458 931,458
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEBETTBERATE
Convertible notes AIRRER 389,120 =
Weighted average number of ordinary shares st &R #EE 2 F (8518) M 5 2 hniE
for the purpose of diluted earnings (loss) per  FHERAALHEE
share 1,320,578 931,458
The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March TEHE202143A31B L FE SRS
2021 did not assume the exercise of the conversion of all convertible BEBIWRERBITELBEMEE
notes issued as their assumed exercise would result in a decrease in B2 RREBEAEBRRITEER

loss per share. LEREE -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% BERRE
Furniture,
Owned fixtures and Motor
properties equipment vehicles Total
Hf - HE
BEENE R RE Fokc)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FExT FBT FET
COST AR
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 5 1H 3,650 4,047 2,627 10,324
Exchange adjustments HE 54, 38 B - 28 60 88
Additions NE = 295 = 295
Write-off 88 - (107) - (107)
At 31 March 2021 7202143 A31H 3,650 4,263 2,687 10,600
Exchange adjustments Rk - 15 30 45
Additions NE = 36 977 1,013
Write-off i - (148) - (148)
Disposal L& - = (967) (967)
At 31 March 2022 R2022F3H31H 3,650 4,166 2,727 10,543
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2020 7202143 A31H 22 2,786 736 3,544
Exchange adjustments ERTIEEE - 19 53 72
Provided for the year NEERME 133 726 545 1,404
Write-off i - (63) - (63)
At 31 March 2021 R202143H31H 155 3,468 1,334 4,957
Exchange adjustments HE 54, 3 B - 11 28 39
Provided for the year REFRE 133 491 473 1,097
Write-off s - (112) - (112)
Disposal HE - - (418) (418)
At 31 March 2022 20223 A31H 288 3,858 1,417 5,563
CARRYING VALUES ERMEE
At 31 March 2022 R202293H31H 3,362 308 1,310 4,980
At 31 March 2021 R20214F3H31H 3,495 795 1,353 5,643

EREEYE  BERREHABER
ERBAT Z A BE R EHE -

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the following useful lives:

Owned properties Over the lease term BEMHE R 2 5
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3to 10 years B~ HERERE 3E10F
Motor vehicles 5 years E 5%
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EHEEE
Leased
properties
HAOYE
HK$°000
F#ExT
As at 31 March 2021 A2021%3H31H
Carrying amount BRmEE 5,884
As at 31 March 2022 7A2022%3A31H
Carrying amount IREE 3,770
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE2022FE3A31HIEEE
Depreciation charge e 2,495
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021F3A3MHLEE
Depreciation charge e 2,470
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Total cash outflow for leases AR SR LB 2,579 2,546
Additions to right-of-use assets (note) FREAEEMPEE) 381 7,341
Note: Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases entered MisE : SEREFIUNBEENREEREE
and lease modification. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group HEFAEAE - 8i=2021F3A31A 1t
renewed the lease agreement of an office by entering into new contract, which FE - AEREBRBENMEABERD
constituted a non-cash transaction and lease modification. During the year EROME - BRIFEEREERS - BOW
ended 31 March 2022, there is no lease modification while the Group has HHBEERELOBHRAR - BZE2022
entered a new lease of an office. FIABAILLFE EXKEETHE

RAAEHAE  WEBEEREL -

The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the FREEEREGEAIERFERMME
lease term. RERR P REE R ERERHRITE -

For both years, the Group leases offices for its operations. Lease MEFEHMB  ANEEHEEARAE
contracts are entered into for fixed terms of 2 to 3 years (2021: 2 ETRE - FETMBELNE FE T R
to 3 years) without extension and termination option. Lease terms B2E3F (20214 : 223%F) ' HRA
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms FERRFNAR E3E 2R - HARBRERE
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the RERETIHE - EREHELN BRI
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition A AATEUEEIRE - AKERAE
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is RKERITHETE S R B EHIET o

enforceable.
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16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various residential, commercial and industrial
units under operating leases with rentals payable monthly, quarterly
or semi-annually. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1
to 10 years (2021: 1 to 7 years), with unilateral rights to extend the
lease beyond initial period held by lessees only. Majority of the lease
contracts contain market review clauses in the event the lessee
exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

16.

REM=

AEBREBLEEMEHESEES
BMEMIXSEN MENEZASE
A SZFELFFFER - BHOBEF
REIE10F (20214 - 1E74) - WA
BEHEENBEQER=EHAME
AR B DI BLASN o I RAMEATT
EIEHEERE  ARZHBLHERY
BETSERER -

HRMEROONERERZ BN
BREEEFE  #AREAEREANR
BmAZIINERR - HOERAE2S
BE(E IR K/ SR A ATE TR 40 B m i
EREBRYENEEE -

Completed
investment
properties
ERBBRENE
HK$’000
FET

FAIR VALUE nE
At 1 April 2020 M2020F4H1H 1,262,573
Exchange adjustments R 36,158
Additions = 4,873
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss RBESERC AT ERD (18,530)
At 31 March 2021 M202143A31H 1,285,074
Exchange adjustments bE 5 A% 13,819
Additions NE 41,433
Disposal HE (19,517)
Reclassification to properties held for development for sale HF{EHERRE Y EEH DA (16,300)
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIBERER 2 A EL M 63,054
At 31 March 2022 M202243A31H 1,367,563

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March
2022 and 31 March 2021 has been arrived at on the basis of valuation
carried out on the respective dates by the following independent firms
of qualified professional property valuers not connected with the Group:

Location of

Name of valuer investment properties

Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited Hong Kong
Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited PRC
Edmund Tie & Company (SEA) Pte Ltd Singapore

REE 2 KEWMENR2022F3A31H K&
202143 A31 B 2 AFETHIRA T EA
EESEHMEZBYAEREENME
HEMTRZSABETHEZEE
B

REMEZ
HEMITER FrE it
BASHTEEHER B
BRAA
BRI E EFGER P
BRAR
Edmund Tie & N

Company (SEA) Pte
Ltd
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. REYHXE)
The unrealised gain relating to investment properties held at the end of RBEBRREENEREMERTAD
the reporting period of HK$61,837,000 (2021: loss of HK$18,530,000) RE IR Z61,837,00078 7T (2021 4F -
was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2022. [#51818,530,000/8 7T) R # £ 20224 3
AB1H IEFERERER -
All investment properties of the Group are under the Level 3 fair value REEMBREMERE=ZRATE
hierarchy. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the ERT - AFRALEEAREHE=
year. i o
The following table gives information about how the fair values of TRINRNAEEREMHE 2 N FE
the investment properties are determined (in particular, the valuation ZER(LHER  FIERAZEERER
techniques and key inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy WA URIBBREAZEBREEE
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels PHRAFESH(FE1REIR 2 ATFE
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value ATE o
measurements is observable.
Investment properties Fair value at Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant
held by the Group 31 March hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
TEEREZRENE NTFERIASIA NTESR HELERIEGA BRFABESA HRE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TATL
Commercial units in 136,900 133,700  Level3 Direct comparison method = Price per square foot, using The higher the price per
Hong Kong based on market market direct comparables square foot, the higher the
observable transactions of and taking into account of fair value
similar properties and character, location and
adjusted to reflect the other individual factors such
locations and conditions of  as road frontage, size of
the subject property property, etc., which is ranged
from HK$60,350 to
HK$310,924 (2021:
HK$60,350 to HK$251,601)
per square foot
REBBREN B ERNEE - RRRE BYRREE RAMHEE STAREERR ATE
NEIIBUEERSR  ARBNER UEENE A7
BRBARBEENEZ SR B DR E AR
fE KR REMEEER W%

ANE - §ERRNTE
60,350/ L 3109247 T
(2021% : 60,3508 LE
251,601 L)
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16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

16. REWVE(E)

Investment properties Fair value at Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant
held by the Group 31 March hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
REEEEZRENE ATFER3ASIA NTEZR BEFERIZHA ERTARRHA HRE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TR
Industrial units in Hong Kong 68,300 81,100  Level3 Direct comparison method = Price per square foot, using The higher the price per
based on market market direct comparables square foot, the higher the
observable transactions of and taking into account of fair value
similar properties and character, location and other
adjusted to reflect the individual factors such as size
locations and conditions of ~ of property etc., which is
the subject property ranged from HK$4,008 to
HK$4,852 (2021: HK$3,873
to HK$5,333) per square foot
REBIEEN 3 ERNEE - RRRE BYHREE RAMHEE STHREERR ATHE
NEZTHABRERSR  AHEHEH 2R )
SRZURMARNE,  WE LENAREMERN
frgRER REMEHES Nk
AN ERRNT
4,008 724,852 T
(20215 : 38738 E
5,333
Industrial-office units in 519,200 511,600  Level3 Income approach —term yield  Term yield, taking into account  The higher the term yield, the
Hong Kong of yield generated by market lower the fair value
average selling price and
the market average rental
from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the
conditions of the building,
whichis 2.7% (2021: 2.6%)
REBIEHAZEN B WNE - BB TR ZRANENE.  ERNEKERR -
maTEEERTHTH NFERE
BEEEZME R RB

BEWERZEE B
2.7% (20214 : 2.6%)
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties Fair value at

held by the Group 31 March

REBRRZRENE AFER3AS1A
2022

HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx T

e P BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &, £ 202243 A31H I F &

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HEREREEBA

16. REWEGE)

Significant
unobservable inputs Sensitivity

EATABERA gBE

= reversionary yield

- ERNE

~monthly term rental

Reversionary yield, takinginto ~ The higher the reversionary
account of yield generated yield, the lower the fair
by market average selling value
price and the market average
rental from comparable
properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with
the future rental, which is
2.7% (2021: 2.6%)

BBk ZRALEYE  ERNERR ATERE
s THEBRMETH
BezhaRRBARES
Rl RE - B2.T%

(2021 % : 2.6%)

Monthly term rental for each The higher the monthly term
unit is derived from the rental rate, the higher the
average of the rental as stated  fair value
in the existing rental
agreements, which is ranged
from HK$13.2 to HK$19.5
(2021: HK$11.5 to HK$19.5)
per square foot

BEENGATHESIRE SATHESAR ATE
RERDAIZ TS ]

B/ BEARN 6
1328 T E1958 T
(0215 : 11582
19.5%7)
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. REYHE(E)

Investment properties Fair value at Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant

held by the Group 31 March hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

REEEEZRENE ATFER3ASIA NTEZR BEFERIZHA ERTARRHA HRE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TR
- reversionary market unit rate  Reversionary market unitrate  The higher the reversionary
for each unit is compared with  market unit rate, the higher
direct market comparables the fair value
and taking into account of
character, location and
other individual factor, which
is HK$6,420 (2021:
HK$6,300) per square foot
-ERTISELER ZBU ERTRENER -  EBETRELERDR R
ETSEEALRNENE  TERS
R WEEMEEH
& REMENRE -
BEARR6420ET
(2021% : 6,300 )

Residential units in Hong Kong 31,800 49,100  Level3 Direct comparison method = Price per square foot, using The higher the price per
based on market market direct comparables square foot, the higher the
observable transactions of and taking into account of fair value
similar properties and character, location, age and
adjusted to reflect the other individual factors, which
locations and conditions of is ranged from HK$8,078 to
the subject property HK$18,222 (2021: HKS7,651

to HK$18,848) per square
foot

REBLEEN E EELRE - EREE BYHREE RAMHEE STHREERR ATE
NEZTHGIBESSR  ALBNER UEEME A5
SRELURMARNE,  WEONE - BRIREM
fugRER @RR%  §FARNT

80788218222 BT
(2021% : 7651ATLE
18,8487 7T)
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

16. REWEGE)

Investment properties Fair value at Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant

held by the Group 31 March hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

REBRAZRENF NTER3ASA DTESR RELERIEGA EATTERBAA HEE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TETL

Residential units in Singapore 183,680 150,467  Level3 Direct comparison method = Price per square foot, using The higher the price per
based on market market direct comparables square foot, the higher the
observable transactions of and taking into account of fair value
similar properties and character, location and
adjusted to reflect the other individual factors
locations and conditions of ~ such as road frontage,
the subject property size of property, etc., which

is ranged from HK$20,966
to HK$22,563 (2021:
HK$14,954 to HK$18,020)
per square foot

RETIRETEN 3 ERNEE - RRRE BYRRER RAMSEE STHREERR ATE
NEZTEIEERSR  UHEHER TZE i)
EREURMABRNE:  WEC RENREBER
fi & RER REMGEER WX

K& BEARNT
20,9667 L 222,563/ 7T
(20215 : 14, 954% TR
18,020%7T)

Industrial units in the PRC 387,683 359,107 Level3 Income capitalisation of net  Capitalisation rate, which is The higher the capitalisation
income with provisions for 8% (2021: 8%) per annum rate, the lower the
reversionary income fair value
potential

RABETEEN 3k RRAFEHE A ERILE  BERS% ERERR  ATERE
ERUETRBBZRA (202145 - 8%)

BN RER

Monthly rental rate, taking into
account of market
comparables, which is

Renminbi (‘RMBY)11.5 (2021

RMB11.9) per square metre
BARE  ZEMSTLER

R BTARAR

ARE1157T

(2021 - ARE11.970)

The higher the monthly
rental rate, the higher the
fair value

BANERS  ATEDR
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16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

16. REWVE(E)

Investment properties Fair value at Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant
held by the Group 31 March hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
REEEEZRENE ATFER3ASIA NTEZR BEFERIZHA ERTARRHA HRE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAn TR
Land with attached structure 40,000 - Level8 Direct comparison method = Price per square foot, using The higher the price per
in Hong Kong based on market market direct comparables square foot, the higher the
observable transactions of and taking into account of fair value
similar properties and character, location, age and
adjusted to reflect the other individual factors, which
locations and conditions of is ranged from HK$1,349 to
the subject property HK$1,600 per square foot
REBMBRELS B ERNEE - RRRE BYRREE RAMHEE STHREERR ATHE
NEZTHIBESSR  ALBNER UEEME A5
GREURMARNE,  WEUE - BRIREM
fu g RER @RR% - §FARNT
1,349 T 21,600 BT
1,367,563 1,285,074

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and

best use of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 March 2022, except for the industrial properties amounted
to HK$387,683,000 and the land with attached structure amounted
to HK$40,000,000 (2021: industrial properties amounted to
HK$359,107,000), all of the Group’s investment properties have been
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

REEREMWE L ATER  WEZ
REMLRRABEEMBIDERR ZERH

e

R202243A31H

CHREESR

387,683,000 L2 TEME K
40,000,000/ 7T 2 M /&8 3 52 4 #h (2021
F o TEYEMEEARS359,107,000%
TL)  ARERAREMEE KRR
FETAEENGEEARTHE -
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LOANS RECEIVABLE 17. ERER
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FiET FHET
Fixed-rate loans receivable TE B BB E R 141,620 191,637
Less: Impairment allowance W OREREE (47,239) (61,458)
94,381 130,179
Analysed as: DT -
Current assets MENAE 55,040 127,109
Non-current assets EMENEE 39,341 3,070
94,381 130,179
Secured VEgiiw i 65,463 71,385
Unsecured IR 28,918 58,794
94,381 130,179
No aged analysis is disclosed, as in the opinion of the directors of the AAXRNREERA  REXABMEED

Company, the aged analysis does not give additional value in view of
the nature of business of loan financing.

At 31 March 2022, the range of interest rate on the Group’s loans
receivable is 4% to 8% (2021: 4% to 8%) per annum.

Impairment assessment
Before granting loans to outsiders, the Group assesses the potential
borrower’s credit quality and defines credit limits granted to each
borrower. The credit limits attributed to the borrowers are reviewed by
the management regularly.

The management closely monitors the credit quality of loans
receivable amounting to HK$94,381,000 at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$130,179,000). At 31 March 2022, allowance for loans receivable
amounted to HK$47,239,000 (2021: HK$61,458,000). Except for those
credit-impaired loans receivable, there are no loans receivable which
are past due at the end of the reporting period.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 35.

MEME  RE&EDTAIREHIE
B MRERE DT -

MR2022F3A31H ' AEBEZEWERK
BERENTA4%ZE8%(2021F 1 4%
8%) °

BB R Al

ERHERTINEER - AEEFE
BEBFRAZGEEARREBERTE
UERAZEER - EEEEHRN
BERAZIEER -

EREBRTENN2022F3A31H
& 594,381,000 0 (20214
130,179,000 T) c B E R E
Bk R2022F3A31H + EHKE
B B 47,239,000 7T (2021 4F -
61,458,000/ 7T) ° Br ATEE BRI E®
EREZRI  RREHRSESI
FEUE K ©

BB AT At 5 B B PRESS
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17.

LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

17. EWER(E)

Impairment assessment (Continued) RAE R (])
The movement of impairment allowance for loans receivable is as BWERREREEBIT -
follows:
Lifetime
ECL -
12mECL  credit-impaired Total
128 B B 5 REREBESR
FEFE FBR-GERE fm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TR
At 1 April 2020 202054811 15,773 - 15,773
Changes due to loans receivable recognised as at -~ 720204 A 18 AR
1 April 2020 ERRENERMEE
~ Transfer to credit-impaired -BREEENE (6,809) 6,809 =
- Repayments (Note (i) - BN (7,284) = (7,284)
- Net remeasurement of ECL (Note (i) -EREEEBZENTETE
(P& i) 540 52,249 52,789
New loans granted (Note (i) B ER RV 180 = 180
At 31 March 2021 R202153A31H 2,400 59,058 61,458
Changes due to loans receivable recognised as at -~ #202143A31H AR
31 March 2021 ERAEKERNED
- Settled by properties (Note (ii) - LA (8 (P 35 (i) - (35,680) (35,680)
- Net remeasurement of ECL (Note (i) -BHEEEE EFIEFE
(B2 i) (185) 21,552 21,367
New loans granted (Note (iv) R OIER (W) 94 = 94
At 31 March 2022 202237318 2,309 44,930 47,239
Notes: BisE

)

The reversal of impairment loss of HK$7,284,000 was related to loans
receivable with gross carrying amount of HK$160,886,000 repaid during the
year ended 31 March 2021.

The unsecured loans receivable with aggregated gross carrying amount of
HK$38,750,000 have been further impaired during the year by HK$8,649,000.
Subsequently, the loans receivable and the relevant interest receivable
of HK$1,084,000 have been settled by properties with fair value of
HK$40,000,000, which constituted a non-cash transaction and resulted in a
gain on settlement of loans receivable by properties of HK$35,846,000 during
the year, resulting in a reversal of impairment loss of HK$35,680,000.

The net impairment loss of HK$21,367,000 (2021: HK$52,789,000) was
related to loans receivable with gross carrying amount of HK$159,370,000,
including the loans receivable of HK$38,750,000 mentioned in note (i) (2021:
HK$186,637,000). Details of the credit-impaired loans receivable are set out in
note 35(b).

The impairment loss of HK$94,000 (2021: HK$180,000) was related to loans
receivable with gross carrying amount of HK$5,000,000 (2021: HK$5,000,000)
which are newly granted during the year.

(i)

(v)

HE2021F3A31 B LFE -
SR E 18 % B 7,284,000 7T (& B IR E
4% 5160,886,000/8 TH R E A
7K

IEE A 538,750,000/ JT HI K
0 UCE FRA F N3 — 25 R1E 8,649,000
PETT o Hik - FEUCE TR R AR E IR B
1,084,0007% 7T & A A F{E{&40,000,000
BITHMEEE  BRERERSH I
RENEEUAYEBERERERZK
#535,846,000/5 7T G BURE B E A
35,680,000/ 7T °

BB E 5 821,367,000 7T (2021
4 52,789,000 7T) BT A A
159,370,000 THEKEREH - &
FE B 5 (i) P i #0 7 U & 3% 38,750,000
77T (20214 : 186,637,000/ 7T) ° B
EREEREERERFBRNAE
35(p) ©

JRE E51594,000/%8 7T (20214 © 180,000
BT)EFAMBENEEAER
5,000,000/ 7T (20214 : 5,000,000
TR ERERER -
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. |BEEE
Crypto assets
mE&E
HK$°000
FHExT

COST OR REVALUED AMOUNT RARELEEE

At 1 April 2021 R2021F4/81H -
Additions NE 10,733
Loss on revaluation EHEE (723)
Disposal & (3,447)
At 31 March 2022 R202243A31H 6,563

The Group’s crypto assets are carried at a revalued amount of
HK$6,563,000 being the fair value of the crypto assets determined by
reference to their market price at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s crypto assets were revalued on 31 March 2022 with a
loss on revaluation of HK$723,000 recognised in profit or loss. The
value was arrived based on the quoted price provided by the broker
under Level 2 fair value hierarchy.

If the crypto assets of the Group had not been revalued, they would
have been included in these consolidated financial statements
at historical cost and their carrying amounts would have been
HK$7,397,000 as at 31 March 2022.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year ended 31
March 2022.

REE 2 % EEREH6,563,000
T RERKLELIEK INEER
ENRERARZRETEEEZAF
18 o

REBZ NEZEEN20223A31HE
i - EfEE1E723,0008 TTat AR -
ZEBEEBRELLEAEER R TEE
ERTIREMIMBSHD

EAREBZMEEERESEH K
HIEE LKA ARG A YR
o HMN2022F3A31 HWREER
7,397,000/ 7T °

BIZE202243AB1HMFEAR - REHE
AR HEIRHER
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19. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 19. RAFEFAHMEZAENSE 2E%
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME TEH
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Listed investments, at fair value: EHEE - BATE
Debt securities listed in Hong Kong or RBEBHEIN L2 BB
overseas with fixed interests ranging from FBE - BEFMENTH
6.920% to 9.500% (2021: 4.600% 6.920% Z9.500% (20214 :
to 9.500%) per annum and maturity dates 4.600%%9.500%) * Z|H3H
ranging from 11 April 2022 to 28 July F2022F 4 511 H 20224
2022 (2021: 23 March 2022 to 16 7H28H (2021 £ : 20224
December 2022) 3A23HE2022F12H16H) 2,408 36,113
Analysed as: RV
Current assets mEVEE 2,408 6,261
Non-current assets EMENEE = 29,852
2,408 36,113

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, debt instruments at FVTOCI are
stated at fair values which were determined based on the quoted
market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange or an overseas
recognised stock exchange.

Debt instruments at FVTOCI are listed bonds with the credit loss
allowance measured on 12m ECL basis when the credit risk on financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition. For
those credit-impaired bonds, credit loss allowance is measured using
lifetime ECL. The Group assesses the ECL for debt instruments at
FVTOCI by reference to credit rating of the bond investment by rating
agencies, macroeconomic factors affecting the respective industry for
each issuer, corporate historical default and loss rate and exposure of
default of each bond investment.

Credit loss allowance of HK$9,453,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$55,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 35.
All debt instruments at FVTOCI are denominated in USD, a currency

other than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities, at the
end of the reporting period.

20225 K2021F3A31H * BT
Bt AR EEKRR 2 BB TAER
FAE S BR T 4B 15 Bk 22 T 208 51 3R T 2B
FR M TR EETE -

BAFEFAEMEERSE ZEBT
AR12EAFEHEEBRELEANE
FEEEREZ LTES - REYH
BRARERMTAZEERRIER
ZHEM - HNEERENES 8
BEEREBEINARERNNEREERS
BERE - REBESZF AR BLE
FREZEEFR FERBETAS
BTXZERBEERE  CE¥ELE
HERBARAREEFRERZHE
% AHERAFEF AL EE RS
ZEHTAZAREREER -

9,453,000 T2 EEBBEENE
F202243A31HILFEEBHANER
(20214 : 55,000 7T) °

AERHE BRI 35
RIEHR - FERAFEFAEM

ZHEbBH2EBTAENEREEER
MR EB UM BB TEHE ©
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DEBT INSTRUMENT AT AMORTISED COST 20. REEKLFTELEBIA
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FiBT T

Unlisted debt instrument: FEEMEBHLTA :

Fixed-rate unsecured promissory note & 7E | = SE AR A R IR 23,340 =
Less: Impairment allowance B R E R (914) =
22,426 -

In May 2021, the Group and Lion Best Global Limited (the “issuer”),
an independent third party incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
entered into a promissory note agreement with principal amount of
USD3,000,000 which carries interest at 8% per annum and will be fully
repayable on the maturity date of 25 September 2025.

The promissory note is measured at amortised cost since the
Group’s business model is to hold the debt instrument for collection
of contractual cash flows, and the cash flows represented solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
The issuer is operating in hotel business industry. The Group assesses
the ECL with reference to the internal credit rating of the issuer
assigned by the Group.

Credit loss allowance of HK$914,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 35.

20214578 » N&EEELion Best
Global Limited ([31T A (—HER KB
HRRBESEMALNBIE=H)T
AR ZE R - AN$ % A3,000,000
EIT - EF R A8%I K E2025%9 A
5B E|HA 2 FEEE -

HRAEERBERFEBTAZER
BABREBMAHNRSREMIFTHE -
HANRRERBHEAAE  ARE
MEERRASBELAREERTNE
ZR e BT ANEEBEEY - K&
E2EZHTAZABEREFRFGE
HEEESE -

HZE2022F3A31H I FEC R ERME
RIZBEE BT A914,0008 7T °

AERHE F BRI TS5
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21.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

The Group’s properties held for development for sale are situated in
Hong Kong.

At 31 March 2022, HK$913,000,000 (2021: HK$800,000,000) of
properties held for development for sale are expected to be completed
within twelve months after the end of the reporting period, while the
rest are expected to be completed more than twelve months after the
end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group performed assessment of net
realisable value on its properties held for development for sale with
reference to valuations made by independent qualified professional
property valuers not connected with the Group. The valuations were
arriving at by using the residual method. At 31 March 2022, there was
an increase in the estimated net realisable value of the properties held
for development for sale which were written down in prior years, a net
write-back of HK$79,919,000 was recognised in profit or loss (2021:
write-down of HK$63,065,000) due to the recovery of property market
from Covid-19 pandemic during the year ended 31 March 2022.

21.

FEHERRME

AEEZHEFHERRMEDURE
e

7202243 A31H » 913,000,000/ 7T
(20214F : 800,000,000/ 7T) Z #1EH
ERRMEBHRBEHEI2MAR
TR BRERITEEIR RS AR ZRA
+=@AZEX °

R20224F 202143 A31H » A&EH
ERFIELEEEMELETAIZERTF
BFEN2ERAEEREREZE
VABRBEMELBEMIGEE %
EHEDREBESHEESE - AREZE
202294 3A31H ' FEHEMHH2019
ERESEREBMER  RNBEFE
BERFIELEERMENG AT
R E N - RN202246E3/831H1E%
A T ROR B 1 B )F 88 79,919,000 7T
(20214F : JE{E63,065,0007% 7T) °

Analysis of leasehold lands component HETHH D oW

HK$°000

FHET

As at 31 March 2021 R2021F3H31H
Carrying amount BREE 2,754,027
As at 31 March 2022 720225 3831H
Carrying amount RREE 2,934,702
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3A31HLEFE
Operating cash outflows KRS RN (100,756)
Investing cash outflows KER SR -
Total cash outflows REmL B (100,756)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ2021F3A31HLEFE
Operating cash outflows LER SR (160,383)
Investing cash outflows ERS R (192,251)
Total cash outflows Bemties (352,634)
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE 21. BELERRWEGE)
(Continued)
Analysis of leasehold lands component (Continued) HEL S 24 (@)
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FT
Additions Bl 100,756 375,892
Write-back (write-down) & CR(E) 79,919 (63,065)

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual
values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold
land component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold
lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31 March
2022 and 2021.

All properties held for development for sale have been pledged to

ME T HHOEmEUKAREEM[R
STTEMTARERRKRE - FIHRE
BERETAHEL TN MGETHER
& - ZEF|20224F 202143 831H
RIEETRISRE - AEHAE LRI
EE&H -

RAEBEMEFE ZHIEHERRDE

secure banking facilities granted to the Group in both years.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

BB RERRAERRITEE -

22, BHRHEMEWFIE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FiET

Trade receivables from contracts with REEHNEPZE S EWHIR
customers 507 302
Lease receivables R S IE 1,440 2,319
Prepayments TER IR 675 2,585
Interest receivable PR B 183 767
Refundable stamp duty (note) FERENFERT (B 3E) 103,160 103,160
Deposit paid for acquisition of property WHEMHEZ BHERE = 10,000
Other receivables and deposit E RN RIERIES 12,074 12,189
118,039 131,322

Analysed as: PDITR

Current assets MENEE 118,039 28,162
Non-current assets EMENEE = 103,160
118,039 131,322

Note: In accordance with the provisions of the Hong Kong Stamp Duty Ordinance,
the Group will apply for refund of the stamp duty paid when the property
redevelopment project commences. At 31 March 2022, the amount is included
in the Group’s current assets (2021: non-current assets) in the consolidated
statement of financial position as it is expected that the refund of stamp duty
will be received within twelve months (2021: after twelve months) from the end
of the reporting period.

MisE - RIBBEBNEBEO 2GR EMES
EEARRE  AEBEHFREE XM
ENFERE - M202293A31H + BRATERT
MRS B E 1218 AW (20214 - 12{@ A
B)SWRENERBRR - MZeBBE
EASBGRAVBRARZ TBHEE
(20214 : JERMBEE)A °
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22.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group did not grant any credit period to its tenants in property
investment segment. The aged analysis of trade receivables and lease
receivables, based on the invoice date, at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

22.

B 5 R EMEWFRIERGE)

NEBWLIBHETRMERES B
FAFRIES - RIEXZAH - E5E
WRBE R ERAEFRBENRESRR
BREC AT -

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$000

TiERT THAT

0~ 60 days 0-60H 1,672 2,300
6190 days 61-90H - 186
91 - 120 days 91 - 120H 275 135
1,947 2,621

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 35.

No credit loss allowance has been recognised on the trade and other
receivables as the directors of the Company consider that the amount
is immaterial.

B 5 N H AR IR 2 R B RT i RS
BHIEES5 -

HRARBDEEFRRZREAMTR
B WERES REMBKKERE
EEERE -
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 23. BRAFEFAEBRZEREE
OR LOSS
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT F&T
Listed investments, at fair value: EWiRE  RATE -
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong and - REBRER ETRAES
United States (note (a)) (FF % (a)) 52,818 84,616
~ Perpetual bonds (note (b)) -k AEH (H5E(0) - 4,048
Unlisted investments, at fair value: RETRE - BATE:
~ Principal protected deposits (note (c)) - RAGE R (M) 27,171 21,341
- Investment funds (note (d)) - BB ES (M) 7,339 11,511
- Bullion-linked note (note (&) - EeHBERE(EeE) - 3,921
~ Equity-linked notes (note (f)) - REE IR (M () 5,020 7,059
- Investment in limited partnership (note (g)  — BIRABHRE (M:E(g) 27,087 12,089
- Life insurance policies (note (h)) - NERBRE (M N) 13,718 -
= Film right investment (note (i)) - BRI E (M) 15,756 -
148,909 144,585
Analysed as: DR
Current assets mBEE 105,635 128,448
Non-current assets FERBEE 43,274 16,137
148,909 144,585

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

AEEZAVEFABRSNEREE
NHEEEEERNGEERENINEE

SHERZIOT

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000

FiET FHET

Usb E 43,357 34,760
RMB AR 15,756 =
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23.

Notes:

@

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT BRATEFABZZEREE (B
OR LOSS (Continued)
Bt
The fair values of the listed equity securities are determined based on the (@) EHRAFES R EEREE K
quoted market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange or an overseas 8 HNRA] B X 5 P ) T 5 IR (B B
recognised stock exchange. E e
The fair values of the perpetual bonds as at 31 March 2021, which amounted (o) XAEHMR2021FE3A31B 2R FE
to HK$4,048,000, are determined based on the quoted market closing prices 4,048,000/ T AR KB IMNER K FH L
available on an overseas recognised stock exchange, with fixed interests of SRk TS WTHERETE - BEFF
6.250% per annum. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the perpetual & 56.250% ° B E2022F3A31H IEF
bonds were fully redeemed. & kABHFEEHEE -
The perpetual bonds are recognised as follows: XAEHHERMOT
HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2020 M20206F4 B 1A 21,951
Additions 30 1,366
Settlement on redemption RERRNER (21,213)
Interest received B UFLE (1,445)
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss A ERRNIBSTER 3,368
Exchange adjustments FE 5, A% 21
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31H 4,048
Settlement on redemption RIECIRFEE (3,971)
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss AR ERRNIESTER 31
Exchange adjustments X A% (108)
At 31 March 2022 M2022F3A31H -
The principal protected deposits are denominated in RMB and issued by banks © RATFRAAREESIE I B R BIE) R

in the PRC. They contain embedded derivative, the interest rate of which is
determined with reference to the exchange rate of USD against HKD and
ranges from 1.00% to 3.00% (2021: 1.00% to 3.00%) per annum with original
maturity of three months.

T817 - EBERNEITHEEA F BXZ
BEDNSBEETAABTZABEREF
R F1.00%%3.00% (20214 : 1.00%
%3.00%) R =18 A ZIH -
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 23. EAVFEFTAEBRZEREE(EB)
OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) B sE : (4%)

G) The investment funds are denominated in RMB and issued by an unlisted entity (d) REESUARBIELHRREF]E
in the PRC. The fair values of the investment funds as at 31 March 2022, which TIEBET  c REESN202243A4
amounted to HK$7,339,000 (2021: HK$11,511,000), are measured using the 31H 2 AF{&E7,339,000/% 7T (20214 -
discounted cash flow method. The expected interest rates are 6% (2021: 9.5%) 11,511,000/ 70) BRI IR &R 2 /AR A
per annum. As at 31 March 2022, the investment funds will become matured FEE 2 o FHEFH K R6%(20214F -
after one year (2021: less than one year) from the end of reporting period. 9.5%) ° 20226 3A31H ' REHESD

AW EBMARE—FEEE(2021F : &
B—F) -
The investment funds are recognised as follows: BREESHRWT -
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 818 10,964
Interest received B FLE (533)
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss DR ERRRIESER 640
Settlement on redemption REBOREE (11,851)
Additions 30 11,401
Exchange adjustments [E 5 A% 890
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31H 11,511
Interest received B FLE (919)
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss AT EEBERIBSER (2,680)
Settlement on redemption RERRNEE (967)
Exchange adjustments ERIEEE 394
At 31 March 2022 202293 H31H 7,339
© The fair values of the bullion-linked notes as at 31 March 2021, which amounted ©) HSHBERN2021F3A31ANAF
to HK$3,921,000, were determined based on the market closing prices quoted {8/53,921,000% 7T + JHIRIRRITATIRIR
by a bank. The bullion-linked notes were interest bearing at fixed rate ranging MEEE - HESHBERIZETFF
from 4.20% to 10.40% per annum with maturity of one month as at 31 March R T 4.20%F10.40%:1 8 - 202145
2021. 3A3TEZHRAIMEA -
The bullion-linked notes are recognised as follows: HESHBERERNT ¢
HK$’000
FET
Additions N 11,815
Settlement on maturity S HARF A5 (7,995)
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss AT EWREN RS ER 50
Exchange adjustments T 58 51
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3831H 3,921
Settlement on maturity BIHR A E (4,106)
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss AT ERZRIBRER 177
Exchange adjustments Rk 8

At 31 March 2022 7202243 A31H -
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 23. EBEAVEFABRZEREE(B)
OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) FfiaE - (88)
® The fair values of the equity-linked notes as at 31 March 2022, which amounted 0} BEHHZEN2022F3A31 A A F
to HK$5,020,000 (2021: HK$7,059,000), are determined based on the market B /45,020,0007% 70 (20214 : 7,059,000
closing prices quoted by a bank. The equity-linked notes have maturity of three ETT) - THBIRSRITAT IR T (BERE - R
months. SEHMEENIBMBEA=MEA -
The equity-linked notes are recognised as follows: AR =AM AR RN T ¢
HK$’000
FET
Additions 0 7,579
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss AR EBEINBSER (591)
Exchange adjustments [ H 71
At 31 March 2021 H20219F3A31H 7,059
Additions 30 5,000
Transferred to equity securities [EYNI&NCE (6,783)
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss AFEEBIANIBEER (121)
Exchange adjustments M 5 R (135)
At 31 March 2022 R2022F3A31H 5,020
@] The amount at 31 March 2022 represented HK$27,087,000 (2021: (@) M202243A318 - ARAZ([ARE
HK$12,089,000) for interest in a limited partnership (the “Limited Partnership”) %)% %8 427,087,00058 7T (20214 :
as a limited partner. 12,089,000/ L) ERBRE ¥ AR
The interest in the Limited Partnership is recognised as follows: HERABHRERRNAT -
HK$’000
FE&x
Reclassification from trade and other receivables HEZREMEKRRETHE 13,204
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss NHEBRINEZEER (1,078)
Exchange adjustments [ X A (37)
At 31 March 2021 7202143 A31H 12,089
Additions 30 6,145
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss DA RS R 8,770
Exchange adjustments ME 5 R E 83

At 31 March 2022 7202243 831H 27,087
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

)]

In May 2021, Goldchamp International Limited (“Goldchamp”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into life insurance policies with an
insurance company to insure Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, a director of the Company, and
Mr. Koon Wing Yee, general manager of the Company. Under the policies,
Goldchamp is the beneficiary and policy holder and the total insured sum is
USD2,000,000 (equivalent to HK$15,480,000). Goldchamp is required to pay
an upfront deposit of USD2,000,000 (equivalent to HK$15,480,000) including
a premium charge at inception of the policies amounting to USD400,000
(equivalent to HK$3,096,000). Goldchamp can terminate the policies at any
time and receive cash back based on the cash value of the policies at the date
of withdrawal, which is determined by the upfront payment of USD2,000,000
plus accumulated interest earned and minus the accumulated insurance charge
and policy expense charge.

In December 2021, the Company entered into life insurance policies with an
insurance company to insure Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, a director of the Company.
Under the policies, the Company is the beneficiary and policy holder and the
total insured sum is USD120,000 (equivalent to HK$933,000). The Company is
required to pay an upfront deposit of USD120,000 (equivalent to HK$933,000).
The Company can terminate the policies at any time and receive cash back
based on the cash value of the policies at the date of withdrawal, which is
determined by the upfront payment of USD120,000 plus accumulated interest
earned and minus the accumulated insurance charge and policy expense
charge.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into an agreement
with a film production house for a total investment cost of RMB13,600,000
(equivalent to HK$16,585,000), pursuant to which RMB12,920,000 (equivalent
to HK$15,756,000) has been paid as at 31 March 2022. The film right
investment represented the 20% interest of film production which entitled
the Group to predetermined percentage of income to be generated from the
film based on the Group’s investment portion as specified in respective film
right investment agreement. The fair value of the film right investment which
amounted to HK$15,756,000 is measured using the discounted cash flow
method. As the film is expected to be broadcasted in the fourth quarter of
2022, the film right investment is classified as a current asset.

BAVEIARSEZERMEEER

MisE : ()

()

R2021658 + ARRZHBARESE
BEEERA (M E]) R —RREB AR
A ABREUBRAARNESEEHK
ZETRADABEEEKELE - R
BZRE HEASTARRERSS
AR #8127 58 52,000,000 7T (FH 5 R
15,480,000/ 7T) ° & A X NIE[TIZ
$2,000,0003% 7t (#8574 15,480,0007
TT)  BRERRBIREREINZRE
400,000 7T (#8574 3,096,000/ 75) °
2 ] A ] B R AR LE AR B8 R AR IR IR
REZREZBLEBKRERS - 1)
1R #5814 3£2,000,000% 7T & BT EN 2 2
RS RMARARERREEMARX
mEEE -

20216128+ AQFE—HREBRA
AIFI M ABREUBRRARRNEETEE
Wit o MEBEZRE - KRR AZHEA
RRERFE ARMBIZIRTEH120,000%
7T (FAZ 933,000/ 7T) - KA RIAXN
T8 44% 4 120,000 JT (85 7 933,000
BIT) o AN A A REATBF AR IEFZIRE
RRERREZRE 2B EBERER
% - BT RRTE A 30120,000% T K AT
BRE Z 25 S RINR BFHRE RIRE
ERMAYMERE

HZE202243A31ALEE - A&H
H—EERREARRI L — D iH®E - 2
A E B AR13,600,0007T (FHER
16,585,000/ 7T) * K 1it © B 202243
A318A X AR 12,920,0007T (HBER
15,756,000/ 7T) © BEREREHER
BEEE20%M R - FAEEEEZ
HNMARE R E P TR
ALfl - BRASIEEBELHELER
AMETFEOL - EXREREZATF
B515,756,000/ 7T + JHIRARRR S
MEBEEME - AR EBEEESHN
2022F FENEE LI - MEBEHXRERE
DERTREEE °
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24,

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances and cash held by the Group comprise short-term
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, at
prevailing market interest rates ranging from 0.001% to 0.62% (2021:
0.001% to 2.33%) per annum.

The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

24,

RITERRRE

AEERBZRITEBRRREBER
WRITMISFEMENF0.001%%£0.62%
(20214 : 0.001%%£2.33%) 2 =8 A
2 AR HA 2 R ERERI T 5K ©

AREBEBEE TR EE A
ZEBTENRITEG LRSI 0
T~

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

usb EPM 5,324 2,101
RVMB AR 35 35
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. BERHMENFIER
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Trade payables (note (a)): Z 5 R 38 (i eE@) :
0 — 30 days 0-30H 12,758 6,455
31 -60 days 31-60H 124 -
Over 90 days BB H = 105
12,882 6,560
Retention payable (note (b)) FERRIES (M D) 13,178 9,163
Rental deposits received and rental received in 2 Wi £ %4 M FEWHE S
advance 15,161 28,482
Guarantee money received (note (c)) BURE S (M 5E(c) 10,000 10,000
Accruals TEIREA 22,018 33,008
Other taxes payable HAb R HIE 6,194 5,898
Deposit received from Easyknit International R &k &R 2 2 WiE S
(note (d)) (B 3% (d)) = 10,000
Other payables H Ath FE T3R8 4,005 5,934
83,438 109,045
Notes: Bt E
(@) The aged analysis of trade payables is determined based on the invoice date, (a) B RN RIBERREARZERDITT
at the end of the reporting period. The average credit period on purchases of REBREZAHETE - BEZ FHRES
goods is 30 days. A308 -
(b) Retention payable is withheld from subcontractors and will be released by the (o) BRAREERT FEREFREAEB R
Group within twelve months upon completion of their works. IREER+_ERRIN -
© The amount represents money received from a borrower of the loan financing () ZEBERERREERMEE 2 &
business as security for loans granted. RARBLEBERIEAERZBHEHE -
(@) The deposit received from Easyknit International represents the deposit received (@ MkEEBRKBNIESERERBSA

20205F 11 ASEAME EHFE - HERHA
for development for sale pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 5 RFEYZE M E THE QR 8RR 4
November 2020. The agreement has been terminated on 30 April 2021 and the HiZ® o ZiEEMN2021F4 A30H 4
amount had been refunded on 14 May 2021. 1R aIE S B R2021E5A14RRE

for disposal of equity interests in certain subsidiaries holding properties held
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26.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES CONTAINING LIABILITY AND
EQUITY COMPONENTS

In prior years, the Company issued certain convertible notes to Madian
Star Limited (“Madian”), an independent third party, and Easyknit
International, all are denominated in HKD. During the year ended 31
March 2021, Madian exercised the early redemption option for early
redemption of the outstanding principal amount in full and resulted
in a loss on early redemption amounting to HK$8,406,000 being
recognised in profit or loss.

On 18 September 2020, the Company entered into deeds of
amendment with Easyknit International in relation to the proposed
alterations of certain terms of the convertible notes. The deeds of
amendment were approved by the shareholders at a special general
meeting of the Company held on 19 November 2020 and the
Company received the approval letter from Stock Exchange on 25
November 2020. The modification of the terms was determined to be
substantial and hence resulted in the extinguishment of the original
liability component of the convertible notes and the recognition of new
liability and equity components, resulting in a loss on modification
of terms of convertible note amounting to HK$8,329,000 and loss
on remeasurement on inception date of convertible note amounting
to HK$73,520,000 of being recognised and total amount of
HK$81,849,000 presented under “net loss on modification of terms of
convertible note” in profit or loss. After the modification, the conversion
price of the convertible notes is HK$0.25 per conversion share with
interest at 4% per annum and maturity date of 28 August 2024. The
effective interest rates of the liability component of the convertible notes
range from 18.79% to 31.69% per annum.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, convertible notes with total principal
amount of HK$97,280,000 remained outstanding. Assuming full
conversion of the convertible notes at a conversion price of HK$0.25
at 31 March 2022, the convertible notes will be convertible into a total
of 389,120,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the Company, where the number of conversion shares is limited by
the adjustment provisions in the terms and conditions of the convertible
notes. Conversion shares will be allotted and issued upon exercise of
the conversion rights. If the convertible notes are not converted during
the conversion period up to the maturity date, they will be redeemed on
the maturity date at par with outstanding accrued interest. Interest of 4%
per annum will be paid semi-annually in arrears up until the settlement
date.

26.

YL Ea9%)

T

TRREBERES AT

Ir

RUAREE  NARMRBIE=H
Madian Star Limited([Madian]) sk
ERBRBETETABRBRER - HUE
JTLEHE - KRB E202143A31HLLF
£ + MadianfT {12 31l B 5 3% 12 1 12 Al
BERAEELAS  SBRFEREIR
8,406,000 JoaT A% ©

M20206F9818H » AR AIEKER
BRB2017F IR BB ANEIRERN
BEEEIUETRE - BREEE
M2020%F11 B198 B AR AR A%
REAE LESREMERRAT
72020 11 A 25 B W BB 32 AT L
B o RRMIEREEAERN - Bt
BRI 7TF A RREEN R A &
DHRLERTNEBNERLS
BYERAIRRERERZEBFE
/48,329,00078 7T R 7E AT A IR SR IR B 4R
HE st 25 E51873,520,0007 7T % 42
%681,849,000/% 7T £ 5| A& 5 2k i 2%
ERERZERFEICRABERAE
b2 EUR R P RER o Bk - Al
BREENBRREASRRRKRARHDO0.25
BIT  FHERBL% - B HI A A2024%F
8H28H - AR EEABIHNER
FENTHF18.79%%E31.69 % °

MR2022F 202143 A31H » A& 4
%8/4597,280,0007% 7T K FT RAR RIE R
B2 o BRRARKREEN202253 531
HLAMAR(BO.25/8 T AESEH - A[ R
REEEATERABRNDRBRARE HE
389,120,000/ &R EE0.01 8 B &
AR HPBRRROBE AX T RK
R GRRAEG RO ARG R -
B IANR D #E PR 1T S 3R A B i B I 3%
T MARBRERTCERARNERS
HBE kR AREEARAEER
SR BHEERER - FF4%0FEK
BEFIAF—K BEEHEER -
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CONVERTIBLE NOTES CONTAINING LIABILITY AND 26. AEBREBRESEBERESHKS
EQUITY COMPONENTS (Continued) (%)
The movement of the liability component of the above convertible notes T mREEEER S 2 Z 8T
is set out below: LN
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHET
At the beginning of the year REH 58,164 87,701
Derecognition of original liability component — 7A 8 2k A] # A% Z2 45 16 7k B EBSUS
upon modification of terms of BWREARZ BEKHD
convertible notes - (69,304)
Recognition of new liability component upon 7 5 24 A 3 i% Z2 48 {5 7k A FE 7R
modification of terms of convertible notes B EX N, = 55,510
Derecognition of original liability component — FAYE A B 0] 7] $2 A% 22 4% 16 70 B
upon early redemption of the BUBRERRAR 2 BEKH
convertible note - (80,271)
Accretion of interest MEZBRIEE 12,639 18,393
Interest paid BRFLE (3,892) (3,865)
At the end of the year REK 66,911 58,164
Less: Amount with early redemption option W IRATERIERE 2 SRR
shown under current liabilities RREEET (16,292) (13,417)
Amount without early redemption option and  #E42 Al & [0 BE A 1 B — 414
due after one year shown under non-current  2Hi > £ EFE RN IERE
liabilities BET 50,619 44,747

177



178

EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED Annual Report 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z£2022F3A31 8 It FE

SECURED BANK BORROWINGS 27. BEIWRTEE
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Carrying amount repayable as follows (based — [E(EEFIB 2 BEEE LW T (RIE
on the scheduled repayment dates set out BERipzmAmszEEEH) -
in the loan agreements):
- within one year -—FR 789,286 436,348
— within a period of more than one year but - ZR—FETHBMFHER
not exceeding two years 25,327 664,479
— within a period of more than two years but  — ZRMEB BB R F B R
not exceeding five years 793,694 338,877
- within a period of more than five years - HBBAFHER 54,000 75,229
1,662,307 1,614,933
Less: Amount due within one year shown AW RRBAEEETZ—FR
under current liabilities B &5 (789,286) (436,348)
Amount due after one year shown under RIERBAGET 2 —F1%&
non-current liabilities B/ L= 873,021 1,078,585

At 31 March 2022, the Group’s secured bank borrowings carry
interest ranging from HIBOR plus 1.0% to 1.8%, LIBOR plus 0.8%
(2021: HIBOR plus 1.0% to 1.8%, LIBOR plus 0.8%) per annum,
with effective interest ranging from 1.24% to 1.98% (2021: 0.89% to
2.77%) per annum. The loans are secured by certain assets as set out
in note 38 and properties held for development for sale of the Group.
The proceeds were mainly used to finance acquisition of investment
properties, development of properties and acquisition of financial

products.

M202243A318  AEB 2 H KA
RITEBEFFNENTEBRITRER
BI1.0%%E1.8% ' mBIRITRIERE
hn0.8% (20214 : HHEMITEERF L
M1.0%%E1.8% * WHERITRAERE
hno.8%) - HEBREFENF1.24%%
1.98%(20214F : 0.89%FE2.77%) - &
HUAME38FE E TEE RAE B
ERERRMEEERT - REXEH
BB EME  MEERRBES
MEMZHBE °
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SECURED BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 27.

The Group’s secured bank borrowings that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

BEFRITIEEE

AEENEBEEERDEEEIUIN
ZEBIEZ AERFEESRIIDT

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
usD E 20,513 30,665
LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HEAE
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FHET
Lease liabilities payable: EHzEEEE
Within a period not exceeding one year TR —FHER 2,570 2,442
Within a period of more than one year but not % X — B8 18 M 4 Hi 9
exceeding two years 1,162 2,445
Within a period of more than two years but not % 7 i B 4838 T HA R 9
exceeding five years 98 1,034
3,830 5,921
Less: Amount due for settlement within B 12@ A NEIBEE 2
12 months shown under SHBTIRRBAEET
current liabilities (2,570) (2,442)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 12 REEIBEE 2 e BETR
under non-current liabilities IFERBEET 1,260 3,479
The Group leases a property to operate its business and these lease N £ B AR Y A ¥ ME

liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments that
are not yet paid.

Lease and rentals are negotiated and fixed for a term of 2 to 3 years
(2021: 2 to 3 years).

LEEBEAN A NOEENRE

EIREFE -

A& 157 B FE B H2 =34 (20214 ¢

2FE3EE) o
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DEFERRED TAXATION 29. EIEFHIE
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FiBT FHT
Deferred tax assets R IBEE 8,020 8,250
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRRIBAE (37,855) (34,812)
(29,835) (26,562)

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

REAREBEFECHERARIZBZE
ERIREEBE) AREZEHMT

ECL Revaluation Convertible
allowance of properties notes issued Total
FEHEE BT
BEREE MEER AR EE #HEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FHAT FAET
At 1 April 2020 2020418 - (19,376) 8,271) (07,647)
Credit to profit or loss for the  RAFEBzEH
year A 8,250 1,454 2,397 12,101
Release upon modification of &2 AT #a A% =%
terms of convertible note 16 SR AR BR - - 4,580 4,580
Recognition upon modification & 24 A] # j% 22 4%
of terms of convertible note &R FERR = = (15,781) (15,781)
Release upon early 125 18 Bl B AR B
redemption - - 1,730 1,730
Exchange adjustments b 7 AR - (1,545) - (1,545)
At 31 March 2021 R202144A1H 8,250 (19,467) (15,345) (26,562)
(Charge) credit to profit or loss R AEE BzEH
for the year (B EA (230) 3,718 1,445 (2,503)
Exchange adjustments bE 5 A - (770) = (770)
At 31 March 2022 R20224E3 318 8,020 (23,955) (13,900) (29,835)

At 31 March 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$196,990,000 (2021: HK$186,754,000) available for offset against
future profits. The tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

M2022463A318 » AEBMAEXREE
i 18 E518196,990,00078 7T (20214
186,754,000/ 7T.) bA FB /E K 88 R 2K 4
B o BIBEBBATERALE - ARK
BETERI AR IHE A - RZEEIER
ERREBELEHIBEE -
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 29. EELEHIIE(E)
At 31 March 2022, the Group has deductible temporary differences of MN2022%F3A310 » AEBHAIE
HK$165,608,000 (2021: HK$258,832,000). A deferred tax has been MBS M2 2 5165,608,00008 7T
recognised in respect of HK$48,153,000 (2021: HK$50,000,000) (20214 : 258,832,000/ 7T) - BB
of such temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been 48,153,000/ 7T (20214 : 50,000,000
recognised in relation to the remaining deductible temporary difference B ZEERMERERELTCHIE -
of HK$117,455,000 (2021: HK$208,832,000) as it is not probable that FR R K AT B8 7 FE SR B s A A] A VB3R
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary MAENEREER - R ERF &
differences can be utilised. AN R 2= 2 117,455,000 7T
(20214F : 208,832,000/ 7T) fE R IE
MIBAE
Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends BEFEGEMETE - B20084F1
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 A1BERHPENB R REROFEE
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided B S BUTE A o R A E E A
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary HEHEREEENERER - W&
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries M BmERL AP ENMBE AR EF
amounting to HK$128,265,000 (2021: HK$98,413,000) as the Group Sin ) B4 T B 1 22 #2128,265,00078 7T
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences (20214F : 98,413,000 7T) s IR IEE T
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the He BRERUEEZRTAIEREAHRRE
foreseeable future. RAlge T~ eEm -
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. BA&
Nominal value Number
Notes per share of shares Amount
B 5 BREE gk =] FokG)
HK$ HK$’000
BT FiET
Authorised: JETE
At 1 April 2020 H2020F481H 0.2 1,000,000,000 200,000
Increase on 23 July 2020 7202067 A23H
b2yl (@) 0.2 1,000,000,000 200,000
At 31 March 2021 M202143H31H 0.2 2,000,000,000 400,000
Increase upon capital &R E AL N
reorganisation (b) 38,000,000,000 -
At 31 March 2022 HR20229F3H31H 0.01 40,000,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR :
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 R2020F4A81H -
and 1 April 2021 20213 A31H K
20214 A1H 0.2 931,458,010 186,291
Reduction of share capital upon & R E 4R R D RR AN
capital reorganisation (b) - (176,976)
At 31 March 2022 R202243A31H 0.01 931,458,010 9,315
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

31.

Notes:

(@) On 23 July 2020, the authorised share capital of the Company increased from
HK$200,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 shares to HK$400,000,000
divided into 2,000,000,000 shares by creation of an additional 1,000,000,000
unissued shares. The par value of HK$0.2 each of the share remains
unchanged.

(b) On 11 March 2022, a special resolution has been passed by the shareholders
of the Company for a capital reorganisation which involves capital reduction
and share subdivision. The par value of each of the issued shares of the
Company of HK$0.20 each (the “Existing Share(s)”) is reduced from HK$0.20
to HK$0.01 by a cancellation of HK$0.19 of the paid-up capital on each issued
Existing Share so that each issued Existing Share is treated as one fully paid
up share of par value HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (the
“New Share(s)") and the credit arising from the capital reduction be transferred
to the contributed surplus account of the Company. Immediately following the
capital reduction, each authorised but unissued Existing Shares of HK$0.20
each is sub-divided into twenty authorised but unissued New Shares of par
value HK$0.01 each so that immediately following the capital reduction and
the share subdivision, the authorised share capital of the Company shall
become HK$400,000,000 divided into 40,000,000,000 New Shares. The
capital reorganisation is completed on 15 March 2022. Details of the capital
reorganisation are set out in the Company’s circular dated 16 February 2022.

All shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2021 rank pari passu
with the then existing shares in issue in all respects.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

On 29 June 2012, a share option scheme (the “2012 Share Option
Scheme”) was approved by the shareholders of the Company. Under
the terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the board of directors
of the Company may, at its absolute discretion, offer options to
any full-time employee, director or consultant of any member of the
Group (including associated companies) to subscribe for shares in
the Company subject to the terms and conditions stipulated therein.
The 2012 Share Option Scheme is valid during the period of ten years
commencing 29 June 2012, unless otherwise cancelled or amended.

The purposes of the 2012 Share Option Scheme are to encourage
eligible participants to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued under the 2012
Share Option Scheme must not (when aggregate with any shares to be
issued under any other share option schemes of the Company) exceed
10% of the shares in issue at the date of adoption of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme.

30.

31.

IR (&)
fiE

(@) 202067 A238 + AR BHIETERA
F5200,000,0007% 7T (% £1,000,000,000
f&)#®ZE 400,000,000 (D A
2,000,000,0004%) - #01,000,000,000
BEAREBEITRG - BROBTHEERER

T -

(o) 2022F3A11H  ARABIRRBB—IE
FRDRFER - B RRE R ) 4
WIRAEME - NRARIBREBEITRG
(MRERH ) BAREEHRO0.20/4 TR
LZE001EBT  AFHEERERITRE
R EI019B T BT E ARG - Eit
BREBITHRAERMFERBRA TR
AP EFREEC.01 BT BB IR A ([F1
Rl - MRAEREENEERERE
REIZHABRBRES - BHRE% -
BREEC.20B THREEREITH
RERMD A S HB20R T AREEO.01
BITHEREERETHNR  BUE
BER A MR IF AL - RAREER
400,000,000/ 7T * 43 /40,000,000,000
AR o AIRRAEH B K202243
A15B MK « XA BHFBERRAE
AR BEIA202262 B 16 A K@K ©

FrEREE202143A831 8 I FE 3T
ZHRHRETERERBEHTRNE
BEREEF -

RGO RERNRRS

R2012F6 A29H @ AR AR E—
TERE A AEET I (T201288 iR 21 )) - AR
Bo012ME IR IEAT B 2 163K+ AR AE
Egn o REBHMIEE - REZET
B AT TE 2 A R I A 1 TR AN = B 4]
RERAR(BIERE AR 2T M2BE
8 EESEMBLARBARRRK
19 2 BERLHE © 201288 AR AE 51 81 B JE A
HAbh 5 R ER] - BRIH201246
B29B #EH10OF RN —BE £ °

012 EAEEEEBDTAERS
HEFNRSAAARERG ZEE
INFERRR RERR 2 BB -

RIB20O12B IR B E BT Z &=
Bt 8B A5 (EREA QR ZEME
EREFIBTERT2EMRNOE
HEE) BBRRM201 2B R EEE
Bz BEITRMNZ210% °
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The maximum number of shares issuable upon the exercise of the
share options granted to each eligible participant of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting of the Company with such grantee and his associate(s)
abstaining from voting.

The exercise period of the share options under 2012 Share Option
Scheme is determined by the board of directors of the Company and
shall end on a date which is not later than ten years from the date
of grant of the options. At the time of grant of the share options, the
Company must (a) specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which a
share option must be held before it can be exercised in whole or in
part, and (b) specify the minimum performance target(s), if any, which
must be achieved before the share options can be exercised in whole
or in past. The amount payable on acceptance of an offer for grant of
share options is HK$1.

The exercise price in respect of any particular option of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme may be determined by the board of directors of the
Company in its absolute discretion and notified to each offeree but may
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets on the date of offer, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of offer.

No share option was granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme or
exercised during both years.

31.

URHBERNRRZ (&)

REA121E B HAR R - E20128 i
HECEAERSRETEAMER
FToHERER  BTFRIZE2RN
HE  UARQRARBBHITRHOZ1%E
PR o (s — BRI EBBILRE 2B
BRiE - BERERARABRERE £
BERATEE  MZARAREHRE
ANBRERE -

B IR201 28 R AR 71 81 2 B AR 17 (5 A7
HARARIZEZERE BETERE
TERESRBITTFZAER - R
BRHBRER - NQRME@)TERE
RiEZBRBAOTEZAMFEZER
HEARR (I B) + K (b)5E AA B AR A 2 JF =k 36
DITEZRMBARE 2 ZERAEEZ
(tnA) - siEmE L ERE ZHEN
18T ©

ARREFGIRABHIIGEE &
TE201 28 IRIE T B 2 (1] 5 5 BB AR 48
ZITEE  THESXEHNA EH
BITEETSLROHREN B (KA
REERRBRAMZEARERMY
AR AR 2 W8 ()25
EHNPMATAMEEED  RERAZ
FHBREBERAAVNARQ R IBRG R
ZEFHWHE  R(NVARBBRONE
MR EE -

RWEFEE » 201 2FBIRESEI T
ERHRITEERRE -
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32.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

32. REME

SR CBEZ

HP

RS

TERHENAKREREBETH AR

w4 ib

BREASRIFRGES - KA

miﬁééiﬂZEETb”ﬁEﬁﬁ%ﬁ%% :

IARKREME

BEsBAREEZ

EARERERZKARMEBRD 2R

=g—R
ﬁ/mi °

Convertible  Secured bank Lease
notes borrowings liabilities Total
TRBREE BERARTEE HESE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAET FAT
(Note 26) (Note 27) (Note 28)
GEZD) (KIsE27) (Ht7£28)
At 1 April 2020 M2020F481H 87,701 1,431,740 1,031 1,520,472
Bank borrowings raised ERRITER = 617,810 = 617,810
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE - (534,703) = (534,703)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE - - (2,451) (2,451)
Interest paid =17 & (3,865) (33,453) (95) (37,413)
83,836 1,481,394 (1,515) 1,563,715
Non-cash changes: FReEH
~ Interest on convertible notes - TRRERZFIE 18,393 = = 18,393
~ Interest on bank borrowings - SRITERZFE = 33,453 = 33,453
- Interest expense on lease -HERBZAERX
liabilities - - 95 95
- Derecogpnition of original liability - RERATRRERE
component upon modification BB R R
of terms of convertible notes ZBER R (69,304) = = (69,304)
- Recognition of new liability - RERATMRER G
component upon modification REERMNEE
of terms of convertible notes B 55,510 - - 55,510
- Derecognition of original - RIZRTE B AR
liability component upon early BIEFREUBRER
redemption of the convertible RAZBERR
note (30,271) - - (30,271)
- New leases entered/lease - FEHE /HEER
modified (note 15) (B#5E15) - - 7,341 7,341
- Exchange adjustments -ERRE - 86 - 86
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32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 32. REMETEB2EBEZAHRE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

Convertible  Secured bank Lease
notes borrowings liabilities Total
TRBREE BRARTEE HEEE R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET FTHT THAT
(Note 26) (Note 27) (Note 28)
(HtzE26) (Ms27) (Ht7£28)
At 31 March 2021 M2021F3A31H 58,164 1,514,933 5,921 1,579,018
Bank borrowings raised EERITER - 980,556 - 980,556
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE = (833,274) = (833,274)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEEE - - (2,472) (2,472)
Interest paid KRFE (3,892) (30,227) (107) (34,226)
54,072 1,631,988 3,342 1,689,602
Non-cash changes: ¥R
- Interest expense on convertible - ATEREE Y
notes FEH% 12,639 = = 12,639
- Interest on bank borrowings - SRITERZFIE = 30,227 = 30,227
- Interest on lease liabilities -HEREZFIS - - 107 107
- New leases entered (note 15) - $ETHE(FE15) = = 381 381
- Exchange adjustments -ERRE - 92 - 92
At 31 March 2022 20223 A31H 66,911 1,662,307 3,830 1,733,048
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements,
during the year, the Group had the following transactions with
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Easyknit International:

33.

BBALXRS BERXS

(a)

BriR e IS MR IS - NF
W AEBEEKEBREREZMEBA
AETINTRS ¢

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

FBT F&T

Consultancy fee BB 2,131 801
Building management fee AEERE 420 420
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaBEZFEAX 106 93

The Group rented certain of its office premises from Easyknit
International. At 31 March 2022, lease liabilities amounted to
HK$3,830,000 (2021: HK$5,871,000) and refundable rental
deposits paid (included in “trade and other receivables” line item)
amounted to HK$416,000 (2021: HK$416,000).

Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, a director of the Company, also holds 23.55%
(2021: 21.20%) equity interest of Easyknit International through
an entity wholly-owned by her.

Details of the convertible notes issued to Easyknit International
are set out in note 26. During the year, the interests on these
convertible notes are as follows:

(b)

REBEKEERBARTHBS
PAE o PA2022E3A31H » &
FEMMEEAEA3,830,000%
Jt(20214 : 5,871,000 7T)
ENMATRERSRS(BERE
[B5REAMBHKZIERFR) A
416,000/ 7T (20214F : 416,000
PEITT) °

AAREEE T UL LBRE
EEBEANERBREAXKEER
223.55% (20214 : 21.20%) A%
1 o

BITHOKE B 2 TR R IR
FHIBEMRE26 - RER - JLEA
BEREEONENT

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

FiET FHET

Accretion of interest FEzBARLE 12,639 12,966
Interest paid BATFE 3,892 3,257
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of executive directors and other members of
key management during the year was as follows:

(c)

33. BMALIXS BEXS @)

TEEBABZHMN
WITEEREMIEERAER
FRZHMEWT

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Short-term employee benefits REEERT
Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 14,319 13,391
Contributions to retirement benefits BIREFIET IR
schemes 138 128
14,457 13,519
The remuneration of directors and key executives are determined BEERFBITBRABZME DR

by the remuneration committee and executive directors,
respectively, having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

In January 2011, the Company entered into an employment
agreement with Mr. Koon Wing Yee, the spouse of Ms. Lui
Yuk Chu, to act as general manager of the Company. The
employment agreement, which constitutes a connected
transaction, commenced on 21 February 2011 but may
be terminated by either party at any time by three months’
notice. The monthly salary has been adjusted a few times to
HK$400,000 with effect from 1 April 2021. The remuneration of
Mr. Koon Wing Yee as general manager of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2022 was HK$5,200,000 (2021:
HK$4,550,000) and was included in the “compensation of key
management personnel” in (c) above.

In November 2020, the Company entered into an employment
agreement with Ms. Koon Ho Yan Candy, the daughter of Ms.
Lui Yuk Chu, to act as a senior special advisor of the Company.
The employment agreement, which constitutes a connected
transaction, commenced on 25 November 2020 but may be
terminated by either party at any time by three months’ notice.
The monthly salary is HK$20,000 with effect from 25 November
2020. The remuneration of Ms. Koon Ho Yan Candy as a senior
special advisor of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2022 was HK$240,000 (2021: HK$84,000).

(d)

HEFMZE S RATESRRE
MALTZERBERTSBEME

E °

R2011F1 A - RARIEERK
ZtTZRBEKBELEELE
AE  BEREAARQABK
B o 2B —HEER S ZER
WaEm2011F2A21 AL - 2
AREMEERERER—F
BYT-@EABMMAKL--FA
HEMERTEXFAEEHR2021
4718 #4400,0008 7T ° &
F2022F3A31HILEFAE K
EEREEBARBBEE 2
% 45,200,000 7T (20214 -
4,550,000 7T) R EBEENU £
CEZIEEZEBABZHM]
W °

202011 A - ARRIEE R
ZEMEREAIMREZ LEFTER
W EEARAR = RERE
B o ZIERRRBKRBEERS -
R2020F 11 B25H BMA A% -
BEM—FHIRERIEAN =R
BRI IE - B2020%F11 A25H
A © AFA20,00087T ° B
Al fRZ Lt REE202243A318
IFEEEEARQT &SRR
) %7 BN 5 240,0007%8 7T (2021 4F -
84,000 7T) °
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33.

34.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(e)  During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group received rental
income totalling HK$288,000 (2021: HK$288,000) from certain
close relatives of Ms. Lui Yuk Chu.

(f) On 18 January 2021, the Group completed the disposal of
its entire 100% equity interest in a subsidiary, Lion Capital
Investment Limited (“Lion Capital”), for a cash consideration of
USD1 (equivalent to HK$7.8) (see note 37) to Mr. Koon Chun
Ting, the son of Ms. Lui Yuk Chu. Lion Capital has been acting
as a trustee for the Company in relation to certain listed equity
securities. During the year ended 31 March 2021, Lion Capital
has charged the Company commission fee of USD385,000
(equivalent to HK$2,982,000) from 18 January 2021 to 31 March
2021 (2022: nil).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes
convertible notes and secured bank borrowings disclosed in notes
26 and 27, respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with the capital. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues and raising or repayment of bank borrowings
and other debts.

33.

34.
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35. EMIA

a. SBMIAZER

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHEx FHET
Financial assets SRIEE
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFESABRZCREE 148,909 144,585
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFEFAHMEZAREZ
BB TA 2,408 36,113
Amortised cost (including cash and cash ~ EESER A (BIER & K ER
equivalents) R/e)
- Trade and other receivables - B MEMEKIE 3,265 3,758
- Loans receivable - ERER 94,381 130,179
~ Debt instruments at amortised cost - RN A EZER TR 22,426 -
- Bank balances and cash - IRITEBRIR S 82,099 112,260
353,488 426,895
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Amortised cost S
- Trade and other payables - B 5 REMERNRIE 50,813 64,390
— Convertible notes - AR R 66,911 58,164
~ Secured bank borrowings - BIRPRITEE 1,662,307 1,514,933
1,780,031 1,637,487
Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HMEEKBREBEBEZERBRE

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, debt instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other
receivables, debt instrument at amortised cost, loans receivable,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, convertible
notes and secured bank borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks

AEEZTRZSRTABREER
FEAARGZEREE  BAQ
FEFARMBEEKE 2 ERT
A BH5MEMEWIR - R
A EZEHTA - BIRE
R RITEHERE  EHRE

associated with these financial instruments and the policies on MERRIE - IRRERREIE
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management RIRITEE - ZZeMIAZE

manages and monitors these exposures to ensure that
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

BEERBENEENERN - 252
B TR N 2 [\ B PA R AR faT P4
ZERBRZ RTINS - EE
B EE M EEZERARIAERE
B A RO IREUE 2 15 5
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. ©RI A
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. H¥EKREEEEREEGE

(Continued)

Market risk 5 E

() Currency risk )  BEERE
The carrying amount of the group entities’ foreign currency REEHR - AINESIE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at CEBERBCEREER
the end of the reporting period is as follows: E¥aECRABOT ¢

Liabilities Assets
af& EE
2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET THET TET

USD against HKD ETHBET = = 27,811 28,892
RMB against HKD ARBH BT - - 35 35
USD against SGD £ 555 H IR TT 20,513 30,665 2,408 44,082
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT

The Group is mainly exposed to the exchange rate risk on AEBBINETIE 2 EWE
USD against SGD for the foreign currency denominated BEREBEBEZEXR
monetary assets and monetary liabilities. MEZ KRB EITEIM

BT 2R

Under the pegged exchange rate system, the financial AR EERGE - BT
impact on exchange difference between HKD and USD BETERER  MEF
will be immaterial, and therefore no sensitivity analysis has BYTEKN  BUEER

been prepared. BIBRE DT ©
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

v

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in USD against SGD. Sensitivity
rate of 5% is used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary and adjusts their translation at the end of the
reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. The sensitivity analysis represents the debt
instruments at FVTOCI, and financial assets at FVTPL and
secured bank borrowings where the denominations are
in USD. A positive number below indicates an increase
in post-tax profit or a decrease in post-tax loss where
USD strengthen 5% against SGD. For a 5% weakening of
USD against SGD, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax loss.

35. M E(E)

b. HERREERERIEGE

45 3 (4)

()

Bk (&)
BURE DT ()
TRFMIE T AREY
SETU SN ST E AR
EE% M BEE - MEBIA
TEEBEABRENE
[ F B - {3 P 5% HY B R%
B RREEEHAEN
EXRBHNETE - GURE
DITEREREENINE
FHERY - THERSHR
HEHRE - ABINEE
KEFHE% - WERED
RRARAFEF AR
PEHBEZEFTE &
AFEFAABRZEBE
B AR B AR IR AT (5 50UA
ETLREMMRITHER
THMEHRRTEXTY
K ITAES% - Biik
& IR 0k AR 1R S 1R R
Ao MRSEITTH AN T
2E%  AEHMRERE

BEARSMERHOF
s,
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx FHEIT
Decrease in post-tax profit Hi1& 2Rk >
(2021: decrease in post-tax loss) (20214 : BifgEERD) (751) 671

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis reflects
the exposure at the year end, but not the exposure during
the year.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy to eliminate the currency exposures.
However, the management monitors the related foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposures should the need
arise.

ERERL  BBRESN
REREZEEAER - T
PRIREFEANER -

AN [ B A SN S h
BEOEGREERR - A
- EEER )RR A
SRR AHNEFR
B E B hEKRINER

G o
2
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

35. MITE(E)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies b. H¥EKREEBEZREEGE)
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) G E B (1)
(i) Interest rate risk i) FEmRE
The Group’s primary cash flow interest rate risk relates AEENFERSTRERN
to its principal protected deposits which are classified as ERBEEBEARAF
financial assets at FVTPL and secured bank borrowings. Bt ABEZERMEEN
The interest rates and terms of repayment of the secured A REFR LA ERIE
bank borrowings of the Group are disclosed in note 27. TEEEH - AEEEK
HIRITEENNERER
1EFRAHI 274 55 -
The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate AEBTRRIZATFETA
risk in relation to certain financial assets at FVTPL, debt BRzemEE  EBAYF
instruments at FVTOCI, debt instrument at amortised cost, Bt AHt2AKE 2 E
bank balances, fixed-rate loans receivable, convertible BITA -  RBENATE
notes and lease liabilities. The Group has not used any ZEBITAR - RITEH
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to such interest FEUEEFIEER - AR
rate risk, however, the management monitors interest rate BEERBEEBEBERER
exposure and will consider other necessary action when FREEMERRE - AEH
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated. WEERAEALITER LK
HHRZENERR - BE
HEeERMERR - I
SEEBTIEE XTI EE
R 5= B AN A b B AT
& o
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on financial AEBRemABEZFE
liabilities is detailed in the liquidity risk management REERAM T RBE
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate SRBERE AL -
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR AEBEZRESRENER
and LIBOR arising from secured bank borrowings. b EREEAEFRT
BEZBEBRITRAERE
EmBRITEERER
& -
Total interest revenue/income from financial assets that R A SR A AR
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI is as AHEMEEREFEZS
follows: BMEEZFE WS WA
EEEIR
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Interest revenue F 8 U 25
Financial assets at amortised cost RESER AT EZ
SREE 7,730 18,944
Other income A
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEN AT EZ
TREE 1,828 1,166
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMEZE
Wz emEE 1,870 2,151
Total interest income R F B A 11,428 22,261
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments as referred to above at the end of the
reporting period and the stipulated change taking place
at the beginning of the financial year and held constant
throughout the reporting period. A 100 basis points
(2021: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2021: 50 basis
points) higher or lower for its variable rate borrowings
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 would
decrease/increase (2021: post-tax loss would increase/
decrease) by HK$13,879,000 (2021: HK$6,324,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analyses are
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its
investments in listed equity and debt securities, equity-
linked notes and bullion-linked note. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. The Group’s price risk is
mainly concentrated on listed equity instruments quoted
in the Stock Exchange or an overseas recognised stock
exchange of issuers operating in property investment and
development and banking and finance industry sector.
In addition, the Group has appointed a special team to
monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

35. M E(E)

b. HERREERERIEGE

45 3 (4)
@) FIEmEREE
BURE DT

(i)

AT U E 5 4 R IR B R
LA = B st 50 S 5 B SR Bk 3
PTHETAZFIE KRR
FERBREZHTERER
REMBERTEMmME
TE o 1001E H 2% (2021
F : 5OfEEAES) G N
BLORARMEZEEA
8 N EREE IR E @R LR
REBETE RN E 248
AREH -

MEZHFEBEEDNF
Kk K100 M@ E
25 (20214 : 501B &%)
BFBEEMEERFZAR
2 BIASLEHEHZE2022
FIABIBILFEMF%
BT R D 0 (2021
F o RIEEERKEMN R
4>)13,879,0007% 7T (2021
4 : 6,324,000/87T) °

EEERS  ZHRED
b e R KRB LT X[
b - B FIEE R BE R R
FRER -

H B R

REBRZERBARE
BESHF BREHBDZER
o I E IR E R b
BRRARK  EEERAYE
BEETREARKRMNIZEEHE
BEREBER - AEE
MEEEREEEFRE
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RBE LMt EEHE
RERAZERBITRERE
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
(i) Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting
date.

If the prices of the listed equity instruments (including
equity securities and perpetual bonds) have been 5%
(2021: 5%) higher/lower, post-tax profit for the year ended
31 March 2022 would increase/decrease (2021: post-tax
loss would decrease/increase) by HK$2,641,000 (2021:
HK$4,433,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
listed equity instruments.

In the managements’ opinion, the financial impact on price
risk of equity-linked notes and bullion-linked notes will be
immaterial, and therefore no sensitivity analysis has been
prepared.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, lease receivables, loans
receivable, other receivables, bank balances, debt instruments
at amortised cost and debt instruments at FVTOCI. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risk associated with its financial assets, except
that the credit risk associated with loans receivable is mitigated
because they are secured over guaranteed money, marketable
securities or properties.

At the end of reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information including forecast of unemployment rate index and
other relevant factors are considered.

Except for financial assets at FVTPL, the Group performed
impairment assessment for financial assets under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment
assessment, if applicable, are summarised as below:

35.

TRMIAGE

M EREE B ERBKGE
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WEE - AEEAAA R
HHEARIA

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. LRI A
Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HERREEBERBUER(H)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1EE R R EFFE (E)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment for the TEESREE AT EERR
Group’s financial assets comprises the following categories: AR BIEA TR
Financial assets
other than trade
Trade and and lease
Internal credit rating Description lease receivables receivables
TREETEEES
R ERME B B g5 RHERWRE RIEEREWFIE)
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk Lifetime ECL — not credit- 12m ECL
of default and does not have impaired
any past-due amounts
Ve RSHFHEDRREL N & REBBNEREEEE 128 AEHEEEE
E ]38 HAZR A - FEERE
Medium risk Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL — not credit- 12m ECL
date impaired
L BEBALERIEREER REBPNEREEEE 1218 AR EE B 518
- FEERE
High risk There have been significant Lifetime ECL — not credit- Lifetime ECL — not
increases in credit risk since impaired credit-impaired
initial recognition through
information developed internally
or external resources
= bR FERANIEKOER SRR EERRNEREEER BEBHNEHEE
EERRE & RERARLER - FEERE 18 - EEERE
7:% % )Ju
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired  Lifetime ECL — credit-
asset is credit-impaired impaired
[E ] EEBRBETREELREEREA RERRNBEHEESS BEBHNEHEE
- EERE &8 - EEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
G| ERBRTNEBABABREVE SFEME RS
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

35. MITE(E)
b. HHREREEEERBEE

FE R R A E G ()
TREJIAEESBEERER
HEEBEFENEERRF

,‘E.
g -

External Internal Loss
Notes  credit rating creditrating  12m or lifetime ECL raterange  Gross carrying amount
128 AR 2EAHN
M MEETR RPEETR REEESE BAZEHE REE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tin
Debt instruments at FVTOCI
BRATES AR R ERE 2 EH
IR
Investments in listed bonds (note (i) 19 Caal to Ba2 (i) N/A 12m ECL 0.52% t0 6.12% - 37,598
S 2R E ) Caat % Ba2 () TEA 12fEABHEEEE 052%%F6.12%
CtoCa N/A Lifetime ECL - credit-  50% to 100% 10,931 -
impaired
CZCa TR BEAHNESEEE  50%Z100%
BR-EERE
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHRASIE EREE
Loans receivable 17 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 2% to 6% 80,690 85,102
EHER TEA ERER 12EARSREEES 2%Z6%
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL - credit- 0% to 100% 60,930 106,535
impaired
TEA BB BEAHNESEE  0%E100%

Trade receivables from contracts with 22 N/A (i)

customers

BRPEIERENER TER i)
Lease receivables 2 N/A (i)
RErRKE TiEA (i)

Fia-EERE

Lifetime ECL - not N/A 507 302
credit-impaired

ERADNESRES TER
BE-FEEHE

Lifetime ECL - not N/A 1,440 2,319
credit-impaired

ERADNEHRES TER
BE-FEEHE
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

35. £@ET A (&)

b. UEREBREERBERIEGE

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

=B m R R B EEF 1 ()

External Internal Loss
Notes  credit rating creditrating  12m or lifetime ECL raterange  Gross carrying amount
12/ AR ZBEEH
Wi MPEETR RBEETR  RHEEER BAZEE kAR
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR THT
Other receivables 22 N/A (i) 12m ECL N/A 2,758 3,456
H R TER (i) 12fEREHREERR TER
Debt instrument at amortised cost 20 N/A (i) 12m ECL 4% 23,340 -
RERRAGTBZBBIA TER i) 12EARAEEER
Bank balances 24 Prime =210 A1 (2021:  N/A 12m ECL N/A 82,059 112,202
Prime =2 to A1)
BiTes BER-2EA(021  THA 12EARSEEER TER
£ 5EE-22A1)
Notes: B

(i

(i

For the purpose of ECL assessment, the Group estimates with
reference to external credit rating and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

For the purpose of ECL assessment, the Group considers the gross
principal amount and the related contractual interests of the debt
instruments. As at 31 March 2022, the gross principal amount of these
debt instruments amounted to HK$13,684,000 (2021: HK$38,812,000).

For the purpose of internal credit impairment, the Group considers
if there is any past due record or other relevant information available
without undue cost or effort to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

(i)

(i)

REREEEEFGETNE A%
E2EHAEREFBRATEEE
B e b -

REHEEBETETE - A%
BERBEEIANASAER
HEANA QR - R202243A
318 ZEBHEIANESHR
%8 513,684,0007% 7T (20214 :
38,812,000/ 7T) °

RABEERETNS @ AREE
BREEEMBHLERNBRAE
EXRALENAEZ L MERE
FafE B R EREREERRZ
BO@REEM -
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. ©RI A
Financial risk management objectives and policies b. H¥EKREEEEREEGE
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= B R Fa R s E 1L (1)
Debt instruments at FVTOCI B FEFFAEMEE W2 &
BIA
The Group assesses the credit risk of investments in debt REBMPRE B TS EGES
securities at the reporting date. The Group’s debt instruments at REMNEERR - XEEZRAT
FVTOCI mainly comprise listed bonds that are graded by credit- Bt \Eth2EK=E 2 EB TR
rating agencies as per globally understood definitions and some FE2eFEnERTAKERES
bonds without external credit rating are assessed by internal KM TERETIROLETE
credit ratings. % —HR BN E AREARME
7 BB B A S BT RETTAT
fly ©
Lifetime ECL -
12m ECL credit impaired Total
BEBEN
128 A FEHEEEE-
SEEE EERE Fk
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET FHET
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4/81H 637 - 637
Changes due to debt instruments at MR A FEF A H A
FVTOCI recognised as at 2EWEZEFTED
31 March 2020 B 20203318
TR
- Upon redemption — B A (466) - (466)
- Net remeasurement of ECL -EHEEERZ
FE 108 - 108
New bonds purchased HBEMES 413 - 413
At 31 March 2021 M20214F3A31 R 692 - 692
Changes due to debt instruments at FAZ A FEFFAEM
FVTOCI recognised as at 2HEWEEHTERN
31 March 2021 BHM20214F3A31H
R
— Transfer to credit-impaired -BESEERE (280) 280 =
— Upon redemption - R 412) - 412)
— Net remeasurement of ECL -BHEEEEZ
FEh - 9,865 9,865
At 31 March 2022 202243 H31H - 10,145 10,145
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Debt instrument at amortised cost
The Group assesses the credit risk of investments in debt
securities at the reporting date. The Group’s debt instrument at
amortised cost comprises a promissory note without external
credit rating, which has been assessed by internal credit rating.

35.

ERMTAGE
b. MBRRERABERBE@

1= B E R R B EEF 1 ()
REER AT B EBETA
AEBERBE AT HEBERFR
BMERRR - ARBIREHEK
Kt 8 2 BB T ABIERLING
ERFRNERERE  BEBA
BRI AP AETTRIE -

12m ECL

128 BB EE

HK$’000

FHET

At 1 April 2021 R2021F4H1H -
New note purchased HEAZR 914
At 31 March 2022 R20229F3H31H 914
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Loans receivable

The Group has concentration of credit risk in relation to loans
receivable, amounting to HK$94,381,000 at 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$130,179,000), from a few borrowers with 69%
(2021: 55%) of the balance secured by guaranteed money
of HK$10,000,000 (2021: HK$10,000,000), marketable
securities with fair values of nil (2021: HK$61,725,000) or
properties with estimated fair values of HK$161,407,000
(2021: HK$25,370,000). The Group is not permitted to sell
or repledge the collaterals in the absence of default by the
borrower. There have not been any significant changes in
the quality of the collateral held for the loans receivable. In
addition, the unsecured loans receivable as at 31 March 2022
amounting to HK$39,750,000 (2021: HK$36,377,000) are with
personal guarantee. The largest borrower of the Group by itself
accounted for approximately 17% (2021: 10%) of the Group’s
loans receivable at 31 March 2022. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding loans receivable to minimise
credit risk. The management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to the credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Impairment allowances on outstanding loans receivable are
determined by an evaluation of financial background, financial
condition and historical settlement records, including past due
rates and default rates, of the borrowers and relevant information
from public domain at the end of each reporting period. The
borrowers are assigned different grading under internal credit
ratings to calculate the ECL, taking into consideration of the
estimates of expected cash shortfalls which are driven by
estimates of possibility of default and the amount and timing of
cash flows that are expected from foreclosure on the collaterals (if
any) less the costs of obtaining and selling the collaterals.

35.

TRMIAGE
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Loans receivable (Continued)

Included in the gross amount of loans receivables
are HK$60,930,000 (2021: HK$106,535,000), net of
accumulated impairment allowances of HK$44,930,000
(2021: HK$59,058,000) due from a group of borrowers
including an individual (the “Borrower”) with gross amount of
HK$27,380,000 (2021: HK$11,380,000) and other individuals
(with personal guarantee from the Borrower) with gross amount
of HK$33,550,000 (2021: HK$95,155,000). During the year
ended 31 March 2021, the management assessed, taking into
account the relevant information from public domain, such
balances became credit-impaired and has taken various actions
to recover the balances. The management has requested the
borrowers to make settlements of the loans and total settlements
of HK$61,605,000 were received from the borrowers by way
of cash or properties as disclosed in note 17(ii) during the year
ended 31 March 2022. No allowance for impairment was made
for a loan receivable newly granted during the year ended
31 March 2022 with gross amount of HK$16,000,000 since
the value of pledged asset is higher than the value of amount
borrowed. For the remaining balances, an additional impairment
loss of HK$12,903,000 was recognised in current year to fully
impair the remaining balances.

Trade and lease receivables and other receivables

No allowance for impairment was made since the directors of
the Company consider that the probability of default is minimal
after assessing the counterparties’ financial background and
creditability.

Bank deposits and bank balances

No allowance for impairment was made since the directors of
the Company consider that the probability of default is negligible
as such amounts are receivable from or placed in banks with
good reputation.

TRIAE)

B b EE B R B ()

= B R E S ()

FEWE (&)

JE W B 3 48 55 22 #560,930,000
7T (20214 : 106,535,0005%
7o) - B —AE AR ZER
B /5518 544,930,000/ 7T (2021
£ : 59,058,000/ 7T) © BIEE
AR A €% 527,380,000
P TT(20214F : 11,380,000/ 7T)
R E A E A (B2 A RARME
AMEIR) £ %8 533,550,000% 7T
(20214 : 95,155,000/ L) ° &
F2021F3A31ALFE &8
BEERAREHNEMES®R
FE o REEHCREEAR
B+ 3B RS TE e B 4
%o EHECERERARER
FIBREATASE - BIE202243A
STHIEFEURESSMER
BB E7 () ET B8 M fE KA
W BR 1975 (8 482 58 561,605,000/
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. ©RI A
Financial risk management objectives and policies b. H¥EKREEEEREEGE
(Continued)
Liquidity risk BB R
In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and ARBDESRBREREMS @ A%
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate BEEERERETIEER AR MK
by the management to finance the Group’s operations. The FrRekEFRREAMHAEE
management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures IR BREREERE L
compliance with loan covenants. BRI R E 8 T B R -
As at 31 March 2022, the Group has available unutilised bank M2022%3A3 18 » A&
loan facilities of HK$611,089,000 (2021: HK$392,256,000). EAXADARTEREESR
611,089,000/ 7T (20214 :
392,256,000/ 7T) °
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual TERFNAEE 2 eRBE T
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn BRE K EIERERRR o MR TVIRAE
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities B ERNRcHZEEEHAZ
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required TRBERNBERERENNT -
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. KANBEMNEREEREMNE °
Liquidity table HEEZF
On More than
demandor 3 months but Total
Effective  less than less than undiscounted  Carrying
interestrate 3 months 1year  1-2years  2-5years Over5 years cash flows amount
EEXSD RiB3EA bS]
ERAIE  M3fER BAIME 1-06 -5E BBSE  RERELE FAE
% HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
T#n FiEn Fin Tin Fin AL T
2022 2022
Trade and other payables & 5 R M EFFR = 42,580 8,233 = = = 50,813 50,813
Convertiole notes THRER 21.10 28,371 = = 72,800 = 101,171 66,911
Secured bank borrowings - BEBHITEE 1.63 80,575 731,785 50,576 815,122 55,434 1,733,492 1,662,307
Lease liabiltes HERRE 2.20 657 1971 1,172 9 = 3,899 3,830
152,183 741,989 51,748 888,021 55,434 1,889,375 1,783,861
2021 2021
Trade and other payables & R EMEMFE - 56,207 9,163 = = = 64,390 64,390
Convertible notes TEREE 21.32 28,371 = = 72,800 = 101,171 58,164
Secured bank borrowings AEBEEE 19 90077 6699 679284 B0 TTETT 1564867 1514933
Lease liabilities HEafk 2.18 637 1,910 2,496 1,040 - 6,083 5,921
174,312 371,172 681,780 424,970 17,677 1,736,511 1,643,408
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value

()

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The Board
has delegated the valuation work to the management to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The
management works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The management reports the
findings to the directors of the Company regularly to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets are determined (in

35. ®MIA)
c. AFHE
() FEEEEEEEEER

RFPEABZEHMEEZ
RFE
BOAREZEBEERN
REHARBQATFEE -
EFeCBAEIERT
RERRE  UEELTE
SHEREEAERMNE
N ¢

- AFER  AEE
BUREATSUBRER
& - WEEERE A&
A8 AEEZESE=
7R B (E R T
B BEERGERIN
HEMERRIE - AL
HE e B ER MR &
ANE - EEEEHRAR
AEEWEATHER A
RN ERESHHREA -

SR M A B ) B E X
EeMEEATECEHE

particular, the valuation techniques and key inputs used). TR EERM R A
#iR) °
Fair value Valuation techniques and
Financial assets Fair value at 31 March hierarchy key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
tREE R3A3NBZATE NRERE  HERHRBARE EXTUBRZBA
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn TAL
Debt instruments at FVTOCI
BATEFARB2ERE
BHIA
- Listed debt securities 2,408 36,113 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A
- FiERES £18 REBMETARMLE TER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BATESABEZERER
- Listed equity securities 52,818 84,616 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A
- FiRAES 18k REBTETAR ML E TER
- Perpetual bonds - 4048 Level1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A
- kA5 1R REBTET AR ML E TER
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. ©RI A
c. Fair value (Continued) c. DFE(E)
(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are () FEERGEZMEEERE
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) AFEFEZEMEEZ
2N AE (1)
Fair value Valuation techniques and
Financial assets Fair value at 31 March ~hierarchy key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
tREE R3A3NBZATE NPERE HERTRBARE EXTUBRZBA
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin AL
= Principal protected 21,171 21,341 Level3 Discounted cash flows = future cash Potential return rate of 1.00% to
deposits flows are estimated based on 3.00% (2021: 1.00% to 3.00%) per
exchange rate of USD against HKD annum
and expected yields of the
instruments
-REER £3} FRRENE -AXZENENE  BRERHEEF100%Z300%
FURRTIAAERIAZEN (20219 © 1.00%23.00%)
EISR{EH T
= Investment funds 7,339 11,511 Level3 Discounted cash flows = future cash Weighted average cost of capital at
flows are estimated 53.61% (2021: 8.61%)
-REES £3} RRBENE -HARREREEST  METHESMKAE361%(2021% :
ikt 8.61%)
= Bullion-linked note - 3921 Level2 Based on fair value of underlying assets  N/A
which are substantially derived from
level 1 input and fixed interest rate
-EERNRE £k ERREE1RBAEHEELTER TR
B
= Equity-finked notes 5,020 7,059 Level2 Based on fair value of underlying assets  N/A
which are substantially derived from
level 1 input
- REBNRE £k ERREE1RBAEHEELTE TEA
= Investment in limited 27,087 12,089 Level3 Net asset value quoted from fund Net asset value of the underlying
partnership manager investments
-ARARRE £k EeBBMENEETE RERANEESE
- Life insurance policies 13,718 - Lewel2 Quoted asset value provided by a N/A
financial ingtitution
- \ERRE £k SREERI TREERRE TER
= Fiim right investment 15,756 - Level3 Discounted cash flows ~ future cash ~ Discount rate of 4.35%
flows are estimated
- SV ER LR FRRENE -HHARAERE  MRERAI%
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(o5 Fair value (Continued)

()

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

A slight increase in the weighted average cost of capital
used in isolation would result in a slight decrease in the
fair value measurement of the investment funds, and vice
versa.

A slight increase in the potential return rate and volatility
used in isolation would result in a slight increase in the fair
value measurement of the principal protected deposits,
and vice versa.

A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the film right investment, and vice versa.

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 in both
years.

35. M E(E)

c. DFEE

0}

REFRIGAEZ M EER
RFPEABZEMEEZ
RFE ()
FEEAMEFIHEAR
X A BE A 55 00 % 8 Bk
BEERAVEAERET
& RZIA -

BEEEANEERHREM
RE R BN E R
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

35. MITE(E)

c. Fair value (Continued) c. DFE(E)
(i)  Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (i) B3R A-FEGTENEAR
Principal Investment
protected Convertible Investment inlimited  Film right
deposits note funds partnership investment Total
REABR TEREE REES ERAERE SYMERE ok
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT TR TR TR FHL
At 1 April 2020 R20006
4R1H 2,623 9,050 10,964 - - 22,537
Purchases e 78,072 = 11,401 = - 89,473
Reclassified from other REMENS
receivables Fipag sl - - - 13,204 = 13,204
Interest received BIFIE (547) (668) (533) = = (1,748)
Realised fair value gain REZNER
recognised in profitorloss 2B &R
N ERE 547 1,618 647 - - 2,812
Unrealised fair value loss B RER
recognised in profitorloss 7 REIR
NFEEE - - 7 (1,078) - (1,085)
Settlements 78 (60,015) (10,000) (11,851) - - (81,866)
Exchange adjustments e 5 3% 761 = 890 @7) = 1,614
At 31 March 2021 720215
3A31R 21,341 - 11,511 12,089 - 44,941
Additions b - - - 6,145 15,511 21,656
Purchases BE 146,492 = = = = 146,492
Interest received BUF B (1,067) = (919) = = (1,986)
Realised fair value gain REZEAER
recognised in profit orloss ~ ZBEBRA
FERE 1,067 = = = = 1,067
Unrealised fair value loss REE R HER
recognised in profitorloss 2 AER
ATEFSR = = (2,680) 8,770 = 6,090
Settlements b (141,514) - (967) - = (142,481)
Exchange adjustments B X A% 852 - 394 83 245 1,574
At 31 March 2022 Ro020%
3A31AH 27,171 - 7,339 27,087 15,756 77,353
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Fair value (Continued)

(iiij)  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis
Except for the convertible notes issued, the directors
of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

At 31 March 2022, fair value of liability component of
the convertible notes issued by the Company, which is
recognised at amortised cost of HK$66,911,000 (2021:
HK$58,164,000) (note 26), was HK$73,509,000 (2021:
HK$60,364,000). The fair value is determined using
Trinomial Option Pricing Model at Level 3.

36. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

On 6 April 2020, the Group entered into a conditional sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third party for
the Group’s acquisition of the entire issued share capital and
shareholder loan of Nice Able Holdings Limited (“Nice Able”) for
an aggregate consideration of HK$89,116,000.

The principal assets of Nice Able are property purchase
agreements, which were signed on 25 March 2020, entered into
by Nice Able for the acquisition of some units in two blocks of
buildings with respective owners and a provisional agreement,
which was signed on 25 March 2020, for the acquisition of the
entire issued share capital and shareholder loan of Success
Mark Investments Limited (“Success Mark”) for an aggregate
consideration of HK$58,000,000. The date of completion of
acquisition of Success Mark is 22 July 2020, where the Group is
responsible for the payment for completion. Success Mark is the
registered owner of a unit in one block of the buildings.

The Group plans to acquire the remaining units and demolishes
these two buildings in Hong Kong and redevelop the combined
sites. Details of these transactions are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 6 April 2020 and circular dated 21 May
2020.

On 22 June 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of Nice
Able and the shareholder’s loan of Nice Able. The shareholder’s
loan was eliminated in full on consolidation.

35. M E(E)

D FE ()

(i)  RERIBFAZ ML EERZN
FlETEZEHEERT
BB A FE
BREBRTHARERRER
S RRREFERR R
AW BRR LB KA
JIRMEREERERA
ERRAEERERL A FER

e

= oo

M2022F3A318 + AR
RIBITHITBEREERN
BEIFMHLTEGRE
SRR AN HE 266,911,000
7T (20214 : 58,164,000
BHoo) (M E26) 5
73,509,000 7t (2021
4 1 60,364,000/ 7T) ° A
FEEEEIRER=18
NEAEE EBIEAEEM -

36. ZBRWBHEARWBEERAE

(@)

M2020F4A6H + AKHEHA
BUE=Z T HRAEEANERE
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2HMEEITRARBREER L
Bl BRI

Nice Able” == E & & ANice Able
MN20205E3 A25H AR BEER
ABUEEMIEZEY 2B TEMA
R] 3 2 BRBS #pk 20204 3 A
25H 5137 JA 42K {858,000,000/%
TCYEEE R 1% B B R A R ([NE#
RENBEEETRAREREE
;o WBIERIENTERBHA
202067 H228 - MALBEEA
BRI o BRIt E
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AAFIBH A2020F486H 2
NN HEIA202095 8218 2
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36. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

The net assets acquired at the date of acquisition were as

36.

BEBRWBHBEARKWBEERAE

(&)

REEERRBEZ FEEEN

follows: Ik
22 June 2020
202068 22H
HK$’000
FHET
Deposits paid for acquisition of properties held for U EBiFEHEZE R M EDHR S
development for sale 89,116
Net assets acquired Fri g 2 FEE 89,116
Cash outflow on acquisition: Wi 2B R ¢
Consideration paid BERRE (89,116)

On 22 July 2020, Nice Able completed the acquisition of some
units in two blocks of buildings with respective owners for an
additional cash consideration of HK$151,750,000 and completed
the acquisition of Success Mark and the shareholder’s loan of
Success Mark. The shareholder’s loan was eliminated in full on

consolidation.

The net assets of acquired at the date of acquisition were as

follows:

1202047 A22R - Nice AblelA
FHNR S (E1561,750,000/8 7T
MMEET B EMSBHEE
AMEEE T B4 - WIeR AR ERIE
RRERIERIREZRREK -
PR E R & BF 2RI o

RUERHE B FEEEBEN
T

22 July 2020
202057 H22H
HK$'000
FHT
Properties held for development for sale BIELERRME 58,135
Other receivables E th FE IR 1
Other payables E AR 97)
Tax payable FEI BT (39)
Net assets acquired s 2 FEE 58,000
Cash outflow on acquisition: g ZRe R ¢
Consideration paid BfRE (58,000)
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36. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test for
the acquisitions of Nice Able and Success Mark in accordance
with HKFRS 3 and concluded that:

() The land and building components of each unit, together
with the in-place leases, are considered a single
identifiable asset; and

(o)  The group of units in two blocks of buildings is a group of
similar identifiable assets because the assets are similar in
nature and risks associated with managing and creating
outputs are not significantly different.

Consequently, the Group determined that substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a group
of similar identifiable assets and concluded that the acquired set
of activities and assets is not a business.

On 17 November 2020, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party
for the Group’s acquisition of the entire issued share capital
and shareholder loan of Upway International for an aggregate
consideration of HK$45,000,000. Top Lead Investment
Limited (“Top Lead”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of Upway
International, is the registered owner of a unit in Fung Wah
Factorial Building (“Fung Wah Properties”) located in Kowloon.

On 25 November 2020, the Group completed the acquisition
of Upway International and Top Lead (collectively the “Upway
International Group”) and the shareholder’s loan. The
shareholder’s loan was eliminated in full on consolidation. Upon
completion, the Group owns 29 units representing approximately
93.33% of the undivided shares of the building.

36. EBWEHNBARAUBEERAER

(&)

(@)

(&)

AEBRB(CEBVIERE LR
F 35 E B EUIENice AblefIE
MR EEATENEREAR
WBHEA TR
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(o) MRBEDPHELE—
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MREBEEREER -

Hit - AEERTEMKENEE
ENRFEEER L 2HEHE
—HBLRRNEEST - LS5
Hasw - TR — R P& S
BENZAER -

R2020%F11 178 » NEEHH
BYE=HIVBKHEEEH
% ' LA {845,000,000/% st Uk
BELARZZ2HBBITRAR
BRERER - EFLBEBEz2EN
BARHEREBR AR (1S
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(M zEY 2 )) — B B8y 0
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(0)

36. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH 36. ZBUWENBLARWBEERAE
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) (1)
(Continued) ) (&)
The net assets acquired at the date of acquisition were as RERBERENEEFEN
follows: T
25 November 2020
202011 825H
HK$’000
FHT
Properties held for development for sale BFIELERREYHE 45,000
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A FE UK 16
Other payables H Ath FE - 5K (231)
Tax payable FESFIR 91)
Net assets acquired I hE 2 BEFE 44,694
Net cash outflow on acquisition: IR 2 3R e M ¢
Consideration paid BERRE (45,000)
Net settlement received on receivables and B EWCR TN E R 32 48 558
payables 306
(44,694)

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test for
the acquisitions of Upway International Group in accordance with
HKFRS 3 and concluded that the land and building components
of one unit, together with the in-place lease, are considered a

single identifiable asset.

Consequently, the Group determined that substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in that
unit and concluded that the acquired set of activities and assets

is not a business.

AEBERRERERBVHRSE
RIS 3SR 8 & L BFR R B R U B
FERERBUEEPEAH  XE
faem — E AR T b RN R S AR AR
o EREE - KRR
HE—HAIHREE °

Bt - AEEREMKBREE
AT A AT EBED LR
B XEHAR  AREN—
RIEBMEENE —REK -
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DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

37. HEWBQH

On 18 January 2021, the Group completed the disposal of its M2021F1 /188 -
entire 100% equity interest in a subsidiary, Lion Capital, for a cash RE1ETHEEERT
J& 2 FlLion Capital&) 2 Z8100%& # °

consideration of USD1 (equivalent to HK$7.8).

The net assets of Lion Capital at the date of disposal were as follows:

AEETHRARS

BB TL) h &AM

1% 2 HLion Capitalf);F & E T

18 January 2021
2021F1518H
HK$'000
FHET
Bank balances RITHERR 77
Other payables H AR (77)
Net assets disposed of/gain on disposal of a T EEEFE/HEBA RN
subsidiary -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMEEANRESMAIERE :
Cash consideration received Bz RERE -
Bank balances disposed HERITH R (77)
(77)
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 38. EEHEHA

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets of the Group

RI|ERR > AEEBRATINEET

were pledged to banks to secure credit facilities granted to the Group: RITERBRM TAEE 2 EEH
g
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Investment properties BV 939,880 925,967
Properties held for development for sale FEHERREME 3,020,650 2,754,027
Life insurance policies ANERBE 12,914 =
3,973,444 3,679,994
In addition, rentals in respect of the above investment properties and AN ERUIEEMERS R ElSE

future sale proceeds and rentals in respect of the above properties held

for development for sale were also pledged to these banks. HEIRER T IRT -

HEBRRMERRIBERFTREAR
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39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 39. KEHANZH
The Group as lessor AEBERAHEA
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FiBT FHT
Property rental income earned during the year & RBELZ 1 & WA 38,738 45,276
Less: Outgoings o 2 (2,910) (3,057)
Net rental income AW A FEE 35,828 42,219

All of the properties held for rental purposes have committed lessees
for one year to ten years (2021: one to nine years) from the end of the
reporting period without termination options granted to tenants.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

RBEHR - MERREEZYWEY
EEEBARB —FE2+F(2021F :
—EFZNF) BARBEFREFRILE

B

ERAEERTREENFMOT

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Within one year —FR 26,693 38,516
In the second year REZF 13,599 18,819
In the third year RE=F 6,713 6,079
In the fourth year REMNF 3,660 4,406
In the fifth year RERF 3,417 2,373
After five years AF& 2,513 3,701
56,595 73,894
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40. COMMITMENTS e
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Capital expenditure contracted for but EETHMR AR R ERE B SRR P
not provided in the consolidated financial BEZARAZI @R
statements in respect of

- investment properties - REME - 441
~ interest in limited partnership (note) - BRAEBARER B 19,510 25,795
— film right investment (note 23(})) - B MRERE (323 () 829 =
20,339 26,236

Note:

The amount at 31 March 2022 represented US$2.5 million (equivalent to
HK$19,510,000) (2021: US$3.3 million (equivalent to HK$25,795,000)) for
subscription for interest in the Limited Partnership as a limited partner. The
purpose of the Limited Partnership is primarily achieving capital appreciation
and participation through investments in equity and equity-related securities
in Asia-Pacific and Europe and portfolio funds with a similar investment focus.
The business of the Limited Partnership will be conducted and managed by
one single general partner (the “General Partner”) who will act as agent of the
Limited Partnership while the investment committee of the Limited Partnership
(comprising individuals who are not connected with the Group) shall decide
and approve all investment and divestment decisions of the Limited Partnership
with reference to the investment objective. The limited partners of the limited
partnership, including the Group, shall take no part in the operation of the
Limited partnership on the management or conduct of the business and
affairs except with the written consent of the General Partner. Details of this
transaction are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 27 March 2019
and 10 May 2019.

B

7202243 A31H Z &% 182,500,000%
7T (FB % 119,510,000/ 7T) (20214 -
3,300,000% 7t : #8574 25,795,0007%
TRRIEAEREEAREARE %
NEER - BREBARZENEEA
BRERBERZHADARBOMNRA &
RAMBEFFRCE RREBHBELZ
HERE - BRABAANEBKHE—

EBEBA(ETRABADNKERE
B EBABABIEAEBRAZARN
REA - MAREGBARNIREEZE (B
B 71 52 (39 N 4 5 Y {8 A AELBK) S R R AR
BEERERAEARELHREFR
BRE - BIFLEREBAEEARE
GRIBRABARZARARA(BER
SE)VFELEBRAZARBEREER
FREBREBIEE - RHZFEH
RARE B A2019F3H27H %2019
F5H10B KD °

213



214

EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED Annual Report 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 A31H It F &

41.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to
make additional contributions. The employer’'s monthly contributions
are calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to a
maximum of HK$1,500 (the “mandatory contributions”). The employees
are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions upon
their retirement at the age of 65, death or total incapacity.

Employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension scheme operated by the PRC government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the pension scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the pension scheme is to make the
required contributions.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised to offset employers’
contributions for the year. The employers’ contributions which have
been dealt with in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income were as follows:

1.

RKBRETE

REBRBESRBELABSFEE
fl - BERTEHI AN MEAESRIK
BHREFEI((RBERTE]) - REES:
ET EEEABBEAFTSHRENK
&% /51,5008 7 - BB ALEEED
BIMIR - BEXBAMHRABRERZ
BRFSHEHRFS%KFZES A1,500
(& HIMEHEIK]) o 8 BR655RERIK
B LT R R ERITARE IR - A
ZHEEBRBIEH-RZ100% °

RPBEZHBLRZERS B+ EBMA
R 2BEREBERKREFEIKE -
BRARAZFEETAOLRERS
FEIER - ARBE 2B FEREK
SETENWEH TR E 2 B3R -

AN AR A BOR YH R A R K 8
BEFENEIHK CRERBEERE
2R REIEA R EHRIAT ¢

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FiBxT FHEIT
Employers’ contributions recognised in RIBEFERZEEHER
profit or loss 456 381

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were no forfeited contributions
available to reduce the contributions payable in the future years.

R20225F M20214F3A31H © 8B R
U 9 AR ZR AT A R R A oK SR B A ) FE A

K o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &, £ 202243 A31H I F &

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. FEMB LR ZFE

R202293731H &202143H31H -
KRB EEMB AR ZFIBUOT ¢

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2022
and 31 March 2021 are as follows:

Nominal value of issued
share capital/paid-up

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

Place of incorporation/ registered capital/  capital/paid-up registered
Name of subsidiary establishment and operation stated capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BREORA/MRERRA/ KAIRAERARE/4R
WEARERE ML/ RIREE BRRAEE EMRAEER L TEEH
2022 2021
Directly held:
BERE
Fanju Investments Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI")/ Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment in securities and
Hong Kong others
RERERRAT ABRABE/BE LERIZT EAREMRE
Glory Link Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment in securities and
others
ARREBRAT h LERIET EAREMRE
Indirectly held:
FERE
Capital Well (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Property investment
EM(ER)BRAT Bk LERIET NERE
Chancemore Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Property investment
RERLES/ B LERIZT NERE
City China International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Loan financing
HHERERAT Bk LERIER EXRpE
Clever Wise Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Property investment
BRAERBRLA RBRABE/BE LRERIZT NERE
Daily Leader Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Property development
RERLEE/ B LRERIET NEXR
Excellent East Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Property investment
BRERAF Eh LERIER NERE
Extra Glory Limited Anguilla/Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Property development
REN/EH LRRIET NEXR
Gainever Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Investment in securities and
others
KEBERAR k LaERoER EAREMRE
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. FEMB AR ZFH1EE)

Nominal value of issued
share capital/paid-up

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

Place of incorporation/ registered capital/  capital/paid-up registered
Name of subsidiary establishment and operation stated capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BRARA/HREMBE/ KADSHERRARE/HR
MEARERE HMARL/ RIREE Y ERRAEE EMRAEERS L TEEH
2022 2021
Indirectly held: (Continued)
E#fE - ()
Giant East Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Property investment
ERERAA &b LaRIET NERE
Goldchamp International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Property investment
tEARERAT &k LER10,00087T NERE
Golden Top Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment
RIEEZERAR &b LEaRBT NERE
Grow Well Profits Limited BVI/Singapore Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Property investment and
investment in securities and
others
ABRLES /I LERIZT NERERESRAMRE
Janson Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment
EBEXARLA b LEaROBT NERE
Main Lucky Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Property development
PRMEERAR h LRRIBT NELR
Ovation Motion Picture Enterprise Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100%  Entertainment and fim right
Limited investment
EREYNEERAR Eh ERRIET RERBYMERE
Nice Able BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Property development
ABRABE/EE LRRIET NEER
Real Supreme Limited Anguilla/Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Property development
REN/FH LRRIET NEER
Silver Prosper Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Property development
REEEARAT E# LRRIET NEER
Success Mark Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Property development
(2021: HK$1)
JEmRE &% ZiBAR10,000E T NEER

(20215 : 1%TT)
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Nominal value of issued
share capital/paid-up

42. EBWBRRZFHBE

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

Place of incorporation/ registered capital/  capital/paid-up registered
Name of subsidiary establishment and operation stated capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BRARE/BREMRE/ ARAIHECRORE/BR
MEAREE HMARL/ RIREE Y ERRAHE EMBEAEER A TEEH
2022 2021
Indirectly held: (Continued)
g - (8)
Top Channel Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Property investment
BHEEARAT &k ERRIET NERE
Top Lead Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Property development
HERE &b LRRIBT NELR
Treasure Arts International Group BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Property development
Limited
EEARSEERAA ABELEE/BR LERIET NELR
Wealth Plan Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Property development
REZRERAR X TRRIET NEER
Wellmake Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$9,998 100% 100%  Property investment
(Non-voting deferred
shares HK$2*)
BEREERAR X EBIR9,098% T NERE
(BRERELERET
KEEEMMNEBR AR (DAMNEE]) PRC Registered US$25,544,206 100% 100%  Property investment
(Fasyknit Enterprises (Huzhou) i AR AR25,544,206% T MERE
Co., Ltd.) (‘Enterprises Huzhou")™
* The non-voting deferred shares of Wellmake Investments Limited carry no * RUREERAA BRERRERE

rights to receive notice of, attend or vote at any general meeting and have very
limited rights to participate in a distribution of profits and, on liquidation, to the
repayment of the amount paid up on the shares.

* Enterprises Huzhou is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the
PRC, to be operated for 50 years up to 14 December 2054.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company, which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results
of the year or constituted a substantial portion of the assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company result in particulars of excessive length.

RPREBEFBRAR G 2BE - HERR
ARELER BEAFTERENED
MR E - ERE RO BN
ZEE

e WMNEEA—RRBBERZINERE
¥ - KEEA0F - HE2054612A°
148 °

REARREEZERL  EXRMIIR
ZARBMBAR  REEXER
FEZEERERASEEEELZ
Mo MBEARREZTZERIHE
B AR ZFBEEEERBRIT
£ o
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42.

43.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. TEMBRARZFEGE)
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries RB|EBR - ARAEMEEMEARE
that are not material to the Group. Majority of these subsidiaries Ems T TREEZHBRAA - E
operate in Hong Kong. The principal activities of these subsidiaries are MEBARKIBORELLE - LEMH
summarised as follows: BRAIZEEXEBHHENT -
Principal activity Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
FEEK FEEEMI = ENGIE - E]

2022 2021
Investment holding Hong Kong 24 28
WEZER B
Inactive Hong Kong 1 6
FEVE B B
Inactive Hong Kong 2 2
FEVE R R E

37 36

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at 31 March RAEWMBRARR202243 831 H K
2022 or 31 March 2021. 202143 A31 A EITEMERKHES -
EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. IF{EHIREEIE

The following significant events took place subsequent to 31 March

2022:

(@

On 30 March 2022, the Company and a placing agent entered
into the conditional placing agreement with details set out in
the Company’s announcement on the same date. The placing
is completed on 20 April 2022. A total of 186,280,000 placing
shares have been successfully placed by the placing agent to
not less than six (6) placees at the placing price of HK$0.10
per placing share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
placing agreement, representing approximately 16.67% of
the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the placing shares immediately upon the
Completion. The net proceeds from the placing, after deduction
of the placing commission and other related costs and expenses
of the placing, amounted to HK$18,380,000 will be used for the
Group’s general working capital.

On 19 April 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
acquired an equity-linked note which is linked to the shares of
a listed company with bank industry for a principal amount of
HK$20,000,000. The coupon rate for the equity-linked note is
15% per annum and the note is expected to be matured on 6
July 2022.

ATEXRSEHFEAN202263A31HZ
1% -

(@ 202243A30H @ KA R LE—H
B & AR IR AT 7 R R B 5 17 7k
HBHERARRRB RS - B
EBER2022F4A20H 5K ° AL
EREDRBEERSD KGR
KA - A IRECE AR5 0.1078
TTHREER T DRN6)EE
= AR I ELE & ££186,280,000
RRECERR D « (h BEETTAR B
BRBEITREEROBBRABZAR
AIEBITIRAA16.67% &4
RS A M E A BE & ABRE AR A&
RFAX%  BEMSREFE
18,380,000/ L8 FREA S @ —
BEEESD ©

b) 2022648198 - AEE—FH2
& W1 8 2 7114 20,000,000 7T 4
AEeeBUWETHE-—RRITLET
ARG E i E R ER =R o
BEHNEBENZEEFNEAETE
15% @ BRI R K MR2022%7H
6H ZIH] -
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44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 44. AR ZBEARR R
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE K& = 336
Interests in subsidiaries and amounts due KT B A R s BT B A
from subsidiaries BES 3,200,056 3,148,732
3,200,056 3,149,068
Current assets MBNEE
Other receivables Ho b W IR 190 182
Tax recoverable AR B IE 186 =
Financial assets at fair value through profit BEAFEAABRZERMEE
or loss 3,357 14,702
Bank balances IRITHER 52,185 66,558
55,918 81,442
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables E th FE AT RRIB 3,637 11,754
Convertible notes AR 1R 16,292 13,417
19,929 25,171
Net current assets MENEEFE 35,989 56,271
Total assets less current liabilities BEAERTBBEE 3,236,045 3,205,339
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBA S 13,900 15,343
Convertible note AT AR 1R 50,619 44,747
64,519 60,090
3,171,526 3,145,249
Capital and reserves BRR#ERE
Share capital f& 7 9,315 186,291
Reserves (note) G CICEES) 3,162,211 2,958,958
3,171,526 3,145,249
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44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 44. QT ZBHEAR R IR (58)

(Continued)
Note: Bt E
Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and prior years are as AARZRERFARBEFEZZHUT -
follows:
Convertible
Share note equity Capital Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve reserve surplus  (losses) profits Total
TRRE
RAEE BafE RAGE HARR  ZHERAE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhL FhL FhL FhL FhL FhL
At 1 April 2020 202064 1A 2,320,694 56,028 53,194 261,126 (320,152 2,370,890
Profit and total comprehensiveincome BRI RAEE 2 ERFLE
for the year - - - - 503,961 503,961
Early redemption of convertible note RYBETERER - (2,065) = = = 2,065)
Transfer upon early redemption of REBEHRRENER
convertible note - (16,397) - - 16,397 -
Deferred tax liabiliies released upon early 127 B E AT IR E R R
redemption of convertible note BREREAR = 1,730 = = = 1,730
Tranfer upon modification of tems of ~ ERATERREK KT EEE
convertible note - (43,876) - - 43,876 -
Deferred tax liabilties released upon FRARREE GHERR
modffication of terms of convertible BREREARE
note - 4,580 - - - 4,580
Recognition upon modification of terms B A2 R Z g T D
of convertible note - 95,643 - - - 95,643
Deferred tax liability on recogniton of B AT AR E R (A R
equity component upon modification of %A (7 2 ERFBA B
terms of convertible note - (15,781) - - - (15,781)
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31A 2,320,694 79,862 53,194 261,126 244,082 2,958,958
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ BFIRAEE 2ERALE
for the year - - - - 26,217 26,277
Reduction of share capital upon capital AR B4 2 R A5
reorganisation - - - 176,976 - 176,976

At 31 March 2022 200263318 2,320,694 79,862 53,194 438,102 270,359 3,162,211
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MBENSE

RESULTS e

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1+—HLEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHT FHET FHT FET
Revenue S 49,605 62,228 80,682 80,253 64,475
Profit (loss) before BR BT &R
taxation (E518) 54,608 50,910 (209,657) (190,743) 123,497
Taxation | (1,089) (400) 3,465 9,950 (7,050)
Profit (loss) for the year 22 RIIX R &S
attributable to owners REFERF(EB)
of the Company 53,5639 50,510 (206,192) (180,793) 116,447
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
At 31 March
R=A=+—8
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FHET T FExT

Total assets BEE 4,011,917 4,034,545 4,602,993 4,613,337 4,879,808

Total liabilities weE (1,296,629)  (1,300,375)  (1,661,124)  (1,732,044)  (1,864,621)

Equity attributable to Pi/NET SN

owners of the Company S 2,715,288 2,734,170 2,941,869 2,881,293 3,015,187

Notes: B aE -

(a) On 1 April 2018, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and HKFRS (@) M2018F4A1H » AEBEERBEEVBRE
15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. Accordingly, certain information for the EAFESRERMIAIRBBM B REAEAES
year ended 31 March 2018 which was prepared under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: WIBPAKHNBAL - At - RIEBEB AR
Recognition and Measurement” and HKAS 18 “Revenue” may not be comparable to FORMBITE : AR EIRBABSE
the years ended 31 March 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022. BI85 A IR B E ZE20184F3A31H 1

FREHETEH AT EREEZE20195 - 2020
F -~ 2021F K2022F3A31B IEFEETH
# o

(o) On 1 April 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16 “Leases”. Accordingly, certain (b) MR2019F4818 - AREEEABBU KRS
information for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019 which was prepared under LRIFE16[HE] - FUL - RIBBAG AR
HKAS 17 “Leases” may not be comparable to the years ended 31 March 2020, 2021 F17R[HE | FEME E20185F 201943 A
and 2022. B1THIEFEME TER A EEEE E2020

&~ 2021F 2022F 331 B IEFE L ©
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No. 46 on Lower Ground Floor
Shatin Heights

No. 8003 Tai Po Road

Shatin

N.T.

2R E N MKE T
4657

A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES A REWE
Approximate
gross floor/
Location 3k Purpose saleable/site area Lease-term
BEm,
A’ EAthEEE HEOFEH
(sa.ft.)
(FAR)

1. Ground Floor ESEF Commercial 578 Long
No. 148 Johnston Road iz [EES =
Wanchai 148557 T~
Hong Kong

2. Ground Floor EBiRRE Commercial 472 Long
No. 6 Cannon Road =B EES R
Causeway Bay 65 T
Hong Kong

3. Sixth Floor NE Industrial 8,608 Medium
Nos. 650-652 Hila T# R A
Castle Peak Road, and B650-6525% * 61&

No. 18A Wing Hong Street KA 18AE
Kowloon

4. Second Floor Ak Industrial 2,981 Medium
Nos. 790, 792 and 794 EisiE T R A
Cheung Sha Wan Road 7905k ~ 7925% K 7945%

Kowloon 21%

5. Roof JLREKERAT205E K & Industrial 2,910 Medium
No. 20 Wing Hong Street I ik
Kowloon

6.  Fifth Floor NBE K R ET205% i Industrial 3,402 Medium
No. 20 Wing Hong Street I% i
Kowloon
Units 1 and 2 on Seventh Floor R B A A B 80035k Residential 2,086 Medium
Block D and Car Parking Space Y HIEEDEE1RA x=E 5
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Summary of Properties

YE A

202243 A31H At 31 March 2022

Hong Kong

A.  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) A RBREVEGE
Approximate
gross floor/
Location 3k Purpose saleable/site area Lease-term
Wigm,
A BR/EEE HOFH
(sq.ft.)
(EAR)
8. Third Floor BEERRBE161HR=1E Residential 781  Medium
No. 161 Wong Nai Chung Road fF gk
Hong Kong
9.  Easy Tower, No. 609 hERDE Industrial/ 74,458  Medium
Tai Nan West Street N P 76095% commercial  H
Cheung Sha Wan KEEE T%¥ /%
Kowloon
10. 15 Ardmore Park #04-03 15 Ardmore Park #04-03 Residential 2,885 Freehold
Singapore 259959 #hnis 259959 *= i)
11. 15 Ardmore Park #06-04 15 Ardmore Park #06-04 Residential 2,885 Freehold
Singapore 259959 ¥ N3 259959 i e
12. 15 Ardmore Park #18-02 15 Ardmore Park #18-02 Residential 2,885 Freehold
Singapore 259959 ¥ H03% 259959 fF= %M
13.  Anindustrial complex located at SMRAREBEMTE Industrial 1,805,534 Medium
No. 108 of Dongliang Road, SHN T SR B [ A BB SR T3 A
Zhili Town, Wuxing District, TRER 10855
Huzhou City, Zhejiang Province Z— TR LEFE20|E
of the People’s Republic of China DR E 7 IEEY
with a total of twenty building
blocks being built
14.  Lots Nos. 1278, 1279 and EREF R ITHAD.D.A245% Land with 27,879  Medium
1280 in D.D. 124 $1278 - 12791280571 & attached ]
Yuen Long structure
New Territories PRI SE L i
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YE A

At 31 March 2022 78202243 H31H

B. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE B. KEEERRWZHE
Approximate Stage of
Location 3k Purpose site area Lease-term completion
AR B EEE MHEOFH 5E R P ER
(sq.ft.)
(EFR)

1. Nos. 646, 648, 648A NEE Industrial 9,206 Medium Under
Castle Peak Road FE T¥ A A development
Kowloon 646 © 648 * BABAHE EE

2. No. 121 King Lam Street ~ JL#E Industrial 5,483 Medium Under
Cheung Sha Wan s T H A development
Kowloon EMAT1215% EdE

3. Nos.11,13and 15 B Commercial 2,857  Long Under
Matheson Street FiE7 9 [SES & development
Causeway Bay I A11 ~ 135% 1558 FREH
Hong Kong

4. Nos.1B-1E HE Residential 4,940 Long Under
Davis Street EXE I F= §=3:t development
Kennedy Town EX ] BERH
Hong Kong 1B - 1E5%

5. No.93and BE Residential 2,182  Long Under
No. 95 Catchick Street EXJE I F= £ development
Kennedy Town = [ 49358 )2 955 FRE

Hong Kong



EMINENCE
ENTERPRISE LIMITED
SWEXBRAT
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